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VISION MISSION AND CORE VALUES
B B ROEE

) Vision 2

'{ Be the most trusted business partner of our customers and build
together a brighter and sustainable future

KEEPRAEENBEEREN HEXUFRAFKERRE

p

We strive to help build and upkeep the community and to provide
a high-quality living environment through a range of comprehensive
quality, efficient and high value-added products and services for
the varied needs and interests of our divers customers. To ensure
sustainability of our business, we nurture our talents, invest in
technology and uphold our steadfast commitment to corporate
governance standards and sustainable business practices in an
ever-changing environment.

Mission & € i
4
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\A ) Core Values Z 0B B
\ T+ Stiving for Excellence i 5 =

e Upholding Integrity B <7 312

e Caring for Our People @& & T

e Sustainable Innovation A+ 4& &Il ¥

e Maintaining Business Diversity % %7 % Tt
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Construction and Engineering

BERKEMIE

e Lifts & Escalators
THBE #  E R

e Aluminium Windows & Curtain Walls
ERER

e Building Construction
BT

e Civil Engineering & Infrastructure
TARIRRER

e Environmental Engineering
RRIRE

e Electrical & Mechanical Engineering
#E T2

e Building Supplies
Mt RE

Healthcare Investment

REZERE

e Senior Housing
ZERE

e Medical Office Buildings
BEBIAEXNE

Property Investment

MEKRE

e Property Leasing
EXIE

o
¢
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OUR BUSINESSES
XBME

Property Development
and Operations

MEBRRERREE

e Property Development
LIE R4

e Cold Storage & Logistics
REEERYR

e Freight Logistics Services
HEYRRG

e Property Management
mMEER

e Hotel Investment

BIEEBRE

Car Dealership

AEARE

Others
Hh

e |nsurance & Investment
R REE

e Enterprise & Network Solutions
ERAEHR

e | ifestyle Restaurants & Bars

PR 2B BB IR
e Trading
=&
e Travel Agency
i 8 X 38
HtEBREEERAH
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B F5 1 2

2023 HIGHLIGHTS

—E-=fAE

TOTAL EQUITY
B

¢ 10,993

2.1% DECREASE FROM 2022
BT --FTKE21%

NET ASSETS PER SHARE
BREERE

% 34.4,

2.0% DECREASE FROM 2022
BT - -FTE2.0%

EARNINGS PER SHARE
BRAERN

v 0.77

63.9% DECREASE FROM 2022

R-ZEZ--FTME63.9%

TOTAL NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

BMETAH

FULL TIME STAFF
ERET

2.7% DECREASE FROM 2022
BB =FTH27%
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PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

FERA
HK$ 269 million
BETT
61.2% DECREASE FROM 2022
B _FTMK61.2%
REVENUE
PN

% 1,100 o

17.8% DECREASE FROM 2022
B_E__FTM%17.8%

DIVIDENDS PER SHARE

HK$

oo 7T
24.0% DECREASE FROM 2022
RS- —FET[%24.0%

BREE



PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
AN T B R EAE & T
(HK$ million 7 ¥ & & JT)

6‘562 635
Ty

23 22 21 20 19
Year 19

EARNINGS AND
DIVIDENDS PER SHARE

BEREBMNRKRE
(HKS 7% #)

E Igr%rl]ings 2 13 2.12 2.17

‘» D|V|dends i‘

i§ 1.77
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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REVENUE
WA
(HK$ million B & &)
8,634
N
7, 353
7, 100 6,893
4 6, 381 ’
4 ii
Year ¢TJJ

SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS

BRERES
(HK$ million & & & T)

n

23 22 21 20 19
N Year 13

23 22 21 20 19

Year F 15 /
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B2

SEGMENT REVENUE
TEBA
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2% 14%
1%
) Construction and engineering ) Property investment Property development and operations
BEREMIIZ MERE MEBRNEE
) Healthcare in\{estment ) Car dealership ) Others
RIEEEIBIRE JTERIE Hity

SEGMENT PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER FINANCE COSTS, NET
NBRFHBEBRAEND EERZRN(BE)

2023 2022

B (45)
(139)

[190 | I [ I
217 7
138 I I 156
75
(19) . t (15) [

} ) 0 o6 (16)
A A AA A A A AA A

31)
(HKS million & BETT) (HKS million ¥ B E7T)

) Subsidiaries Associates and joint ventures
=S| BERNAREEDRE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
2

The following is a summary of the total assets, total liabilities, results and other financial information of Chevalier
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) as of year ended 31 March

for the last five years.

TIRELTEEREEBEBERAR ([ARFA)EEMBAR (BB AEE] ) REEAFARE=ZA=T—"BLFEZ
MEE HAB XEREMUBERME-

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Financial Information (HK$ million) BKER (BEHER) —E-=E - B —ZT-TFE —ET—HhEF
Total assets BEE 20,320 20,215 18,613 17,039 17,093
Total liabilities BERE 9,327 8,988 8,044 7,356 7,451
Total equity FaL e 10,993 11,227 10,569 9,683 9,642
Non-controlling interests R 607 638 640 611 621
Shareholders” funds REEZ 10,386 10,589 9,929 9,072 9,021
Share capital L%
— in number (million shares) -#RB (AEK) 302 302 302 302 302
— in value (HK$1.25 per share) - 2E (SRE%1.257T) 377 377 377 377 377
Revenue LON 7,100 8,634 7,353 6,381 6,893
Profit attributable to shareholders of AR B R FE A 5 A
the Company 234 645 641 533 655
Per Share Basis (HK$) BRFHE (BY)
Earnings - basic AF - ZEAR 0.77 2.13 2.12 1.77 217
Dividends Bz 8 0.38 0.50 0.55 0.52 0.50
Net assets value BEFE
- excluding non-controlling interests - NEEEERER 34.4 35.1 32.9 30.0 29.9
2023 2022
—E-= ==5==
HK$ million HK$ million
BEEER BEBET
Segment Revenue* PEWA*
Construction and engineering EERMW TR 4,797 4,995
Property investment MEKRE 186 151
Property development and operations MEBRREREE 588 1,5M
Healthcare investment REZHEBRE 920 930
Car dealership HEARIE 1,808 2,291
e Others Hit 1,124 1,353
Total i 9,423 11,231
Segment Profit/(Loss) after finance costs, net* HIRFHEEREH 2 EER, (HE) *
Construction and engineering BEE R TR 328 337
Property investment MERE 217 378
Property development and operations MEBREREE 137 277
Healthcare investment RIZEREKRE (161) (44)
Car dealership AERE (63) (44)
o Others Hi 59 21
Total e 517 925
* Included share of revenue/results of associates and joint ventures
BEMLBHERARAEDEZRAEE
HIEREEERAR

2023 F#f
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

CHAIRMAN EMERITUS
The late Dr. CHOW Yei Ching

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. KUOK Hoi Sang (Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. TAM Kwok Wing (Deputy Managing Director)

Mr. HO Chung Leung

Mr. MA Chi Wing

Miss Lily CHOW

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. CHOW Vee Tsung, Oscar

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YANG Chuen Liang, Charles
Professor POON Chung Kwong
Mr. Irons SZE

Mr. SUN Leland Li Hsun

SECRETARY
Mr. MUI Chin Leung

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
and Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Berkadia Commercial Mortgage LLC

Capital One, National Association

Chong Hing Bank Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited

The Bank of East Asia, Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

SOLICITORS
Appleby
Deacons
Mayer Brown
Robertsons

REGISTERED OFFICE
Victoria Place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 10
Bermuda
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

22nd Floor, Chevalier Commercial Centre
8 Wang Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay

Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2318 1818

Facsimile: (852) 2757 5138

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER AGENT

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th Floor

North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Tricor Standard Limited
17/F., Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

SHARE LISTING
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock Code: 25

WEBSITE

http://www.chevalier.com

CORPORATE INFORMATION
TEEM

FTEEEME
B
NEEERFE NS
EtmERL-_+
T 55 (852) 2318 1818
{£ 5 : (852) 2757 5138

FERGBF

BERE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th Floor

North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda
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BRDE
FEREERAF
BRERE TR
BREEP LT LR
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EEBMARHMERD A
BRAD 1SR - 25

@yt

http://www.chevalier.com

N <X

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

Announcement of Results
Interim Results
Final Results

28 November 2022
29 June 2023

Book Close Dates
Interim Dividend
Annual General Meeting
Final Dividend

14 to 15 December 2022

23 to 28 August 2023

11 to 12 September 2023

Annual General Meeting 28 August 2023

Payment of Dividends

Interim dividend of
HK$0.10 per share

Final dividend of
HK$0.28 per share

22 December 2022

20 September 2023

Bt # B &

RHAZE 4R - _#+—HA=+NH

REAEE —E-=FxXA-+hH

HIBF HH

R ERRR B B+ _A+MWHBEZE+AHB

BRAFRKE —E-=# N \A=-+=BZ=+/\H

REAAL B —E-_=FhLA+—HE+_H

BREFAS —E-_=F#NA=+NH

TR R E

HHERAR B —E-_—_F+=-RA=+=H
FREE0.107T

RERRR B —E-=F#NHA=-+H
FREE#0.287C

AN I —
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PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS
w18 H

Landmark South

Extension of Operation Theatre Block for
Tuen Mun Hospital - Section 2 Works

EMEBRFNEABREIZ-S-H

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS
B RIAHE

Expansion of the Hong Kong Red Cross
Blood Transfusion Service Headquarters

BERATZFEROREFLARREETR

Conversion of Morse Park
Swimming Pool Complex

B+ RERKERETIRE

Electrical works for the construction
of Siu Ho Wan Water Treatment Works
Extension and Siu Ho Wan Raw Water
Booster Pumping Station

NERE KR IERE SRR R KGR
HAKEZENIR

HIEREEERAR
2023 F#f
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CSR HIGHLIGHTS
EXHEETERLY

[ )
L]

e J

04 - 2022

1,500 gift packs donated to five social welfare
organisations by the Group

EEBEH15000 F0REBTFREMERE

06 - 2022

The Group donated four enhanced trolleys to
elderly recycling workers which trolleys were
assembled by Chevalier Cares

EEEENYHEELRIE IR FAENELLRTF
EETFTOWRRE

08 - 2022

Over 50 staff participated in the Chevalier Blood
Donation Day

BES0EETSHEXFIALIRMmA]

09 - 2022

Mr H S Kuok, Chairman and Managing Director
of the Group met with the representatives of
Chevalier Group Scholarship awardees

SEIFRESALEDBLEALHEALRERE
ERRBENREE

11 - 2022

The Group’s staff participated in Community
Chest’s Walk for Millions

SESIZHEAZETHET

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CSR HIGHLIGHTS
U EETEMNEE

11 - 2022

Supported the Chevalier Cup Race Day for the
27th consecutive year

EE_tTtFEMBELREEFAH]

12 - 2022

Staff participated in the annual charity Lifewire
Run with the Group’s support

BETHEKEENIFTI 2N ER RETIFEEXER

01 - 2023

Supported the Construction Industry Happy Run
2023 organised by the Construction Industry
Council

XEFHEEXBSERNIZEXMLNE 2023]

01 - 2023

Chevalier Cares collaborated with the Hong Kong
Family Welfare Society to make scarves and
deliver gift bags to dozens of elderly in Yau Tong
district during Chinese New Year

EORIRIBESERERINEENEEHHHR
HHEERE YR EBRFREAHED

03 - 2023

Chevalier Cares organised a day camp activity
with PHAB Association for children with special
education needs

BELRIRTIREASEERHERERABEREN
PRAREWRBEED

B EREMARAT
2023 F3R > 13
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
MR R Z K

Dear Shareholders,

Looking back over the last year, the Group has weathered the storm
and can finally put the COVID-19 pandemic behind us with the complete
lifting of all restrictions by the Government of the HKSAR. However,
we still need to overcome issues that have been left behind by the
pandemic. But like all issues that we face, we are confident to say that
we shall overcome them and the Group's businesses and operations will
soon return to normal.

During the last year, two important factors had impacted our Group's
performance. The first is the repeated aggressive hikes in benchmark
interest rates by the Federal Open Market Committee since March
2022 to combat raging inflation in the USA, which had in turn affected
the interest rates in jurisdictions we have presence. The second is
the slowdown of the economic growth in Mainland China due to the
pandemic and its aftermath. Additionally, the war in Ukraine had had a
negative impact on global economies and supply chains which affected
microchip and other raw materials we rely on.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

BERBRER:
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In the local scene, the Government of the HKSAR has upheld its
commitment to securing future land supply by redeveloping brownfield
sites in North New Territories areas, Tseung Kwan O Area 137, and Kau
Yi Chau Artificial Islands. The Government has targeted to build 360,000
units of public housing flats in the next decade to ease public housing
needs and ensure a steady public housing supply. The Government has
committed to ensuring sufficient land will be ready for providing no less
than 72,000 private residential units in the next five years. Such land
may be offered by way of land sale, railway property developments,
development projects of the Urban Renewal Authority and other private
development projects. Moreover, the Government of the HKSAR has
encouraged the wide adoption of new construction technologies by
industry players to support the growth in demand for housing and
infrastructure. It can lead to a reduction in the production cost and
improved product quality control. The ultimate goal is to expedite
the supply of housing, through enhancement of the quantity, speed,
efficiency, and quality, to resolve the urgent needs of Hong Kong.

Our construction and engineering businesses will continue to apply their
experience and knowledge, and the latest building technologies to speed
up the construction process and strive to reduce on-site manpower
and construction waste, thereby enhancing quality and cost efficiency.
The Group will continue to provide apprenticeship programme for the
construction industry and participate in scholarship programme with
educational institutes.

In our property development and operation business, the fifth wave
of the pandemic caused by Omicron at the beginning of 2022 had a
negative impact on the sale of residential units during the financial
year. Coupled with the increasing interest rate and a new wave of
migration, the urge to purchase properties was hampered. Our cold
storage and logistics services business will closely monitor the recovery
of the global supply chain and take prudent measures in meeting new
opportunities that may arise in the post-COVID-19 market.

Our healthcare business has continued to experience revenue and
occupancy losses, and both have yet to return to the pre-pandemic
levels. We are facing unprecedented labour challenges and other
inflationary impacts in the USA healthcare industry. In addition, we
have sold a senior housing property located in Michigan during the year
under review and plan to dispose of the operating quotas, buildings
and land of those other non-performing facilities in the coming year to
maximise return. In Hong Kong, the construction works of the Ventria
Residence located at 17A & B Ventris Road, Happy Valley, Hong Kong,
will be completed by the end of 2023. Our rehabilitation facilities on
Waterloo Road has also relocated to a new premises closer to the
Ventria Residence after year end. With the professional management
team and medical practitioners on board, together with the support from
our partner, Hong Kong-Macao Conference of Seventh-Day Adventists,
the high-quality services, personalised care, comprehensive health and
well-being support of Ventria Residence will be highly sought after.

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
BB B 2 BRI

EAMFH EAFREBRNBRBERN
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
W Z K1

Businesses in Mainland China were still affected by sporadic outbreaks
of COVID-19 in different regions at the beginning of last year. Although
the PRC government implemented policies and measures to stabilise
and boost the economy, the performance of our car dealership outlets,
particularly in Chengdu deteriorated as a result of the limitation of
electricity supply to homes, offices, and malls due to a severe power
crunch driven by extreme heat waves and drought in August. We
believe that in the coming year, positive local government policies and
automobile financing support extended by banks will stimulate a swift
economic recovery in the PRC with positive cascading effects on our
automobile retail business in Sichuan. The Group is cautiously optimistic
about the performance of our car dealerships in the PRC and Canada.

Looking ahead, we anticipate a moderate recovery across all business
sectors in Hong Kong. However, we expect the interest rate and inflation
rate will remain at the current high level for some time, and the rippling
effect of global geopolitical unrest to remain throughout 2023. Looking
to benefit from the 2022 Policy Address on land and housing supply,
the Group is optimistic about the performance of the construction and
engineering segment in the coming financial year. The Group will remain
vigilant and agile in responding to market changes and will continue to
capture opportunities in a cautious manner in the coming year.

| would like to take this opportunity to extend my appreciation and
thanks to our fellow directors for their great advice. | also express my
sincerest appreciation to all customers and business partners for their
continuous support, and also to all staff for their contributions and
concerted effort throughout the year.

Mr. Yang Chuen Liang, Charles has informed the Company that he
has decided not to offer himself for re-election and will retire after
the conclusion of the upcoming annual general meeting in August. |
would like to express my deepest thanks to Mr. Yang who has been an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company since 2008. On
behalf of the Board, | thank him for his much invaluable advice over the
last 15 years and wish him the greatest success with all his other future
endeavours.

KUOK Hoi Sang
Chairman and Managing Director

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group's consolidated revenue decreased from HK$8,634 million
in 2021/22 to HK$7100 million for the year ended 31 March 2023.
Total segment revenue, which includes the Group's share of revenue
of associates and joint ventures, decreased to HK$9,423 million from
HK$11,231 million. Profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2023 amounted to HK$269 million (2022: HK$693 million). If we exclude
(i) the profit resulting from the handover of the pre-sale Changchun
residential properties in September 2021; (i) change in fair value of a
joint venture's investment properties in the United States of America
("USA"); and (iii) various investment properties’ revaluations; the
difference in the operating profit of the Group for the year as compared
to the previous financial year is insignificant. Profit attributable to the
Company's shareholders for the year ended 31 March 2023 was HK$234
million (2022: HK$645 million) which translates into an earnings per
share of HK$0.77 (2022: HK$2.13).

CONSTRUCTION AND ENGINEERING

The Construction and Engineering segment’'s revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2023 reported a drop of 4% from HK$4,996 million
to HK$4,797 million year on year. The segment profit before net
finance costs experienced a slight decline of 2% from HK$334 million
to HK$327 million as a result of (i) an upsurge in material and other
operational costs; and (ii) fierce competition in the industry, all occurring
simultaneously in an uncertain post-COVID-19 business environment.
Nevertheless, the adverse impact on the segment’'s performance was
offset by various one-off government subsidies received in the reporting
year.

The construction business division continued to attach great importance
to the enhancement and innovation of various technologies. These
include MiC Lift, High-strength Lightweight Concrete, Hybrid-MiC,
and MIMEP which all contribute to the enhancement of construction
quantity, speed, efficiency, and the quality of housing. With its profound
construction experience and a professional Building Information
Modelling (BIM) team, the Group is capable of providing one-stop
solutions covering design to on-site construction, and successfully
applying Hybrid-MiC Solution to different projects. In addition, the latest
technologies also help tackle the lingering problem of skilled labour
shortage and also reduce the generation of construction waste, thus
advocating a sustainable environment.

BEE BRI
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEES R

The electrical and mechanical engineering (E&M) division recorded
stable results during the year under review. The reopening of the border
in early 2023 and the tourism campaign launched in Macau in the first
quarter of 2023, all showed encouraging signs of tourism recovery in
Macau. Our E&M division has always had a strong presence in Macau
and will seize any opportunities arising from the facilities upgrade
projects of various gaming operators whilst exploring other business
opportunities in Hong Kong.

The aluminium windows and curtain walls division reported a decline
in both revenue and profit due to significant delay in various projects
during the reporting year as a result of the adverse impact of COVID-19.
Nevertheless, by leveraging our extensive experience in the field, this
division secured some notable curtain wall projects in both Australia
and Hong Kong during the financial year. In line with the Group's goal
to enhance quality, quantity, speed and efficiency in our construction
projects, this division has further strengthened its automated production
capacity, data analytics and management with QR code system, and
passed the high-tech enterprise certification through technological
integration capabilities in Dongguan, Mainland China.

With the resumption of construction works at full speed, the building
supplies division recorded positive results during the reporting year.
As of 31 March 2023, this division had orders for the installation of
approximately 6,500 kitchen units, and expects business to pick up as
the demand for kitchen cabinet installation significantly increased with
clients catching up with backlogs, thereby driving the revenue and net
profit of the division.

During the year, the environmental engineering division also reported
moderate performance, mainly as a result of the Government's
commitment to improve water and wastewater treatment. The
division will continue to keep a close eye on tender opportunities for
environment-related projects.

Thanks to the market's resilience, the construction industry in Hong
Kong recovered fairly quickly from the pandemic. The lift and escalator
division reported a positive and stable performance attributable to
certain mega contracts secured during the reporting year. The continued
adoption of its self-developed MiIC Lift technology in the construction
of lift shafts and lift machine rooms with MiC and MIiMEP technologies
is a top priority of the division. Adoption of innovative technologies will
tackle labour shortage, enhance efficiency and on-site safety, and reduce
construction waste.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 March 2023, the total value of all outstanding construction and
engineering contracts for the Group amounted to HK$10,239 million.
Major contracts include:

10.

1.

Construction of a hotel development at 1 Cheong Tung Road, Hung
Hom, Kowloon;

Construction of proposed residential care home, church facilities and
senior hostel development at 17A & B Ventris Road, Happy Valley,
Hong Kong;

Construction of the extension of the operating theatre block for Tuen
Mun Hospital, New Territories;

Property development at THE SOUTHSIDE, Package Five, Aberdeen
Inland Lot No. 467, Wong Chuk Hang, Hong Kong;

Electrical works for construction of Siu Ho Wan water treatment
works extension and Siu Ho Wan Raw Water Booster Pumping
Station;

Operations and maintenance of on-site chlorine generation plants
at Shatin, Pak Kong, Tuen Mun, Ma On Shan and Au Tau water
treatment works;

LV Electrical and HVAC installation works for Basement, Podium and
Tower 3 of Galaxy Resort & Casino Phase 4 at Cotai, Macau;

Design, supply and installation of metal panel and external wall
cladding system for T2C of the Third Runway Concourse and Apron
Works of Hong Kong International Airport;

Design, supply and installation of curtain wall for a landmark
integrated project at Kowloon Inland Lot No. 11262;

Design, supply and installation of kitchen cabinets for West Rail Kam
Sheung Road Station Package 1 property development at Lot No.
1040 IN D.D. No. 103, Yuen Long, New Territories; and

Design, supply and installation of kitchen cabinets for Ho Man Tin
Station Package One property development at Northern Portion of
Kowloon Inland Lot No. 11264 located in Ho Man Tin, Kowloon.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FFEE D—J Dﬁﬂ& 7|tﬁ

PROPERTY INVESTMENT

The leasing business of this segment comprises properties in Hong
Kong, Singapore, Mainland China and the United Kingdom. This segment
recorded positive growth for the year ended 31 March 2023. Segment
revenue increased by 23% from HK$151 million to HK$186 million year
on year. However, segment profit before net finance costs reported a
year-on-year decline of 39% from HK$379 million to HK$230 million due
to lower fair value gain on investment properties comparing to last year.

In Hong Kong, the investment properties consist of mainly offices
and warehouses. Full occupancy of these office properties and strong
demand for warehouse spaces provided stable income during the year.

In the United Kingdom, the Group owns two investment properties.
Both properties are Grade-A commercial/office buildings located in prime
locations in London. The Hammersmith Broadway property is currently
single-let on a 10-year lease to The Department for Work and Pensions
of the British Government and the other property in the City of London
is currently multi-let to renowned institutions covering the banking, legal
and business consultancy industries with a weighted average unexpired
lease term of more than six years. Both properties are held for long-
term investment and let to long-term tenants, any valuation loss due
to the underperforming market will not sway our intention and strategy
with these investments.

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND OPERATIONS

The Property Development and Operations segment reported a
significant drop in both revenue and profit before net finance costs by
61% from HK$1,511 million to HK$588 million and by 52% from HK$268
million to HK$128 million, respectively. The decline in segment revenue
and profit was mainly due to the absence of the revenue recognised
from the handover of the pre-sale Changchun residential units and the
slow down of the property market in Hong Kong which caused the
sluggish performance of the sale of “SABLIER" during the year as
compared to the last year.

During the year, the approximately 12,000 square feet net gross floor
area of commercial/retail space of “City Hub” was leased to a well-
known educational institution to operate as a kindergarten. “City Hub”
is a 50-50 joint venture redevelopment project with the Urban Renewal
Authority (“URA") located in To Kwa Wan, Kowloon.

“SABLIER" is also an URA redevelopment project and the first wholly-
owned composite residential development of the Group. It is located
at 8 Fuk Chak Street, Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon, and is a 28-storey single
building with a total of 144 small to medium-sized residential units,
totalling approximately 55,000 square feet of gross floor area and
approximately 8,000 square feet of commercial area. “SABLIER” is also
the first development in the Group's “LE MOMENT" series. The Group
will continue to market the remaining residential units and commercial
area for sale.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Another residential development situated at 292A-D Prince Edward
Road West, Ho Man Tin, Kowloon in the “LE MOMENT" series with
a residential floor area of approximately 39,000 square feet is located
within a developed community with comprehensive amenities and a
well-sought-after school network. It is expected that the Occupation
Permit and the Certificate of Compliance will be obtained in the financial
year 2023/24.

The Group's residential development project located at 5 Hang Lok
Lane, Shatin, occupies a site area of approximately 48,000 square feet
and is planned for the construction of luxurious low-density residential
units.

Taking into account the Government's ongoing policy on re-
industrialisation and its long-term commitment to make Hong Kong
an international innovation and technology hub, the Group expects an
increase in demand for land in the northern-most part of Hong Kong
adjoining the Mainland China. As such, the Group plans to develop the
On Kui Street, Fanling site into a modern industrial building with a total
gross floor area of approximately 88,000 square feet and fitted with
high-end facilities.

“Chevalier City” is located in a developed community close to the
Changchunxi Railway Station. Phase Il of “Chevalier City” in Changchun
comprises 10 residential blocks and provides about 1,100 units with a
gross floor area of approximately 100,000 square metres. The size of
the residential units ranges from 36 to 125 square metres. About 70%
of the residential units of Phase Ill of “Chevalier City” have been sold.
Construction of Phase V commenced in June 2022 and is expected to be
completed by the end of 2024.

During the year, the performance of the cold storage and logistics
division improved as cross border trades became more active. In line
with the Group's strategy on sustainable development, our cold storage
and logistics division commenced the upgrading work of the chiller and
freezer facilities in one of its cold storage warehouses with a view to
achieving better and more efficient energy consumption. The upgrading
work is expected to be completed by the end of 2023. This division will
continue to leverage on its strong market position and solid relationships
with our business partners and diverse customer base to ensure steady
business stream.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEES R

The property management division provides comprehensive and high-
quality property management services to a wide range of customers,
with a portfolio of about 33 million square feet comprising commercial,
industrial and residential buildings, shopping arcades and car parks. The
property management division is committed to exploring opportunities
offered by private and public customers, including the Hong Kong
Housing Authority (HKHA). The division was awarded property
management agency service contracts of Ching Long Shopping Centre,
Wah Fu (Il) Commercial Complex and Ping Yan Shopping Centre by the
HKHA. These achievements greatly enhanced our determination in the
continual development of our shopping centre management business.
Subsequent to the year end, this division expanded its property
management portfolio in Shanghai with the addition of two new
management contracts. One is for a private residential property in the
affluent Jing An District and the other, residential units and shops of a
reputable university.

HEALTHCARE INVESTMENT

The revenue of the Healthcare Investment segment recorded a year
on-year decline from HK$930 million to HK$920 million, representing
a decrease of 1% during the year. Such decline was mainly due to the
divestment of a senior housing property in Michigan and the cessation
of the special arrangement with the local government for the provision
of specialised care and ancillary services to COVID-19 patients. Segment
loss before net finance costs also recorded an increase from a loss of
HK$2 million to a loss of HK$112 million as compared to last year. The
significant increase in losses for the year was mainly the result of the
share of decrease in the fair value of approximately HK$118 million of a
joint venture's medical office buildings located in New York, Pennsylvania
and Rhode Island in the USA. Nevertheless, the overall value of our
investment remains positive as compared to our purchased price. The
occupancy rate of our senior housing facilities also picked up slower
than we had anticipated, whereas fixed and operating costs such as
labour remained high as a result of the overall macro environment in the
USA with high inflation and low unemployment rate. In order to enhance
the overall performance of the Group's healthcare investments, the
Group will continue to closely monitor the allocation of resources with
our senior housing operators based on local economy, demographics,
market supply and demand and will rearrange the investment portfolios
accordingly where necessary.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group owned 28 senior housing properties
across six states in the USA providing over 2,400 units/beds covering a
wide spectrum of services including independent living, assisted living,
memory care and skilled nursing. The Group also owns three medical
office buildings located in New York, Pennsylvania and Rhode Island
comprising a total gross floor area of approximately 428,000 square
feet.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In Hong Kong, the construction works of the “Ventria Residence”
located at 17A & B Ventris Road, Happy Valley, Hong Kong, will soon
be completed by the end of 2023. Subsequent to the year end, our
rehabilitation facility has relocated from Waterloo Road, Kowloon to
Happy Valley, Hong Kong.

With our new professional management team and experienced medical
practitioners on board, our newly relocated rehabilitation center can
provide individualised treatment and outcome-driven rehabilitation
programs that can be modified according to patients’ specific conditions
and functional needs. The Group will also explore new opportunities in
Hong Kong and Guangdong — Hong Kong — Macao Greater Bay Area.

CAR DEALERSHIP

In Mainland China, the car dealership industry faced multiple headwinds.
The intermittent outbreaks of COVID-19 in different regions of China
including Chengdu and other parts of Sichuan where we operate
resulted in the decrease in revenue of this segment from HK$2,291
million to HK$1,808 million, a year-on-year decline of 21% as compared
to the corresponding period last year. Segment loss before net finance
costs recorded a year-on-year increase from a loss of HK$38 million to a
loss of HK$56 million, driven by soaring raw material costs, shortage of
semiconductor chips and extreme weather in Chengdu.

Rising interest rates and the lingering effects of COVID-19 on the
global supply chain which led to a shortage of semiconductor chips
equally affected Canada, which in turn hindered the growth of the
revenue of our car dealership business in Canada. In order to maintain
steady businesses development amid the difficult business operating
environment, the Group has adopted a prudent approach and will
exercise stringent control over operating costs to mitigate downside
pressure.

OTHERS

This segment’s revenue reported a decrease from HK$1,353 million to
HK$1,124 million, representing a decline of 17% as compared to last
year. Segment profit before net finance costs recorded a meaningful
improvement from HK$20 million to HK$39 million, representing
an increase of 95%. The increase in profit was mainly due to the
performance of our investment portfolio as a result of an overall
improved market sentiment and performance in the last quarter of our
financial year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEES R

Benefitting from the Government's commitment to increase housing
supply and the funding of large-scale infrastructure projects, the
employees’ compensation insurance business has made a significant
contribution to the segment’'s revenue, notwithstanding a general
decline in gross premium written resulted from fierce competition in
Hong Kong's general insurance market during the year. We shall remain
cautious in underwriting new business at competitive terms, keeping
prudent claims provision, enhancing operational efficiency and providing
reliable services to customers.

Our freight forwarding services business recorded positive contribution
to both the revenue and profit under this segment. It provides
global logistics solutions for its customers by air, sea and local
road transportation and takes pride in the professional value-added
services that differentiates it from its competitors. In order to cope
with our expanding businesses, our freight forwarding operation has
increased its capacity by relocating to a new facility during the vyear.
The new operating center provides support to value-added operations
including pharmaceutical and life science cold chain transportation and
warehousing, clinical trials project storage, aircraft parts storage and
transportation, wine warehousing, and project cargoes planning and
execution.

During the vyear, the information and technology division served as
service provider of the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department
and completed the PABX replacement works for the HKSAR Central
Government Offices with the conversion of their system from a
traditional digital PABX to a full IP PABX. Professionalism of this
division was recognised with the award of the bronze medal at the 48th
International Exhibition of Inventions of Geneva for this “Speech-to-text
Hub for Real-time Monitoring and Analysis in Customer Service Calls”
project. In order to increase our business coverage in the market, this
division strives for new business opportunities by integrating Al Chatbot,
mobile APP, voice recognition and smart application with our traditional
voice solutions, in its customised one-stop IT solutions for hospital and
government sectors. In addition, this division also offers customised
and value-adding enterprise automation solutions to its private and
government clients.

Looking ahead, a challenging global economic environment and ongoing
uncertainties will require us to remain vigilant and adaptable in order
to navigate successfully. The Group remains committed to investing
in innovative and advanced technologies to keep us at the forefront of
our industries. We believe that these investments are critical to our
long-term success and will allow us to continue delivering value to our
stakeholders well into the future.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Revenue

Revenue of the Group decreased from HK$8,634 million in the year
2021/22 to HK$7,100 million in the year 2022/23. The decrease was
mainly due to less revenue recognised from sale of residential units
in the property development in Changchun, Mainland China and Hong
Kong, sale of motor vehicles, insurance premium and freight forwarding
in Mainland China offset by more revenue recognised from hotel
operations and leasing of properties.

Gross profit

Gross profit decreased from HK$1,037 million in the year 2021/22 to
HK$811 million in the year 2022/23 and gross profit margin slightly
decreased from 12.0% to 11.4%.

Other income

Other income of HK$124 million was recorded in the year 2022/23
(2021/22: HK$126 million). The decrease was mainly due to lower
compensation income and sundry income by HK$26 million offset by
increase in government grants by HK$24 million.

Other gains, net

Other gains, net of HK$25 million were recorded in the year 2022/23
(2021/22: HK$153 million). The decrease in gains was primarily due to a
smaller increase in fair value of investment properties by HK$104 million
(2021/22: an increase in fair value of investment properties by HK$289
million) offset by a smaller loss on investments at fair value through
profit or loss of HK$14 million (2021/22: a loss on investments at fair
value through profit or loss of HK$80 million).

Selling and distribution costs

Selling and distribution costs decreased from HK$232 million in the
year 2021/22 to HK$194 million in the year 2022/23. The decrease was
mainly due to decrease in commission expense relating to the sales of
residential properties in Changchun, Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Share of results of associates

The Group's share of results of associates increased from HK$145
million in the year 2021/22 to HK$174 million in the year 2022/23. The
increase was mainly attributable to the associates in Hong Kong and
Singapore under the lifts and escalators business.
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Share of results of joint ventures

The Group's share of results of joint ventures decreased from a profit
of HK$82 million in the year 2021/22 to a loss of HK$49 million in the
year 2022/23. The decrease was mainly attributable to decrease in fair
value of the joint venture's investment properties in the USA under the
Healthcare Investment segment.

Finance costs, net

Finance costs, net of HK$85 million were recorded in the year 2022/23
(2021/22: HK$62 million). Finance costs increased by HK$48 million to
HK$137 million (2021/22: HK$89 million), while finance income increased
by HK$25 million to HK$52 million (2021/22: HK$27 million), mainly due
to increase in interest income from bank deposits.

Taxation

Taxation of HK$150 million in the year 2022/23 (2021/22: HK$157 million)
was derived from the current tax expense of HK$93 million (2021/22:
HK$172 million) and the deferred tax expense of HK$57 million (2021/22:
deferred tax credit of HK$15 million). The decrease was mainly due to
decrease of taxable profit relating to the sales of residential properties
in Changchun, Mainland China offset by the increase of deferred tax
expense relating to our senior housing business in the USA.

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of HK$234 million
was achieved in the year 2022/23 (2021/22: HK$645 million). Excluding
the increase in fair value of investment properties of HK$104 million
(2021/22: HK$289 million) and government grants of HK$48 million
(2021/22: HK$25 million) in the year 2022/23, profit attributable to
shareholders of the Company decreased by HK$249 million. The
decrease was mainly attributable to the contribution from handover of
previously pre-sale properties in Changchun, Mainland China in the year
2021/22 and decrease in fair value of the joint venture's investment
properties in the USA in the year 2022/23.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Investment properties

The carrying value of investment properties increased by HK$16 million
to HK$4,765 million as at 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$4,749 million) mainly
due to increase in fair value, offset by foreign exchange adjustment.
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Property, plant and equipment

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment decreased by
HK$327 million to HK$3,050 million as at 31 March 2023 (2022:
HK$3,377 million) which mainly resulted from depreciation and disposal
of a senior housing business.

Goodwill

The carrying value of goodwill decreased by HK$30 million to HK$605
million as at 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$635 million), mainly due to
disposal of a senior housing business.

Interests in associates

Interests in associates consisted of interests in associates, including
goodwill, of HK$699 million (2022: HK$655 million) and non-current
portion of amount due from an associate of HK$22 million (2022: HK$22
million).

Interests in joint ventures

Interests in joint ventures consisted of interests in joint ventures,
including goodwill, of HK$820 million (2022: HK$929 million) and non-
current portion of amount due from a joint venture of HK$264 million
(2022: HK$264 million).

Properties under development

Properties under development increased by HK$401 million to HK$2,097
million (2022: HK$1,696 million) mainly representing development
costs incurred for property development projects in Hong Kong and
Changchun, Mainland China totalling HK$437 million (2022: HK$637
million) offset by exchange loss of HK$36 million (2022: exchange gain
of HK$29 million).

Properties for sale

The decrease in properties for sale of HK$78 million to HK$1,008
million (2022: HK$1,086 million) was mainly due to sale of properties in
Changchun, Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Bank balances and cash

As at 31 March 2023, bank balances and cash decreased to HK$2,503
million (2022: HK$2,667 million), of which 77.1% (2022: 73.6%) of bank
balances and cash were denominated in Hong Kong and US dollars while
15.0% (2022: 18.4%) were denominated in Renminbi.
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Bank and other borrowings

Bank and other borrowings decreased to HK$3,881 million as at 31
March 2023 (2022: HK$4,020 million) as a result of repayment of bank
loans during the year. 62.8%, 22.1% and 9.9% of the balance as at 31
March 2023 (2022: 55.8%, 28.5% and 10.2%) were denominated in
Hong Kong dollar, US dollar and British Pound respectively.

The portion of the Group's bank and other borrowings due within one
year decreased from 60.3% as at 31 March 2022 to 23.2% as at 31
March 2023.

Majority of the borrowings in Hong Kong, the USA and the United
Kingdom carry floating interest rates, most of which are based on Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate, the Secured Overnight Financing Rate or
the Bank of England Base Rate.

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

As of 31 March 2023, the Group's net assets attributable to the
Company’s shareholders amounted to HK$10,386 million, representing
a decrease of HK$203 million from the previous year's figure of
HK$10,589 million. The decline was primarily due to exchange difference
on the translation of the operations of overseas subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures amounting to HK$295 million and dividend payments
of HK$136 million. However, this was partially offset by a profit
attributable to the Company’s shareholders of HK$234 million.

LEVERAGE RATIOS

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in Hong
Kong, the USA and the United Kingdom.

As at 31 March 2023, of the Group's total debt which amounted to
HK$3,881 million (2022: HK$4,020 million), HK$859 million (2022:
HK$1,145 million) was attributable to the senior housing business, of
which HK$794 million (2022: HK$1,080 million) was without recourse to
the Company.
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Analysis of the net debt is set out below:

Unsecured: AR
— other business — H b 275
Secured: FHEMA:
— senior housing business —RER S ER
— other business —H M
Total debt BER
Bank balances and cash WITHEF LR S
Net debt FETE

As at 31 March 2023, with the decrease in bank and other borrowings,
total debt to equity ratio decreased to 35.3% (2022: 35.8%), which
was expressed as a percentage of bank and other borrowings over the
Group's net assets of HK$10,993 million (2022: HK$11,227 million).
Net debt to equity ratio increased to 12.5% (2022: 12.1%), which
was expressed as a percentage of net bank and other borrowings
(representing total bank and other borrowings net of bank balances and
cash) over the Group's net assets. Ratio of total debt to total assets of
HK$20,319 million (2022: HK$20,215 million) decreased from 19.9% to
19.1% as at 31 March 2023.

With the existing banking facilities and the recurring cash generation
from its operations, the Group has sufficient financial resources to meet
the funding requirements for its ongoing operations as well as its future
expansion.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies in cash and financial
management. The Group's treasury activities are centralised in order to
achieve better risk control and minimise cost of funds. Cash is generally
placed in short-term deposits with majority denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, Renminbi or US dollar. The Group's liquidity and financing
requirements are frequently reviewed. In anticipating new investments
or maturity of bank and other borrowings, the Group will consider new
financing while maintaining an appropriate level of gearing.
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EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES AND
INTEREST RATES

The major currencies used to operate the businesses are Hong Kong
dollar, Renminbi and US dollar. As at 31 March 2023, the Group had
arranged foreign currency swap contracts amounting to HK$70 million
(2022: HK$2 million) to hedge part of its foreign currency risk from
various foreign currencies used for business operations. The Group had

no outstanding interest rate swap contract as at 31 March 2023 (2022:
HKS$Nil).

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023, bank and other borrowings of HK$1,522 million
(2022: HK$1,873 million) and other unutilised banking facilities were
secured by charges on investment properties of HK$772 million (2022:
HK$1,011 million), property, plant and equipment of HK$1,110 million
(2022: HK$1,409 million), investments at fair value through profit or
loss of HK$39 million (2022: HK$84 million), other non-current assets
of HK$12 million (2022: HK$13 million), inventories of HK$265 million
(2022: HK$91 million), debtors, contract assets, deposits paid and
prepayments of HK$138 million (2022: HK$124 million) and deposits at
bank of HK$136 million (2022: HK$143 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of the contingent liabilities are set out in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements.

COMMITMENT

Details of the commitment are set out in note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements. The commitment is to be financed by borrowings
and internal funds.
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MR. KUOK HOI SANG M.H., Executive Director, Chairman and Managing
Director, chairman of the Executive Committee and the Nomination
Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee, aged 73, joined
Chevalier Group in 1972. He is also a director of certain companies of the
Group. Mr. Kuok has extensive experience in business development and is
responsible for the strategic planning and management of the operations of lift
and escalator, building construction, building supplies, aluminium windows and
curtain walls, electrical and mechanical engineering, civil engineering, property
investment and development as well as investment projects of Chevalier
Group. Mr. Kuok is the Chairman of Executive Board of The Hong Kong
Real Property Federation, the Honorable Founding President of Registered
Specialist Trade Contractors Federation, the President of The Lift and Escalator
Contractors Association, the Chairman of the Hong Kong — China Branch
of The International Association of Elevator Engineers, Vice President of The
Hong Kong Federation of Electrical and Mechanical Contractors Limited and a
Registered Lift and Escalator Engineer in Hong Kong.

Mr. Kuok has served on a number of the Boards and Committees of the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, including
the Lift and Escalator Safety Advisory Committee as well as the Written
Examination Committee of the Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department for registration of lift engineers and escalator engineers. Mr.
Kuok was awarded the Medal of Honour by the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region in 2016 for his dedicated public service,
particularly for his contributions to the development of the electrical and
mechanical services industry. He was also a member of the Guangzhou
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference from
the 9th to 12th sessions and the Election Committee of the Chief Executive
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

MR. TAM KWOK WING M.H., Executive Director, Deputy Managing Director
and a member of the Executive Committee, aged 62, joined Chevalier Group
in 1986. He is also a director of certain companies of the Group. Mr. Tam
is responsible for the operations of cold storage and logistics; insurance
services; property investment and development; property management; and
travel agency businesses.

Mr. Tam holds a Bachelor Degree in Laws from Peking University of the
People’s Republic of China; a Master of Arts Degree from City University of
Hong Kong; and a Postgraduate Diploma in Corporate Administration from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Tam is a Fellow Member of each
of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators; the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors; the Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom; and
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute. Mr. Tam is also a Chartered
Member of the Chartered Institute of Housing in the United Kingdom.

At present, Mr. Tam is the Deputy Chairman of the Governing Committee
and the Immediate Past Chairman and a Councillor of the General Insurance
Council in the Hong Kong Federation of Insurers. He also sits as a member
on the Property Management Services Authority. In addition, he is a Past
President of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute, and a Past
President and Council Member of the Hong Kong Association of Property
Management Companies. He is also currently a member of the fifth-term
Election Committee of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

Mr. Tam has been appointed as the Honorary Vice Consul of the Kingdom
of Bahrain to Hong Kong. He also serves as the Secretary General of the
Hong Kong Bahrain Business Association. He was also a Standing Committee
Member of the 13th Changchun Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference.
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MR. HO CHUNG LEUNG, Executive Director and a member of the
Executive Committee, aged 73, joined Chevalier Group in 1985. He is also
a director of certain companies of the Group. He is responsible for the
internal audit of the Group. Mr. Ho is a Fellow Member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and a Member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

MR. MA CHI WING, Executive Director and a member of the Executive
Committee, aged 54, joined Chevalier Group in 1993. He is also a director of
certain companies of the Group. He is responsible for the human resources
and general administration of the Group. Mr. Ma has extensive experience
in project management and is currently in charge of the healthcare
investment, car dealership, hotel investment and trading businesses of the
Group. Mr. Ma holds a Master's degree in Business Administration from
The University of Warwick in the United Kingdom, a Bachelor’'s degree
in International Business Studies from City University of Hong Kong, a
Corporate Finance Certificate from University of California, Berkeley in
the United States of America, and a Professional Certificate in China
Construction from Tsinghua University, Mainland China.

MISS LILY CHOW, Executive Director and a member of the Executive
Committee, aged 60, joined Chevalier Group in 1990. She is also a director
of certain companies of the Group. She is responsible for strategic planning
and business development of the Group. Miss Chow holds a Bachelor's
degree in Arts from the University of British Columbia in Canada. Miss
Chow is a Honorary Chairman of Ladies’ Committee of The Chinese General
Chamber of Commerce, a Vice President and Honorary President of All-
China Women's Federation Hong Kong Delegates Association, the Hong
Kong non-voting member of the All China Women's Federation and a
member of Equal Opportunities Commission. She is currently a member of
the fifth-term Election Committee of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region. She is also a member of the 13th Zhejiang Provincial Committee
of the Chinese People’'s Political Consultative Conference. Miss Chow is
the daughter of the late Dr. Chow Yei Ching, Chairman Emeritus of the
Company, and a sister of Mr. Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar, Non-Executive
Director of the Company.

MR. CHOW VEE TSUNG, OSCAR, Non-Executive Director, aged 49, joined
Chevalier Group in 2000. He is also a director of certain companies of the
Group. He holds a Master’'s degree in Engineering from The University of
Oxford in the United Kingdom. Mr. Chow is currently a member of General
Committee and a member of Chamber Council of the Hong Kong General
Chamber of Commerce, a General Committee Member of The Chinese
Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong and a Court Honorary Member
of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Chow is the Honorary Consul
of the Kingdom of Bahrain in Hong Kong and currently the Chairman of
Hong Kong Bahrain Business Association. He is a member of the fifth-
term Election Committee of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
He was also the Shanghai Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference. Mr. Chow is the son of the late Dr. Chow Yei Ching,
Chairman Emeritus of the Company, and a brother of Miss Lily Chow,
Executive Director of the Company.
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MR. YANG CHUEN LIANG, CHARLES B.B.S., J.P, Independent Non-
Executive Director and chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of
each of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, aged
64, joined the Company in 2008. Mr. Yang obtained a Master's degree in
Business Administration from Cass Business School in London, the United
Kingdom in 1983 and is currently a sole proprietor at S. Y. Yang & Company,
Practising firm of Accountants and member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales as well as the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Yang holds directorship in various private
companies. His community duties include the Director and Fourth Vice
President & Admissions, Budgets & Allocations Committee Chairman and
Vice Patron of the Community Chest, a Panel Member of the Insurance
Appeals Tribunal, a member of Travel Industry Authority, a member of
Hospital Governing Committee of Yan Chai Hospital and a Treasurer of the
Council Committee of The Hong Kong Academy for Performing Arts. Mr.
Yang was selected as “Qutstanding Accountant Ambassador” by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He was appointed as Justice
of the Peace by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region in 2004 and awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2011.

PROFESSOR POON CHUNG KWONG G.B.M., G.B.S., J.P, Ph.D., D.Sc.,
Independent Non-Executive Director and chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, a member of each of the Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee, aged 83, joined the Company in 2012. Professor Poon obtained
a Bachelor of Science (Honours) degree from the University of Hong Kong,
a Doctor of Philosophy degree and a Higher Doctor of Science degree from
the University of London in the United Kingdom. He was a Postdoctoral
Fellow at the California Institute of Technology and The University of Southern
California in the United States of America. He also holds a Honorary Degree
of Doctor of Humanities from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2009.
Professor Poon is currently the Chairman of Virya Foundation Limited (a
registered non-profit charitable organisation). He is an Emeritus Professor
and the President Emeritus of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
had devoted 40 years of his life to advancing university education in Hong
Kong before he retired in January 2009 from his 18-year presidency at The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Professor Poon was appointed a Non-
official Justice of the Peace in 1989 and received the OBE award in 1991, the
Gold Bauhinia Star award in 2002, and the “Leader of the Year Awards 2008
(Education)”. In addition, Professor Poon was appointed as a member of the
Legislative Council (1985-1991) and a member of the National Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (1998-2013).

Professor Poon is an independent non-executive director and member of
corporate governance committee of Henderson Land Development Company
Limited, and an independent non-executive director, member of board audit
and risk committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee
of The Hong Kong and China Gas Company Limited. He has retired a non-
executive director of Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited on 9 May
2023. All of those companies are public companies listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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MR. IRONS SZE B.B.S., J.P, Independent Non-Executive Director and a
member of the Audit Committee, aged 61, joined the Company in 2016.
Mr. Sze graduated with a Bachelor's degree in Science from University
of Wisconsin-La Crosse, the United States of America in 1985. Mr. Sze
has extensive experience in investment and corporate management. Mr.
Sze is an independent non-executive director, a member of each of the
audit committee and remuneration committee of Continental Holdings
Limited; an independent non-executive director, chairman of the nomination
committee and member of the audit committee of ST International Holdings
Company Limited; an independent non-executive director, chairman of the
remuneration committee and member of the audit committee of Best Mart
360 Holdings Limited; an independent non-executive director, chairman of
nomination committee, and a member of each of the audit committee and
remuneration committee of Jianzhong Construction Development Limited;
an independent non-executive director, and a member of each of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee of Redco
Healthy Living Company Limited. He was appointed as an independent
non-executive director, and a member of each of the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of Forward Fashion
(International) Holdings Company Limited on 1 July 2022. He was also
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Tongda Group
Holdings Limited on 29 May 2023. All of the above mentioned companies
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Sze is also
an executive director of a private company, Hang Tung Resources Holding
Limited and holds directorship in various private companies.

Mr. Sze is a Standing Member of the 14th National Committee of the
Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference; a Standing Committee
Member of the Beijing Municipal Committee of the Chinese People's
Political Consultative Conference; the Chairman of the HKCPPCC (Provincial)
Association Limited; the Permanent Honorary President of The Chinese
Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong; the Chairman of the Mainland
Business Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Trade Development
Council; the Deputy Secretary General of the Hong Kong Coalition; a
Council Member of the Hong Kong Repertory Theatre Limited; a member of
Labour Advisory Board under Labour Department; and a Court Member of
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He was also elected as a member
of Election Committee of the Chief Executive of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region in 2016. Mr. Sze was appointed as a Justice of the
Peace and awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2011 and 2015 respectively.
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MR. SUN LELAND LI HSUN, Independent Non-Executive Director and a
member of the Audit Committee, aged 61, joined the Company in 2019.
Mr. Sun obtained his Master's degree in Business Administration from
the UCLA Anderson School of Business, the United States of America in
1986. Mr. Sun is the Founder and Chief Executive Officer of Pan Asian
Mortgage Company Limited, an innovative non-banking financial services
company specialising in residential mortgage financing in Hong Kong since
2001. He has retired an independent non-executive director, a member of
remuneration committee and nomination committee of Quanzhou Huixin
Micro-credit Co., Ltd. on 9 June 2023, which is a public company listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Sun is a member of the General Committee and a member of Chamber
Council of the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce and a member
of the Executive Committee and Honorary Treasurer of the Servicemen's
Guides Association.

Mr. Sun was elected as a member of Election Committee of the Chief
Executive of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2017 He was
also appointed by the Financial Secretary of the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region as the first Chief Operating Officer of
The Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited in 1997 Previously, he was
a Senior Managing Director of Bear Stearns Asia Limited and an Executive
Director of Goldman Sachs (Asia) LLC. Mr. Sun was also the President of
The American Club Hong Kong and a member of the Executive Committee
(Treasurer) and Board of Governors of the American Chamber of Commerce
in Hong Kong.
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SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

TEYER

Particulars of major properties held by the Group as at the date of this

report are as follows:

(1) HELD AS INVESTMENT PROPERTIES/PROPERTIES FOR OWN USE

Location

i B

Hong Kong & &

Units 1011 to 1019 on 10th Floor,
19th to 23rd Floors and one-third
interest in 201 car parking spaces of
Chevalier Commercial Centre,

8 Wang Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay

NEERZRBN\FETEHEFRDL
TE—ZE——ZFZ-ZF-NE-
THEZ+T=ZBRE=S—#x
Z201{E = E AL

/|

Chevalier Warehouse Building,
3 On Fuk Street, On Lok Tsuen, Fanling
MEZLBLRE=FETEEXE

29-33 Tsing Yi Road, Tsing Vi
BERERE-THhE=T=%

8 Kwai Hei Street, Kwai Chung
ZOBEEH N\

124-130 Kwok Shui Road and
79-85 Yau Ma Hom Road, Kwai Chung
EREBmBE B THE—B=1%
FomE -+ + A ENTRE

20 Shek O Road
ARE =5

Unit 801 on 8th Floor, Cheung Fung Industrial

Building, 23-29 Pak Tin Par Street,

Tsuen Wan
E2EOABHE_+===1+ 1%

RETEREN\BNE—F

Unit 802 on 8th Floor, Cheung Fung Industrial

Building, 23-29 Pak Tin Par Street,

Tsuen Wan
E2EOABHE_+=E=_1+ 1%

RETERENENETZZE
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Usage
A

Commercial and carpark

BRAREES

Industrial

T%
Industrial
T%

Cold storage warehouse
RERE

Cold storage warehouse
RER

Residential
T=

Industrial

I%

Industrial

I%

AEBRARE A ZEBZYERFINM

T

() FIEREWE BRAWE

Approximate
gross floor area*

EHEENH
sq. ft. T AR

174,600

118,300

253,500

380,000

427,500

5,300

20,400

20,700

The Group's
interest
AEEMLESR
%

100

100

87.5

75

75

100

45

100



SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
TEYER

(1) HELD AS INVESTMENT PROPERTIES/PROPERTIES FOR OWN USE ) HEREYE BRAYWE

(CONTINUED)

Location Usage gross floor area* interest
ih 25 A% BEEEHEAE* LEEMRGER
sq. ft. TR %
Mainland China B A ith
EETRERLEE -8B T/URTE Residential, shop and 142,600 80
carpark
Tx mHkiEEs
Singapore 3 il
Chevalier House, 23 Genting Road, Industrial 106,500 100
Singapore 349481 T
The Blue Building, 10 Genting Road, Industrial 16,900 100
Singapore 349473 T
USA %
430 East Grand Avenue, Industrial/Warehouse 37,000 100
South San Francisco, CA 94080 I¥ /8
13258 Nelson Avenue, City of Industry, Industrial/Warehouse 31,400 100
Los Angeles, CA 91746 I¥/2RE
1530, 1560, 1570 & 1590 Poplar Drive, Senior housing 33,600 100
Medford, Oregon 97504 & &
1700 Montana Drive, Charlotte, Senior housing 34,400 100
North Carolina 28216 ZERE
8425 Aspi Blvd NE, Moses Lake WA 98837 Senior housing 50,900 100
ZER &
535 U.S 158 W Yanceyville, NC 27379 Senior housing 38,300 98.6
ZERk &
3060 SE Stark Street, Portland, Senior housing 150,500 100
OR 97214 ZERE
6031 Cheyenne Avenue, Las Vegas, Senior housing 109,100 100
NV 89108 ZERE
1001 Main Street, Buffalo, Medical office building 296,600 Jvt
Erie Country, New York 14203 BERAEKRNE AR
HI-EBREEERD R

(%)
Approximate

The Group's

2023 F1f



SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

TEMEX

(1) HELD AS INVESTMENT PROPERTIES/PROPERTIES FOR OWN USE

(CONTINUED)

Location

i 2

455 Toll Gate Road — Building 3 Warwick,
Kent Country,
Rhode Island 02886

455 West Woodview Road West Grove,
Chester Country,
Pennsylvania 193390

United Kingdom &

1-3 Hammersmith Broadway, Hammersmith,

London

30 King Street, London

Canada I E X

838 Hamilton Street, Vancouver,
B.C., V6B 6A2

4334-4340 Kingston Road, Ontario,
M1E 2M8

14535-14583 Yonge Street, Aurora,
Ontario, L4G 6L1

Thailand B

Chevalier House,
540 Bamrungmuang Road,
Debsirin Sub-district,
Pomprab District, Bangkok Metropolis

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Usage
R®

Medical office building
P NN

Medical office building
P NN

Commercial

&

Commercial

&

Hotel

BIE

Office and workshop
for automobile
dealership

REAERHIM AT
KI5

Office and workshop
for automobile
dealership

RIEAERHIM AT
KI5

Office premise and
showroom

WAERRINE

() HIEREWE BRWE

(%)
Approximate
gross floor area*

EHEBEOR*
sq. ft. FAR

62,700

68,800

29,400**

35,600%**

66,000

20,200

25,000

21,300

The Group's
interest
AEEMhER
%

Vv
aERE"

100

100

100

100

100

100



SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
TEYER

(1) PROPERTIES FOR SALE N FEWx
Approximate The Group's
Location gross floor area* interest
i 25 BEEHEBANE* A5EMGESR
sq. ft. FT R %

Hong Kong & /&

Sablier, 8 Fuk Chak Street, Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon 33,300 100
NERABREG/RES

City Hub, 8 Kowloon City Road, 44 20,600 JV#
Chi Kiang Street and 6 Kowloon City Road, R
Ma Tau Kok, Kowloon

NEBEANEWENS NI EHN+ER R
MBI B SRR E

Mainland China 7 El A it

REMGERE BN 1E2H K3 - 240 AT B - 1,005,400 96
A22fEE =2 B Az Fo 11016 3y 48 B AL
(Ill) PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (IBERPYE
Estimated
gross floor
Stage of Expected date Approximate area after The Group's
Location completion of completion Major usage site area  completion* interest
B EREME rEE
i B TIEE BARIAH TEAR HRAY BEHER Frib s
sq. ft. FER  sq.ft. FHR %

Hong Kong &%

292A-D Prince Edward Road West, In progress 2023 Residential 7,800 39,200 100
Homantin, Kowloon TRETH ZEZ=H =
NERAXBATER-BNLTZADH

5 Hang Lok Lane, Shatin In progress 2026 Residential 47,900 124,600 100

PHELEFRR IRETH —ToRE %

Fanling Sheung Shui Town Lot In progress 2026 Industrial 17,600 87,800 100
No. 245, On Kui Street, Fanling TRHETH i S N

BEZEENE LKTHEE AN+ AR

Mainland China F B & it:

REMEER Inprogress 2023102027  Residential and 1,131,800 2,714,500 9%
commercial
TR —Z-=FZ2 (EREH
i o3
*  Excluding carparks * TEEEHES
*  Excluding the floor areas of basements, carparks, public amenities and O TNBEREMTITE FES  AZEEREB
resettlement buildings BEZEEMmE
" The Group has 95% interest in the Medical Office buildings " ﬁ%ﬁﬁggiﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬁ’ﬁZﬂ‘f’ﬂ
E
** Net floor area is adopted for United Kingdom properties »* BRRBEYERAFEOEE
*  The Group has 50% interest in City Hub tOREEEAEREAG S 2 A TS

HIEREEERAR
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXEAWRS

The Board is committed to a high standard of corporate governance
practices and business ethics in the firm belief that they are essential
for promoting and maintaining investors’ confidence and maximising
shareholders’ returns. The Board reviews its corporate governance
practices from time to time in order to meet the rising expectations
of stakeholders, comply with regulatory requirements, and to fulfil its
commitment to excellence in corporate governance.

The Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
sets out: (a) the mandatory requirements for disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report; and (b) the principles of good corporate governance,
that is, the code provisions on a “comply or explain” basis and certain
recommended best practices. The Company is in compliance with the
code provisions of the CG Code except for the following deviation:

Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
person. The Chairman is responsible for overseeing the Board while the
Managing Director is responsible for managing the Group's businesses.
Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang serves as both the Chairman and Managing Director
of the Company. The Board believes that with Mr. Kuok's comprehensive
knowledge in the history of the various business segments, and his
extensive experience in the operation of the Group, vesting the roles of
both Chairman and Managing Director in Mr. Kuok provides the Company
with strong and consistent leadership and facilitates the implementation
and execution of the Group's business strategies which is in the best
interest of the Company.

THE BOARD

The Board is charged with providing effective and responsible leadership
for the Company. The Directors, individually and collectively, must act in
good faith and in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.
The Board sets the Group's overall objectives and strategies, monitors
and evaluates its operating and financial performance and reviews
the corporate governance standard of the Company. It also decides
on matters such as annual and interim results, notifiable transactions,
director appointments or re-appointments, and distribution of dividend
and accounting policies.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

The Company has taken out insurance against the liability and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Group. The insurance coverage will be
reviewed on an annual basis.

Where a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board which has been determined
by the Board to be material, the matter shall be dealt with by a physical
board meeting instead of a written resolution. Independent non-
executive directors who, and whose close associates, have no material
interest in the transaction should be present at that board meeting.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five Executive
Directors, one Non-Executive Director and four Independent Non-
Executive Directors as set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. KUOK Hoi Sang (Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. TAM Kwok Wing (Deputy Managing Director)

Mr. HO Chung Leung

Mr. MA Chi Wing

Miss Lily CHOW

Non-Executive Director
Mr. CHOW Vee Tsung, Oscar

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. YANG Chuen Liang, Charles
Professor POON Chung Kwong

Mr. Irons SZE

Mr. SUN Leland Li Hsun

Management profile of the Company is set out on pages 31 to 35.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other except that Mr. Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar,
Non-Executive Director of the Company is a brother of Miss Lily Chow,
an Executive Director of the Company.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

During the year, the Company received two written confirmations from
each of the Directors to update their biographical details and to disclose
the number and nature of offices held in the other public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments.

The Board meets at least four times a year. At least 14 days’ notice
is given to all Directors before each meeting and all Directors are
given an opportunity to include matters for discussion. An agenda and
accompanying board papers are sent in full to all Directors at least three
days before the intended date of a meeting. Management provides all
Directors with monthly updates giving a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Company’ performance, financial position and
prospects in sufficient detail to enable them to make informed decisions
and discharge their duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the
Listing Rules. The Chairman also encourages all Directors to voice their
concerns on each agenda item and allow sufficient time for all issues to
be discussed by Directors. The Company Secretary records the details of
matters considered, the concerns raised by the Board and the decisions
reached, and is responsible for keeping the minutes of Board meetings
or meetings of Board Committee. All minutes are open for inspection
at reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director. Draft minutes
of meetings and final versions of minutes are sent to Directors for their
comments and record, respectively, within a reasonable time after each
meeting. During the year under review, the Board held five meetings.

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. The Company also provides reading
materials and updates to the Directors on the latest developments and
changes to the Listing Rules, applicable laws and regulations relating to
directors’ duties and responsibilities.

During the year under review, the Company arranged a seminar titled
“Cyber Security” for the Directors. Directors’ training is an ongoing
process and all Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company’'s expenses. Directors have provided their
records of continuous professional development received to the
Company Secretary of the Company for records as appropriate.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED) BEEg (&)
The attendance of Directors at each meeting and training is set out in ZREEESEHLBIMEHERNT
the table below:
Meetings Attended/Held Attended
SELR/EBTRY seminars/
Received
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General reading
Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting materials
LEHHE/
Bz EExg ENZEE FMZEEE REZEE BREXE ERHEER
Executive Directors
HITEE
Mr. KUOK Hoi Sang (Chairman and Managing Director) 5/5 - 1" 1”1 1 v
DEELE (FREFEFHHLE)
Mr. TAM Kwok Wing (Deputy Managing Director) 5/5 - - - il v
BEREE (FEFHHLE)
Mr. HO Chung Leung 5/5 - - - il v
MRBTE
Mr. MA Chi Wing 5/5 - - - 11 v
Miss Lily CHOW 5/5 - - - 11 v
R NME
Non-Executive Director
FHTEE
Mr. CHOW Vee Tsung, Oscar 5/5 - - - il v
[ IELAE
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUFHITEE
Mr. YANG Chuen Liang, Charles 5/5 3/3 1" 1" il v
BEREE
Professor POON Chung Kwong 5/5 3/3 1 1" il v
Mr. Irons SZE 5/5 33 - - 17 v
HBERELE
Mr. SUN Leland Li Hsun 5/5 3/3 - - il v
vk b
During the year under review, the Chairman held a meeting with all EEFEN ERFEETIFNITEFET
Independent Non-Executive Directors without the presence of other T—REABEMESFHENSH -
Directors.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Independent non-executive directors play an important role in the board
by virtue of their independence and their diverse skill and experience.
Throughout the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company met at all
times the requirements of the Listing Rules to have at least three
independent non-executive directors or representing at least one-third
of the Board and with at least one independent non-executive director
possessing appropriate accounting and financial management expertise
and professional qualifications.

In respect of the re-election of an independent non-executive director
who has served more than nine years at the annual general meeting, the
re-election of such independent non-executive director will be subject
to a separate resolution to be approved by the shareholders at the
annual general meeting. The circular to shareholders will include their
biographical details, the reason why the Board considers that they are
still independent and should be re-elected.

The Company received from each of the Independent Non-Executive
Directors annual confirmation of independence in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board assessed their independence
and concluded that all the Independent Non-Executive Directors
are independent. The Company has identified its Independent Non-
Executive Directors as such in all its corporate communications to the
shareholders.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Board shall have power to appoint any person as a director either
to fill a vacancy or for expansion of the Board. The Company has set
up a Nomination Committee for formulating a nomination policy for
consideration by the Board and making recommendations to the Board
on the selection, appointment and re-appointment of directors. All
candidates must also meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and
3.09 of the Listing Rules. A candidate who is to be appointed as an
independent non-executive director should also meet the independence
criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Every newly appointed Director will receive a tailored induction on
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and full awareness of director's
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements.

In accordance with the Bye-Laws of the Company, all Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general
meetings of the Company. New directors appointed by the Board during
the year are required to retire and submit themselves for re-election at
the annual general meeting or general meeting immediately following
their appointments. Further, at each annual general meeting, one-third
of the Directors, or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one-third are required to retire
from office by rotation and a Director shall retire at no later than the
third annual general meeting since such Director’s last re-election or
appointment.

Messrs. Ho Chung Leung, Ma Chi Wing, Yang Chuen Liang, Charles
and Irons Sze shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on Monday, 28 August
2023 (the "AGM") in accordance with the Bye-Laws of the Company.
Mr. Yang Chuen Liang, Charles, has informed the Company that he
would not offer himself for re-election and accordingly will retire
as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company after the
conclusion of the AGM. Save for Mr. Yang, the other retiring directors,
being eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has four Board Committees, namely Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Executive
Committee and all of them report to the Board.

Written terms of reference, which describe the authority and duties
of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee, have been adopted and posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange, and are regularly reviewed and
updated by the Board. The Directors and each Committee have access
to the advice of the management and Company Secretary, and they
may also able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is responsible for, among others, reviewing
the nature and scope of audit performed by external auditors and
their appointments, reviewing the Group's financial information and
overseeing the Group's financial reporting system, risk management and
internal control systems, and reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness
of the internal audit function. It is also responsible for reviewing the
interim and final results of the Group prior to recommending them to the
Board for approval. Mr. Yang Chuen Liang, Charles, Independent Non-
Executive Director, is the chairman of the committee. He has extensive
experience in financial reporting and controls. Other members include
the remaining Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Professor
Poon Chung Kwong, Mr. Irons Sze and Mr. Sun Leland Li Hsun.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended 31
March 2023. During the year, they reviewed with the management the
whistle-blower policy the accounting policies and practices adopted by
the Group, and discussed the auditing, financial reporting, as well as the
risk management, internal control systems and the financial reporting
matters including the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial
statements for the six months ended 30 September 2022, and reviewed
the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2023 at the Audit Committee meeting held on 23 June 2023.
They also reviewed and approved the engagement of external auditors
for providing non-audit services, the remuneration in respect of audit
and non-audit services provided by external auditors, risk management
and internal control systems and the effectiveness of the internal audit
function.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board based on the Company's policy and
structure on the remuneration for all Directors of the Company, and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy for approval by the Board. The Remuneration
Committee has adopted the operation model where it has the
responsibility, powers and discretion to determine, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual Executive
Directors and senior management, and makes recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee currently comprises two Independent Non-
Executive Directors, namely Professor Poon Chung Kwong (chairman of
the committee) and Mr. Yang Chuen Liang, Charles; and one Executive
Director, namely Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

The Remuneration Committee held a meeting during the year ended 31
March 2023 to review the remuneration packages paid to Directors for
the year ended 31 March 2023. Details of Directors’ emoluments and
five highest pay individuals are set out in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession planning
for directors, in particular the chairman and the managing director. The
Nomination Committee has the responsibility to consider and identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members, and select or
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships. The Nomination Committee discusses and
reviews annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and
agrees on measurable objectives for achieving diversity of the Board
and makes relevant recommendations to the Board for adoption with
reference to the Board Diversity Policy of the Company. The Nomination
Committee currently comprises one Executive Director, namely Mr.
Kuok Hoi Sang (chairman of the committee) and two Independent Non-
Executive Directors, namely Professor Poon Chung Kwong and Mr.
Yang Chuen Liang, Charles.

The Nomination Committee held a meeting during the year ended 31
March 2023 to review the structure, size and composition of the Board,
assess the independence of the Independent Non-Executive Directors,
recommend the re-election of retiring directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy in August 2017. The aim of
this policy is to set out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board
of Directors. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of
diversity of the Board. The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree
annually measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board
and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

The Company aims to build and maintain a Board with diversity
with respect to skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture,
independence, age, gender, race and length of services. The Nomination
Committee will monitor the implementation of the policy from time to
time with a view to enhancing the Board’'s performance. The Nomination
Committee will review the policy periodically and amend it as appropriate
to ensure its continued effectiveness. The Nomination Committee
will discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any
proposed changes to the Board for consideration and approval.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (CONTINUED)

During the reporting year, 10% of Directors of the Company and
near 40% of total workforce of the Group were female. Maintaining
gender diversity remains a challenge to the Group, especially for
the construction and engineering segment. The Group reviews its
compensation and benefits programmes regularly to ensure that its
compensation and benefits packages remain competitive.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a Nomination Policy in November 2018. The aim
of this policy is to assist the Nomination Committee in identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select and
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
for directorship, for the appointment or re-appointment of directors
and succession planning for directors, in particular the chairman and
the managing director. The Nomination Committee shall consider the
following criteria in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

Essence: The proposed candidate shall possess high ethical
standards, good character, and act with integrity.

Availability: The proposed candidate should be able to devote time
to understand the affairs of the Company in order to enable him/her
to make value-added contributions to the Board.

Qualification, expertise and experience: The proposed candidate
shall have ascertained qualification, expertise and experience in
an area of business or public affairs in line with the Company's
corporate strategy.

Diversity: The diversity of the Board will be considered including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, race,
skills, knowledge, religion, industry and professional experience and
length of service in accordance with the Board Diversity Policy of
the Company.

Additional criteria are required for assessing the independence of the
proposed independent non-executive director as appropriate:

Independence: comply with the independence requirements set
under the Listing Rules.

Time commitment: ensure that sufficient time can be devoted to
discharge the duties/responsibilities as independent non-executive
directors. For independent non-executive directors who hold
directorships in seven or more listed companies, the Board will need
to be satisfied that the proposed candidate can devote sufficient
time to the Board. The Nomination Committee will consider the
following factors which can affect the individual's time commitment
to the Company:

1. whether at the time of nomination the Company is undergoing a
period of particularly increased activity, such as an acquisition or
takeover;

2. the frequency of having to chair the Board and/or the
committee(s);

3. being multiple members of committees;
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NOMINATION POLICY (CONTINUED)

4. whether the candidate is a chief executive officer or full-time
executive director of another listed issuer; and

5. whether the candidate is an independent non-executive director
for multiple boards and the number of significant commitments
at government or non-profit making bodies.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for re-election at any general
meeting. This policy shall be reviewed on a continuous basis and, when
necessary, can be revised by the Board from time to time.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for
implementing business strategies and managing the daily operations of
the Group's business to an Executive Committee which was established
in 1991. Written terms of reference, which describe the authority
and duties of the Executive Committee, have been adopted and are
regularly reviewed and updated by the Board. The terms of reference
of the Executive Committee were revised on 25 March 2021 so as to
strengthen governance function as stipulated in the CG Code. Members
of the Executive Committee comprise five Executive Directors, namely
Messrs. Kuok Hoi Sang (chairman of the committee), Tam Kwok Wing,
Ho Chung Leung, Ma Chi Wing and Miss Lily Chow.

The principal corporate governance functions of the Executive
Committee is to assist the Board and the Chairman in developing,
reviewing and monitoring the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance on assurance the compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, reviewing and monitoring of training and code
of conduct applicable to employees and Directors, and also reviewing
the Company's compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and
extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group's strategic
objectives, and ensuring that the Group establishes and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems
and reviewing their effectiveness on an ongoing basis. The Board is also
responsible for overseeing the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems. The risk management
and internal control systems are designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss, and to
manage, rather than eliminate, risks of failure in operating systems or in
achievement of the Group's business objectives.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducts a review of the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control
systems, which covers all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, on an annual basis. It also
considers the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Group's accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting function. Significant issues in the
management letters from both internal and external auditors will be
brought to the attention of the Audit Committee to ensure that prompt
remedial action is taken. All recommendations will be properly followed
up to ensure they are implemented within a reasonable period of time.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Under the enterprise risk management framework, policies and
procedures are in place to identify, assess, manage, control and report
risks. Such risks include strategic, credit, operational (administrative
system, human resources, tangible assets and reputation), market,
liquidity, legal and regulatory risks. Exposure to these risks is
continuously monitored by the Board through the Audit Committee.

The internal control system includes a defined management structure
with specified limits of authority. The Board has clearly defined the
authorities and key responsibilities of each division to ensure adequate
checks and balances. The internal control system has been designed to
safeguard the Group's assets against unauthorised use or disposition,
to ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records for producing
reliable financial information; and to ensure compliance with applicable
laws, regulations and industry standard.

During the year under review, there were no major issue but areas for
improvement have been identified by the Audit Committee and both
the internal and external auditors have taken appropriate measures for
improvement. The Board is of the view that the risk management and
internal control systems in place for the year and up to the date of
issuance of the annual report is effective and adequate.

The Company’s Internal Audit Department monitors the Group's internal
governance and strives to provide objective assurance to the Board
that appropriate, adequate and effective risk management and internal
control systems are in place. It has unrestricted access to review all
aspects of the Group's activities and internal controls. It also conducts
special audits of areas of concern identified by management or the
Audit Committee. The Internal Audit Department adopts a risk-based
audit approach. It conducts independent risk assessment, at least on
an annual basis, to determine all key risk have been properly identified
and assessed in accordance with the Risk Management Policy and
Procedure, as well as the existing risk control and treatment measures
are effective. All audit reports are circulated to the Audit Committee and
key management. The Internal Audit Department is also responsible for
following up the implementation of recommendations and corrective
actions.

The Board has in place a Whistle-Blower Policy for employees, and
those who deal with the Company such as the Company's customers
and suppliers, to raise concerns in confidence regarding possible
improprieties within and in any matter relating to the Group. The Board
has also developed the Anti-Corruption, Business Gift and Entertainment
Policy to implement anti-corruption practices and to carry out the
Company’s business fairly with honesty and integrity.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and
of the Group's financial performance and cash flows. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements, the Directors have adopted generally
accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong and suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made judgments and estimates
that are fair and reasonable and prepared the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. The Auditor of the Company
acknowledge their reporting responsibilities in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2023 as set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 89
to 98.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION AND AUDITOR RELATED MATTERS
For the year ended 31 March 2023, the fees paid/payable to the auditors
in respect of the audit and non-audit services provided by the auditors
to the Group were as follows:

Nature of services

AR E

Audit services -

ZBUR 7

PricewaterhouseCoopers and other firms of the
worldwide network of PricewaterhouseCoopers

ESENRHAEGESMBHRRMN
BfE
EFNENFRAAARUEBE_T_=
FZA=+T-"HBLFEKAMBHmE "
NEE R AT R R A KB 2 B AR0R
AEAEBEZMBREARBESRE -
HEAMBHRRE EZCRMALFE
EREEARGHERNREE 2G5
BEHRFRAEZHE R LR
SERKEEERUGEVBRR AR
AZREMERREAARRFABE_Z
T=HEZA=T-HLEFEGREUBR
RIB AR BED IR H) BB WA E N F89
BEEBEMBYZEMBRET -

REMMNERZEMERER

BE_Z _=ZF=A=+—HITHF
EA BASEZEEMBER 2 ZEKIE
ZERBEE N, NS EnT

Amount (HK$'000)
SHE(BET )

7,582

EEBUOKBE AR EH AT LA BN ERRUKERR

WHEPEBA
— other auditors
H b iz ERD

Non-audit services -

I BIRTS

PricewaterhouseCoopers and other firms of the
worldwide network of PricewaterhouseCoopers

10,025

687

EEBUOKBE AR EH AT LA BN ERRKERIR

WHEPEBA
— other auditors

H 4% BAm

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuer (the “Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules. Following a specific enquiry of all Directors, each of
the Directors confirmed that he/she has complied with the Model Code
throughout the year.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the Company, who
reports to the Chairman and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s
affairs. During the year under review, the Company Secretary had duly
complied with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening a special general meeting

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary,
to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. The requisition
must be signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposited at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

The meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) themselves, or
any of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights
of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
said date.

Putting enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company Secretary and deposit the same at
the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong or by e-mail to
ccd_enquiry@chevalier.com.

Putting forward proposals at general meeting

Shareholders can submit a written requisition to move a resolution at
the general meeting. The number of shareholders shall represent not
less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all the shareholders
having at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the general
meeting, or shall not be less than one hundred shareholders.

The written requisition must state the resolution, accompanied by
a statement with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at the general meeting.
It must also be signed by all of the shareholders concerned and be
deposited at Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Company Secretary.

The shareholders concerned must deposit a sum of money reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’'s expenses in giving the notice of the
resolution and circulating the statement submitted by the shareholders
concerned under applicable laws and rules.

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a person
for election as a director is posted on the website of the Company.
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INVESTOR AND SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The Company recognises the importance of transparency and timely
disclosure of corporate information, which enables shareholders to make
the most informed investment decisions. To ensure an ongoing dialogue
with shareholders and investors, the Board has in place Shareholders’
Communication Policy setting out a various channels of communication,
with the objective to maintain close communications with shareholders
and investors. The Policy is posted on the Company's website and
subject to regular review by the Board in order to ensure that the policy
remains effective.

The Company provides extensive information of the Group to its
shareholders and the public through the publication of interim and
annual reports, circulars, notices and announcements. Information
released by the Company to the website of the Stock Exchange is
also posted on the Company's website at http://www.chevalier.com.
The Company's website offers timely corporate announcements, press
releases and other business information.

The Board welcomes the views of shareholders on matters affecting
the Group and encourages them to attend shareholders’ meetings to
communicate any concerns they might have and provide comments and
suggestions to the Board directly. The general meetings of the Company
provide the best opportunity for exchange of views between the Board
and shareholders. The Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the
Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees or, in their absence,
other members of the respective committees, and where applicable,
the independent board committee and auditor, are available to answer
questions at general meeting. Separate resolutions are proposed
at general meetings on each substantially separate issue, including
the re-election of individual Directors. All resolutions put forward at
general meetings will be voted on by poll and details of the poll voting
procedures will be explained to shareholders at general meetings. The
poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy in November 2018 in accordance
with the applicable laws and regulations as well as the Bye-Laws of
the Company. The aim of this policy is to establish the parameters for
the Board of the Company when they make decision on the declaration
or recommendation of the dividend. It also allows shareholders of the
Company to participate in the Company's profits whilst preserving the
Company’s liquidity to capture future growth opportunities. This policy
shall be reviewed on continuous basis, and when necessary, and can be
revised by the Board from time to time.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Amended and Restated Bye-Laws of the Company was adopted by
a special resolution at the Annual General Meeting held on 31 August
2022. Details of the amendments are set out in the circular of the
Company dated 26 July 2022. The latest version of the Memorandum
of Association and Amended and Restated Bye-Laws of the Company is
available on websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") Report (“Report”)
is prepared by the Group. Unless otherwise stated, the information and
data contained in this Report cover the period from 1 April 2022 to 31
March 2023. The Group has varied business operations in Hong Kong
and other countries. Due to the differences in reporting standards across
regions and given our main operations remain in Hong Kong, this Report
only covers our subsidiaries” operations in Hong Kong.

Sustainability is essential to the Group's development, as well as for the
overall viability of our business and for the benefit of the community.
The Board is responsible for setting the overall objectives and strategies
of the Group, overseeing the ESG issues, while monitoring and
evaluating its operating and financial performance, and reviewing its
corporate governance standards. The Board delegated its power to
oversee, review and monitor the Group's ESG policies and practices to
the Executive Committee and the Executive Committee ensures that
relevant information is in compliance with the ESG Reporting Guide
provided in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the "Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange"”) and makes recommendations to the Board on
significant decisions and findings.

In order to prepare well for the compliance of climate-related
disclosures under the Listing Rules which will come into effect in 2025,
we have engaged an external ESG consultancy team to identify the
climate risks and opportunities relevant to our Group and are currently
conducting a materiality assessment exercise to identify and prepare
for the mitigation strategies of any identified climate-related physical
and transition risks. The climate-related disclosures are based on
the recommendations from Task Force on Climate-Related Financial
Disclosed (TCFD) which is a global sustainability reporting standards
developed by International Sustainability Standard Board (ISSB).

During the year under review, the Group committed itself to a high
standard of corporate social responsibility and strictly complied with
relevant laws and regulations reporting. This Report is prepared in
accordance with the four principles as set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide of the Listing Rules:

(i) Materiality: The Group communicated with various stakeholders
to identify material issues, please refer to the

“Stakeholders Engagement” for more details;

(i) Quantitative: The raw data used for formulating the KPlIs are

sourced from the statistics of relevant departments;

(iii) Balance: This Report is prepared in an impartial and equitable

manner to present our performanoe; and

(iv) Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the Group adopted
consistent methodologies for disclosure of
information and data. And there were no significant
changes in the boundaries of reporting compared to

the last reporting year.
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group believes that communication with its stakeholders helps
the Group gain a better understanding of their needs, expectations and
concerns which in turn enables us to attain sustainable development in
economic, environmental and social terms. The table below shows how
we communicate with our key stakeholders.

FHESH

AEBEREGE BERONEBRBEIRAE
SEBHMTRESHNT R HELH
o MERMERLE RRELHLEHTE
ERAFKEER - TRINBRMETE

rhENBBTA -

Stakeholders Needs, expectations and concerns Communication channels
BHE =R BEREE BERE
Shareholders and investors e Return on investments e Company website
RERRIEEE KE DR NGRS
e  Corporate strategy and e Interim and annual reports
governance RHRFERS
TPERBEER e Annual general meeting
BRERBFRE
e Announcements, notices of meetings, circulars
NE - GRBE B
° Somal media platforms
;l Em N ZA
Employees e Compensation and benefits ° Employee activities
BE e K e A EEEH
e  (Career development opportunities e  Corporate newsletter, email updates, and intranet
BEER#G T BEER R R A E
e Qccupational health and safety e |n-house training programmes
BERERELZS RES=ElRE
e Job performance reviews and appraisals
TERB Tz KA
e Regular meetings/training sessions
THgE IEIIRE
e  Social media platforms
HREBFE
Sub-contractors e Effective project management e Training sessions
SEE BREIE R B EAIERIR
e QOccupational health and safety e Health, safety and environment committee
BEREEERT D BE 22 RREEESY
e  Ethical business practices e  Regular operation meetings
RFEBEER EHEEGH
e Sub-contractors assessment e Audits and assessments
criteria Fiz LA
B R IR % e Social media platforms
Zis&ﬁ Bra
Suppliers e Long-term relationship e  Procurement processes
HEm REIEERA(R HEEmE
e  Ethical business practices e Regular review and assessment
FXBEEEER JE B B Se RT A
e Supplier assessment criteria e  Social media platforms
L\J‘&Fﬁpﬂﬁh Zixﬁ% %_u‘\
General public and community e  Environmental issues o Company website
NS Ead RiE S UNEIF S
° Communlty participation e \olunteer community work
a2 HITHERB
e Sponsorships and donations
EB) R B
° Social media platforms
;l Eﬁﬂ N7 L\
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MATERIALITY ANALYSIS

During the year, the Group collected the opinion of internal and external
stakeholders (including Directors, employees, suppliers, sub-contractors,
customers and business partners) through an online questionnaire. We
identified 19 ESG issues specific to the actual business situations of
the Group, with reference to the ESG Reporting Guide of the Listing
Rules. Then, we integrated and analysed the results from the online
questionnaire and ranked the selected ESG issues according to the
overall importance to the Group. The materiality analysis will assist the
Group to better plan for ESG related matters.

Materiality Matrix

High &

PR D ENEEN

7]
(=]

o

O
o)
%o o
O
@8

Importance to Internal Stakeholders

HABIBAENEEN

Importance to External Stakeholders

,_
)
g
=

Corporate Governance
1 Strategy for environmental, social and governance goals and

performance

2 Measures for anti-money laundering and anti-corruption

3 Protection of company confidential information, intellectual property
and data privacy security
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MATERIALITY ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Materiality Matrix (continued)

Environmental Protection

4 Management and control of greenhouse gases and emissions of air
pollutant

5 Measures for waste disposal and reduction

6 Energy consumption and measures to improve energy efficiency

7  Water consumption and measures for water conservation

8 Green building construction and facilities investment

9 Combating climate change and its impacts

Operating Practices
10 Impact of the supply chain on the environment

11 Environmental considerations when procuring goods and services
12 Customer service quality and procedures for handling complaints

Employment
13 Employee compensation and benefits

14 Diversified and professional training and development plans

15 Occupational health and safety management measures to provide a
safe and healthy working environment to all employees

16 Diversity and equal opportunities
17 Talent attraction and retention

Community Investment

18 Participate in or organise community services to promote social
development

19 Sponsor academic and cultural activities to cultivate young talents

With reference to the materiality matrix, among the 19 materiality
issues, five were identified as material this year by our stakeholders and
Directors, including intellectual property and data protection, measures
for anti-money laundering and anti-corruption, employee compensation
and benefits, occupational health and safety management measures,
and talent attraction and retention. Material issues have been escalated
to the Executive Committee for review and confirmation.
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(A) SOCIAL
Employment and Labour Practices
Employment and Labour Standards

To attract, develop and retain qualified employees, the Group offers
professional development opportunities and a healthy working
environment for all employees. In addition, we have implemented
equal opportunity employment practices.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a total of approximately 3,600
full-time employees globally. Below is an analysis of the Group's
Hong Kong workforce by employment type, gender and age group,

and employee turnover rate by gender and age group.

BRI ERELARS

(A) #&
EEREIER
EERLITER
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Workforce by employment type, gender and age group
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(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)

Employment and Labour Standards (continued)

Maintaining gender diversity is a challenge to the Group, especially
for the construction and engineering segment. During the year, male
employees make up over 65% of the total workforce. The highest
turnover rate of employees falls in the age category of 30 or below
who have all left at their own accord.

The Group reviews its compensation and benefits programmes
regularly to ensure that its compensation and benefits packages
remain competitive. In addition, the Group continues to conduct
annual review of its pay and benefits packages including its medical
scheme, health check programmes, travel insurance, training
subsidies and retirement benefits to align them with prevailing
offers in the market. We also established the annual Long Service
Award and Retirement Award to recognise and express appreciation
to long-serving employees for their valuable contributions. We
understand the importance of achieving work-life balance. The
Chevalier Staff Recreation Centre provides employees with a place
to rest, relax and socialise, and the lactation room provides a
comfortable and private environment for working mothers to express
and store milk for their babies. During the year under review,
the Group has organised various interest classes and workshops
to facilitate our employees’ sense of belonging. To strengthen
communication with our employees, we also share the latest
information of the Group on the company website, social media
platforms, and regularly distribute corporate newsletters and emails
to all employees.

The Group advocates a community spirit that thrives on mutual
respect and equal opportunities. The Group complies strictly to equal
opportunities legislation, such as the Sex Discrimination Ordinance,
Race Discrimination Ordinance, Disability Discrimination Ordinance
and Family Status Discrimination Ordinance. To ensure diversity and
equality, we recruit, remunerate and promote employees based on their
experience, skills and performance, without prejudice to age, race,
disability, gender or family status. We promote workplace diversity
and convey anti-discrimination messages to all employees in the
Human Resources Policies and orientation handbook. The Group has
also pledged to adopt the “Code of Practice against Discrimination in
Employment on the Ground of Sexual Orientation” to oppose any form
of sexual orientation discrimination. In addition, the Group is strongly
committed to compliance with relevant laws and regulations, verifying
candidates’ identity documents during the recruitment process, prohibit
the employment of any child or forced labour.

The Group upholds high standards of business ethics and promotes
good personal conduct of its employees. Our Human Resources
Policies and Procedures Manual covers the Personal Conduct and Staff
Conduct Code, which has been published on intranet of the Company
to ensure that our staff members is well aware of the Policy.
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(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)

Health and Safety

The Group is committed to providing a safe and healthy working
environment to all employees and strongly abides by relevant laws
and regulations. We regularly monitor our workplace hygiene and
staff facilities. To ensure a high standard of occupational safety, the
Group has stringent guidelines for employees who are assigned to
work on construction sites to minimise and prevent exposure to
occupational hazards. Safety and health care trainings are provided
from time to time to newcomers and relevant personnel at our
construction sites so as to enhance their awareness of safety in
a working environment. Moreover, we offer, and it is mandatory
for our colleagues on sites to use, special personal protection
equipment such as safety helmets, ear plugs, dust masks, goggles
and safety shoes.

When the COVID-19 pandemic public health measures were in
place, the Group had a series of preventive measures to protect the
health and safety of employees. Notwithstanding, the lifting of all
such public health measures, the Group still provides free masks,
hand sanitizers and rapid antigen test kits to those employees in
need.

Occupational Health and Safety Committee

Our property management division has obtained the OHSAS 18001
recognition for its compliance with occupational health and safety
requirements since 2006. We have also obtained the ISO 45001
accreditation starting from 2020 which recognises the standard of
our safety requirements not only for our staff, but also including for
our contractors. Requirement of risk assessment to be conducted
before commencement of work is added in the tender documents
to minimise the risk of injury. Head office and selected sites are
audited periodically by the British Standards Institution for renewal
of the certificates. We have a Safety Committee which consists
of property management staff members from head office and site
level operation staff which formulates site safety measures and
policies. Regular meetings are scheduled every three months for
post-implementation review of audited sites, as well as information
exchange on accidents or injuries that can be taken for other sites to
follow. In addition, our property management division endeavours to
promote various sponsorship schemes held by Occupational Safety
& Health Council to enhance the personal protective equipment
and safety at work for front line staff and aims to reduce the risk of
injury.
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(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)

Health and Safety (continued)

Site Safety Subgroup

Our construction and engineering colleagues ensure site safety
inspections are carried out on a regular basis and any finding of
major breaches and unsafe condition are rectified promptly. The
site safety subgroup comprising representatives from our project
companies and subcontractors, held operation meetings frequently.
We are committed to ensuring construction site safety of everyone.
During the year under review, no work related fatalities was
recorded.

Occupational Health and Safety
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case(s) case(s) case(s)
R % R % R %
Total numbers of work
related fatalities 0 0 0 1 0
HMTIEBBRT
EESE
case(s) day(s) casel(s) day(s) casel(s) day(s)
= H = = = =]
Lost days due to
work injury 43 4,062.5 27 2,810.0 39 3,216.5
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During the year, a “"Moment of Silence” was held at various
construction and engineering sites of the Group with the aims of
raising safety awareness of various stakeholders and reminding
frontline workers to pay attention to safety. In addition, our
construction and engineering division received a number of
awards at the “21st Hong Kong Occupational Safety and Health
Award” organised by the Occupational Safety and Health Council.
The awards affirm our commitment to work safety which is well
demonstrated by everyone in our project teams, from management
to frontline workers.

In line with the development of construction technology, our building
construction division has been, as early as in 2018, actively explored
the application of the Modular Integrated Construction (MiC)
technology, and has built a strong Building Information Modelling
(BIM) team. Using digital technology to simulate and display building
models, it improves operational efficiency and provide efficient
support for the daily operation and safety management of projects.
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(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)

Development and Training

The Group recognises that the knowledge and skills of our
employees are vital to the Group's business development and
success, we, therefore, encourage our employees to pursue
further with their professional development. The Group nominates
employees to attend appropriate internal and external training
programmes from time to time. Our training programmes also range
from professional and technical training to personal development
skills. The Group also provides education subsidies for employees
who pursue further education related to their job duties to
encourage employee to further develop their skills and broaden their
knowledge.

To continuously attract new talents, the Group has also since the
1990s organised apprenticeship programmes to provide young
people with on-the-job training and employment opportunity in the
construction industry. So far over 450 apprentices have undertaken
the Group's apprenticeship, covering building construction, quantity
surveying, building services, land surveying and the like. During the
year, we also organised an “Apprenticeship Seminar” to provide an
opportunity for the current apprentices to learn from the sharing of
their predecessors.

We believe that employees are always the most valuable assets
of the Company, and the Group is keen on recruiting outstanding
talents. The Group joined various recruitment activities during the
year, including Career Fairs organised by Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology, Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
Hong Kong Metropolitan University, the Career Expo organised by
the Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community Organisations
Limited and participated in the “Contractors Sponsorship Scheme
Recruitment Talk” organised by the Hong Kong Institute of
Construction. We used these various opportunities to reinforce job
seekers’ and fresh graduates’ understanding and knowledge of the
Group.
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(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED) (A) & (&)
Employment and Labour Practices (continued) BREREIER (&)
Development and Training (continued) BRRIEI (F)
Percentage of employees trained Percentage of employees trained
by gender by employee category
RUEMNESNZIERETS L REEEREAINIINEETDL

Male Female Managerial Supervisory
) T gt ) iy b §2
) General/QOperational Staff
—fRRIEET

Average training hours completed per employee by gender

EHRE D BREERTAIIN IR

Unit 2023

B —F-=
Male 55 1% hours /] 6.17
Female Z 1% hours /JNEF 3.95

Average training hours completed per employee by employee category

ZREEERNE D BREETRI N IR

Unit 2023
BA —T=F
Managerial
4T 3 4 hours /J\ 7.26
Supervisory
TER hours /B 5.89
General/Operational Staff "
_F.&/T'%MEEI hours /J\Hﬂ' 5.33
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(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Operating Practices

Supply Chain Management

The Group carefully selects qualified suppliers and subcontractors
to ensure that the entire production process is in line with our
standards and rules. We not only require our new suppliers or
subcontractors to submit all relevant documents for review, we will
also stipulate in the tender documents that the project must undergo
a risk assessment to minimise the risk of accidents. We regularly
carry out inspections, reviews and assessments of their ability and
quality, as well as the environmental and occupational safety and
health management systems. When necessary, the department
heads will arrange a face-to-face interview. If they are not eligible,
the supplier or subcontractors will be removed from the approved
list to ensure that our list of approved suppliers and subcontractors
are capable of performing at a satisfactory level.

The Group upholds fair operating practices in its relationship
with suppliers and subcontractors through efficient procurement
system. We have also adopted systems for competitive tendering
and for suppliers’ and subcontractors’ performance monitoring
and reporting. The Group conducts regular reviews of the terms
and conditions of supply contracts and subcontracts between the
Group and our suppliers and subcontractors which enables the
development of effective and strong partnerships. Such reviews
cover the potential enhancement of social, ethical, environmental
and gender equality criteria in supply contracts and subcontracts.
As part of our daily operation, we encourage the sourcing of
environmentally friendly products and promote eco-friendly practices
to the entire supply chain.

Product Responsibility

The Group recognises that good customer and after-sales services
are keys to the long-term success of the Group. In order to cater for
prompt response in meeting with the needs of our customers, the
Group has set up customer service teams for its different business
units to handle customers’ queries efficiently.

The Group respects the privacy of personal data and has developed
policies on the collection and usage of personal data. Review and
revision of the personal data and privacy policy are carried out to
ensure its effectiveness and compliance with relevant laws. During
the year, the Legal department of the Group provided relevant
personal data protection training for our employees.
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(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Operating Practices (continued)

Product Responsibility (continued)

Since the Group is a customer-focused organisation, its
environmental engineering division and cold storage and logistics
division commit to making every effort to achieve customer
satisfaction through continual improvement of our quality
management system in accordance with the requirements of ISO
9001:2015. The environmental engineering division has a quality
policy statement which serves as a guideline to its team. The cold
storage and logistics division has been implementing stringent
receiving disinfection procedures, which have been recognised by
the Government and the industry sector.

Our freight logistics division provides the highest standard of cold
chain logistic services to meet customers’ stringent requirements.
It is the first Hong Kong based global logistics service provider to
be awarded the Centre of Excellence for Independent Validators
in Pharmaceutical Logistics (CEIV Pharma), accredited by the
International Air Transport Association (IATA).

For our property management division, the Group discusses issues
with supervisors and members of the Safety Committee, and
regularly provides updates to supervisors and/or person-in-charge
for maintaining the recognition of ISO 9001, ISO 14001, OHSAS
18001/ISO 45001 or to fulfil statutory requirements. The Group also
reminds supervisors to regularly review existing contractors’ terms
and take necessary precautionary measures whenever applicable.

Customers’ needs and satisfaction have always been the priorities
of the Group. Our information technology related businesses provide
comprehensive order processing, fulfilment and back office services
to consumers. Our customer service centre provides a wide range
of information and assistance to answer customers’ inquiries and to
offer repair and maintenance services to consumers.

Intellectual property rights are our Company's vital assets, as
such, we have exercised our utmost endeavours to safeguard our
intellectual property rights and interests. The Group has also in place
certain procedures and safeguards, such as a Data Protection Policy,
to protect customers’ information from unauthorised access, usage
and leakage and to maintain their privacy. In addition, all employees
must respect copyrighted work, the Group is strongly committed to
compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
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(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Operating Practices (continued)

Anti-Corruption

The Group has in place a series of corporate governance policies
which ensure that the Group has a sound corporate governance
system. Anti-corruption, business gifts and entertainment, conflict
of interest and data protection are some of the areas covered.
The corporate governance policies assure the adoption of standard
procedures across the Group and provides guidelines, and the anti-
corruption, business gifts and entertainment policy spells out the
Group's position in relation to these issues clearly. The Group has
a whistle-blower policy to provide channels for employees to raise
concerns and define a way to handle these concerns. All reports
are confidential to protect employees from retaliation. In addition,
the Group works with Independent Commission Against Corruption
to conduct seminars for staff members taking into consideration
the nature of and the different needs of our various business units.
Relevant information was also arranged for the Board to update and
improve the standard of business ethics. Our new staff orientation
training also contain the topics of anti-corruption and such policies
are also made available to staff members in the course of their
execution of duties. During the year under review, no cases of
corruption were reported within the Group.

Community

Community Investment

The Chevalier Group has remained steadfast in its commitment
to promoting corporate social responsibility and serving the
community. We actively engage in a range of community services,
charitable sponsorships, educational programmes, cultural and
sports activities, and environmental protection initiatives. Moreover,
we encourage our devoted staff members to join our volunteer team
and help spread kindness throughout the community.

Our dedication and efforts in supporting the community have
garnered recognitions. We received the 10 Years Plus Caring
Company Logo awarded by the Hong Kong Council of Social
Service. This year, our ongoing efforts in volunteer work were also
recognised with a Certificate of Appreciation in the Hong Kong
Volunteer Award 2022, representing a contribution of over 500
volunteer hours. These honourable acknowledgements serve as
evidence of our dedication to building a caring community.

In response to the Hong Kong Red Cross's appeal for blood donation
to replenish inventories for patients in need, we partnered with
them to organise the annual Chevalier Blood Donation Day. This
highlights our dedication to supporting critical healthcare needs.
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(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Community (continued)

Community Investment (continued)

Education and Culture

At the Chevalier Group, we believe that educational and cultural
development paves the way for a vibrant and prosperous society.
We are committed to nurturing talents, protecting history, and
contributing to the enrichment of our community’s cultural
landscape.

The Chevalier Group places a high importance on education.
In 1998, the Group formed the Chevalier Culture & Education
Foundation with the aim of promoting cultural, academic, and
educational exchanges between Hong Kong and other nations as
a way to support this commitment. The “Chevalier Scholarship
Scheme for Employees’ Children” was established in 2008
to support the children of the Group's employees in pursuing
undergraduate studies locally in Hong Kong or in overseas
universities, and to encourage them to develop their full potential.
Since its establishment, a total of 20 employees’ children have
benefitted from the scheme to pursue their university studies
to date. Meanwhile, we strive to nurture young talent within
the construction industry, which led to the establishment of the
Chevalier Group Scholarship for full-time students in the Engineering
Discipline of the Vocational Training Council since 2018. During the
review period, 40 outstanding engineering students have been
awarded the Scholarship totalling HK$1 million in recognition of their
exceptional academic performance and dedication to advancing their
professional knowledge. To date, 160 students have benefited from
this scholarship programme. We also gladly pledged our support to
the Pitch Perfect Programme of the Young Executives Club of the
Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce for the second vyear.
Through training sessions, corporate visits and mentorships, this
programme equipped undergraduate students with useful skills for
future careers.

Our unwavering commitment to promoting the growth of local
arts and culture is a testament to our support for the creative
community. As a Platinum Sponsor of Opera Hong Kong, we actively
contribute to the growth and advancement of performing arts. The
Group also supports the Hong Kong Chronicles Institute in their
compilation and publication of Hong Kong Chronicles, which is a
significant project recording the historical, economic, cultural, social,
and geographical development of Hong Kong since ancient times,
preserving the rich heritage and traditions of our city.
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(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Community (continued)

Community Investment (continued)

Sports and Environment

The Group is a long-time patron of the Hong Kong Jockey Club’s
Chevalier Cup Race Day and has sponsored the event for 27
consecutive years.

As all gradually returned to normal following the lifting of pandemic
measures, the Chevalier Group has increased its participation in
charitable sports events in the review period. To help those in need,
we have sponsored 130 staff and their families to participate in the
New Territories Walk For Millions 2022/23 to raise funds for family
and child welfare services provided by the Community Chest. We
also actively supported various community sports initiatives such
as Lifewire Run 2022, Construction Industry Happy Run, and 'Hear
with You" charity walk. Through taking part in these activities, we
engage with the community, promote wellness, and contribute to
charitable causes, demonstrating our continued commitment to
social responsibility.

In line with our commitment to sustainability, the Group remains
a Silver member of the WWFHong Kong Corporate Membership
Programme 2022-2023. In addition, we announced the Group's first
green loan facility with the Bank of East Asia, Limited. This green
finance of HK$50 million supports the Hong Kong Housing Society
Elderly’'s Home Project at Jat Min Chuen Chung Yuet Lau, which
has a lower carbon footprint as a result of its adoption of the MiC
construction method, thus contributing to a green environment.

Volunteering

The Group has nonetheless continued to make good its promise to
contribute to society through multiple channels and forms. During
the year, the Group carried out various volunteer service activities
to help the underprivileged and to diligently build an even more
harmonious and inclusive society. The Group's corporate volunteer
team, Chevalier Cares, organised various volunteer activities and
worked closely with different non-profit organisations namely
Evangelical Lutheran Church of Hong Kong, Hong Kong Young
Women's Christian Association, Wai Ji Christian Service, the Hong
Kong PHAB Association and Hong Kong Family Welfare Society
to serve those in need including the elderly, children with special
education needs, mentally challenged persons and low-income
families.
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(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

(A) 1 & (&)

Community (continued)

Community Investment (continued)

Volunteering (continued)

Amid the rampage of COVID-19, the Group saw that the livelihoods
of many low-income families have been affected by the fifth wave
of the pandemic and therefore organised the donation of gift packs.
Volunteers from Chevalier Cares packed anti-pandemic necessities
and distributed them through five social welfare organisations,
namely, the Hong Kong PHAB Association, Wai Ji Christian Service,
Evangelical Lutheran Church of Hong Kong, Hong Kong Young
Women's Christian Association and Hong Kong Family Welfare
Society to the needy with a view to spreading warmth and care
during difficult times. Chevalier Group also responded to the Hong
Kong Red Cross’ call for support and mobilised Chevalier Cares to
prepare goodie packs to assist those who have been affected by
home quarantine. The volunteer team contributed nearly 743 hours
of voluntary work for the aforementioned events during the year.

(B) ENVIRONMENTAL

Emissions

During the year, the Group recorded carbon emissions mainly
from its cold storage and logistics business. Please refer to the
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table below which sets out the Group's total carbon emissions, by l?ﬁiE/DJ'JiU 7 E) AR F R B IR PEE
category, for the year. EELRE &
Greenhouse gas emissions BERBHEK
Tonnes of CO,e
Carbon Emissions B BE 1L —E{eHmEE (1)
Scope 1: Direct greenhouse gas emissions HE : EERERBYN 4,943.23
Scope 2: Energy indirect greenhouse gas emissions B2 : sERME R =R EHEK 8,675.41
Scope 3: Other indirect greenhouse gas emissions  ®E3 : H M ZE B =R EHE K 49.71
Total greenhouse gas emissions BEREDNE 13,668.35

To facilitate the Group's sustainable development strategy, the
cold storage and logistics business has upgraded progressively
the existing refrigeration system, as a result the greenhouse gas
emissions generated by the consumption of refrigerants have been
significantly decreased as compared to last year.

Scope 2 covers carbon emissions generated by the electricity
purchased by our construction sites and the cold storage and
logistics business, and is the largest carbon emissions for the
Group, representing over 50% of the total recorded greenhouse gas
emissions. Electricity is also used for airconditioners and lighting of
headquarter office and other workplaces.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

(B) ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)
Emissions (continued)
Greenhouse gas emissions (continued)
Greenhouse gas emissions also came from our corporate motor
vehicles and trucks. In general, the key air pollutants generated

include nitrogen oxides (NO,), sulphur oxides (SO,), and respiratory
suspended particles (also known as Particulate Matter (“PM")).

(B)

RE g RELGRS

iﬁ:(llﬁ)
BErkyn (&)
mERBEHER (&)
BEREHENATREAFAER
RE-—RME EEXENETEER
ERYBERSY(INO AL
P1(SO,) R EOIZ RN (T T8 A RERY
(TPM 1)) -

Air emissions REBHEK
Emissions (kg)
Type of Air Pollutants ZERSRYHER HHE (T=)
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) REY(INO, 1,590.75
Sulphur oxides (SO,) Wa1EY(S0,) 2.39
Particulate Matter (PM) ALY (PM) 117.63
Waste is generated mainly from the disposal of materials from our BYEXETERA ﬁkkﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂ

construction sites and the disposal of papers. All wastes are non-
hazardous and have been properly disposed of. The total amount of
waste generated is set out in the table below:

RBREE -FIAEBRYMHBEEZH
"i’é&’ia T%ﬁ”ﬁﬁﬁ?iﬂ’]ﬁ%%

E .

Waste &Y
Unit 2023
Category HEAl By —E-=HF
Construction wastes RN tonnes M 26,978.00
Construction wastes intensity BEBRNERE tonnes/project Wi, 78 B 1,586.94
Waste papers BE AR tonnes M 28.66

During the year under review, the Group did not violate any laws and
regulations in relation to emissions.

Nevertheless, we have implemented various energy saving
measures to help reduce our carbon emissions (please refer to the
“The Environment and Natural Resources” below).
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(B) ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED) (B) IR1E (&)
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Use of Resources

Our commitment to protect the environment is well reflected by our
continuous efforts in promoting green measures and awareness in
all business practices. During the year, resources consumed by the
Group are listed in the table below:

ERER
AEBHRRRENALEERE
BB (F P TR B M IR R 16 1 L B A
FRAFERDRR-FA NEE
HREMEREINTE:

Unit 2023
Category 35 7l B —E=HF
Electricity consumption EE=E kWh T+ E B 21,432,814.00
Electricity intensity HEERE kWh/project T EL& /TH B 1,020,610.19
Water consumption FEKE m3 37 77 K 79,099.00
Water intensity FERETE m3/project 3. J5 2K T8 B 4,943.69
Paper consumption FERE tonnes MA 39.01

We have implemented various energy saving measures to help
reduce our resources consumption (please refer to the “The
Environment and Natural Resources” below).

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group recognises the importance of saving energy, fully utilising
resources and preventing pollution. We are determined to contribute
to the sustainability of the environment by minimising pollution that
may be caused by the business cycle thereby mitigating our impacts
on the environment. We also strive to do our best in our daily
operations to help achieve the core corporate society responsibility
goals. The following are our targets:

e on carbon emissions: engage in green upgrading works and
increase green refurbishment investment to minimise carbon
footprint;

e on electricity consumption: increase investment in
environmental technology to promote sustainable usage; and

e on waste reduction: formulate a maintenance plan and replace
high energy consumption equipment.

The Group took measures to reduce paper usage including the
promotion of the use of electronic devices, and encouraged the
use of online versions of corporate communications. Since 2008,
Forest Stewardship Council-certified papers have been used for the
production of our annual and interim reports to reduce the impact
on the environment. In order to further enhance waste recycle
practices, the Group engaged recyclers to collect regularly waste
papers for recycling, the recycle bags are placed in prominent places
in the office. In addition, we also arranged environmental contractor
to recycle and dispose of electronic waste such as computer
monitor and printers, and to collect used ink cartridges and toner
cartridges for recycling.
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(B) ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

The Environment and Natural Resources (continued)

In line with the Group's promotion of environmental protection and
to save energy consumption, occupancy and motion sensor and
daylight sensor have been installed in the office which reduces the
electricity consumption of the lighting system. During the year, we
replaced the old and high energy-consumption lamps in office (such
as halogen lamps and T8 fluorescent tubes) with high-efficiency
LED lights to minimise the generation of waste and improve energy
efficiency. Most of our office equipment carries the Energy Label
issued by the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department which
further helps decrease energy consumption in our offices.

The Group is committed to exploring advanced construction
technologies and is dedicated to the improvement and innovation
of various technologies in order to improve construction efficiency.
The building construction division has commenced on research
and development to promote general application of the MiC
since 2018, and collaborated with a scientific research institution
to have successfully developed a new building material “high-
strength lightweight concrete” which greatly reduces the weight
of construction components in the "Steel-Concrete Hybrid-MiC”
module, while having better load-bearing capacity and durability
than the present Steel MiC solutions. Combined with the Multi-
trade Integrated MEP (MIMEP) technology, project adopting MiC
construction method can see construction time being shortened by
20% to 30% with the E&M and other components manufactured off-
site at workshops, which helps to reduce on-site construction time,
reduce dust and noise pollution, more in line with the principle of
sustainable development. We applied MiC and MiMEP technologies
in the Elderly’s Home Project at Jat Min Chuen Chung Yuet Lau in
Sha Tin, to improve the efficiency and quality of the project, reduce
carbon footprint, and protect the environment. This is also the first
project in Hong Kong using MiC Lift installation technology.

In October 2022, the Group held a workshop at “Chevalier
Group's MiC (Modular Integrated Construction) Exhibition Center”
to showcase its various MiC technologies. The chairman of
the Construction Industry Council and other key players in the
construction industry were invited to attend. Representatives
from the Development Bureau and the Hong Kong Construction
Association were also present to exchange ideas and discuss the
application of MiC technology. Participants also actively shared
meaningful insights on how to overcome challenges together.
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(B) ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

The Environment and Natural Resources (continued)

In order to align with the goal of sustainable development, the
Group has adopted measures including noise control, waste
water discharge, dust control, and controlled chemical waste
disposal in its construction and engineering businesses. Some
of our group companies have obtained the ISO 14001 and ISO
50001 certifications, which also demonstrate our commitment to
environmental protection and energy management.

In addition to the first green loan agreement entered into with The
Bank of East Asia, Limited for the construction of “Chung Yuet Lau”,
an elderly housing project of the Hong Kong Housing Society in Jat
Min Chuen, Shatin, the Group has continued to support the ESG
activities. During the year under review, the Group has continued
to place our liquidity in green deposits with a financial institution.
The Group will continue to explore green finance/deposits that align
with our strategies and/or investments for sustainable development,
transiting to a low-carbon economy, and addressing climate
change. SABLIER is also a project obtained BEAM Plus Gold rating
which demonstrated the Group's green commitment. The Group
is committed to improving ESG performance and will continue to
promote green buildings which help Hong Kong achieve its target of
sustainable development and build a better future.

Our property management division has obtained the ISO
14001 certification since 2006 and is committed to enhancing
environmental awareness and promoting various recycling activities
through its managed estates. Activities were held for recycling
and for promoting green living lifestyle for residents and tenants
of properties managed by the Group in order to build a sustainable
community with vibrancy together with the residents. During the
year, we received the “Award for GREEN COLLECT partner” from
the Environmental Protection Department (“EPD") in recognition of
our active support of recycling services. Housing estates under the
management of this division has actively participated in different
recycling activities organised by the EPD which all demonstrated
our endeavor to promote environmental awareness and green living
lifestyle.
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(B) ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

The Environment and Natural Resources (continued)

With the increase in intensity and frequency of extreme weather
events caused by climate change, our building construction division
has developed operational procedures to deal with extreme weather.
Recently it has enhanced its operation practices with additional
rest periods and shelters, ventilation facilities and potable water
for workers during hot weather. Stringent surety measures are in
place to prevent losses and accidents. Our building construction
division has also recently entered into an agreement with the
world’s leading testing, inspection and certification company on the
cooperation of promoting supplier reporting of Scope 3 greenhouse
gas (GHG) emissions data. The cloud-based digital platform enables
businesses to track, analyse, and report their carbon emissions
levels in real-time and provides our colleagues insights into
emissions hotspots across its supply chain and identify opportunities
for improvement with the help from our suppliers. In addition, the
Group has commissioned a third-party consultant to assist the
Group in carrying out a climate scenario analysis with reference to
the requirements of regulatory authorities and the recommendations
of the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD),
to identify physical risks and transition risks, and to assess and
develop relevant measures and strategies for the mitigation of any
adverse impacts arising from the climate change to the Group. We
will continue to monitor the development of Government policies
in this report and use our best endeavours to ensure that effective
measures can be established and implemented in a timely manner.
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Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas
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them.

WSKEER KR LT AEAMRE AR LMAKEEEER
REINELERMEME SR

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

SR mAAaEMHNEE (UIETE) &

The environment and natural resources

BRENARER

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

RMEERTABRERRAREREREAT EOBE

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

HAXRBERBDHRERRNERNEAY ERERNERFHTE

Climate change

AR

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

%mﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁ THREHBRTAELYENEARREREEN

BRI ERELARS

Section/Remarks

B R

The Environment and Natural Resources

RERRRER

Use of Resources

BRER

Use of Resources

BIRER

The Environment and Natural Resources

RERRAER

[t is not a major issue for our business.

BLFBRMEBOIRMEE

Our operation does not involve significant
use of packaging material.

BANZETSRABERBEMNH -

The Environment and Natural Resources

BRERRRER

The Environment and Natural Resources

RERRRER

The Environment and Natural Resources

RERARER
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Section/Remarks

B R

Hong Kong Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements

BEABRA (RE dERERESEES) AR

KPI' A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have  The Environment and Natural Resources
R ETIEIEAL impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions IR3ERKARER

taken to manage them.
HRE RS HBETAELAYENEARGABSE REY
B
B. Social
B.AE

Employment and Labour Practices

EEREIER
Aspect B1 Employment
B R
General disclosure Information on: Employment and Labour Standards
— R the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that &% & & T %8|
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.
FRFMLGEE BERE TERE - RY FTEEE Sl
RERAREMEERBANNEE: RETHETABEATEN
e EEEEREREES.
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-  Employment and Labour Standards

R EIIEIER time), age group and geographical region. EERS LR

RS BEEL (NMEREFR) FRANERMRENNESR

KPI'B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Employment and Labour Standards

BIREMIRIER1.2 BRI FRAR MRS DNEERRL X - B &5 TR

76 <

Aspect B2 Health and safety
[EMEB2 BEaLe

General disclosure

—RBE

KPI B2.1
B4 IR 1EB2.1

KPI B2.2
B 4E BIE1EB2.2

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.
FAREZ2IERERRREERABRELEENHERETY
BIIANBERTENHEERLROIOER -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past
three years including the reporting year.

BE=F (BRERFE)RTICHOABRISL R

Lost days due to work injury.

ATBBRATEAH-
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Health and Safety
BRERZE

Health and Safety
RERZZ

Health and Safety
RERZE



KPIB2.3
BRENIERB2.3

Aspect B3
[EmHB3

General disclosure

—RKE

KPI B3.1
BRSHE IR B3.1

KPIB3.2
BAS AR MURIRB3.2

Aspect B4
[EmB4

General disclosure

—RBE

KPI B4.1
BB BUE1EB4

KPI B4.2
R EIIEIERA2

Operating Practices

ZEED

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Hong Kong Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements

BEABRA (RE dEREREEES) AR

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

HRMRANBEREEZ2ER URABRTRER L.

Development and training

BR L

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training activities.
FHRRAEERTIEBRENOMMRBENEBR - flEIED -
The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).

BUFIREERN (NRREEE PREEES)INNZIIES

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.
RURIRERERNES BREE KRN FHORE-

Labour standards
BT AR

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labour.

BBMILETIH®ES
ERRRGIMER -

FTHBRRRETHRTABEAYENIRE

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child
and forced labour.

il BEEPMEEARRET RRHET -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

WO ERRERBE NG RRARBRRRN SR -

BRI ERELARS

Section/Remarks

B R

Health and Safety
RERZZ

Development and Training

BRREN

Development and Training

EIEN Rl

Development and Training

EIEN L]

Employment and Labour Standards

ERRBTER

Employment and Labour Standards

EfR R 5% TEA

Employment and Labour Standards

ER &5 T2

Aspect Bb
JETH B

General disclosure

—RBE

KPI B5.1
BRSHAMIE1RB5.1

Supply chain management

e R

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain.

ERHEENREN L SRABBE -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

BuRADMHEHHE -

Supply Chain Management
HERER
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KPI B5.2
FRSHAMIEIRBE.2

Hong Kong Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements

BEABRA (RE dERERESEES) AR

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

HREBEREENNEN mERTAEEEANOHERNEE UK
BREANRTRERA -

Section/Remarks

B R

Supply Chain Management
HEEER

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks ~ Supply Chain Management
B ENUE1ERE3 along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored. it fE$# & 12
HR SN EESERGOREREGRRNED A RIEH
. £ .
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable  Supply Chain Management

BREMIS1E85.4

Aspect B6
[EmB6

General disclosure
—M

KPI B6.1
BRSHE 151 B6.1

KPI B6.2
BAS AR MUIEIRBE.2

products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
HAERERERRRESBRRERLRENEH LA RABEHR
TTRERT -

Product responsibility

EmE

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and methods of redress.
FRMRHERNRENREREZS BS REMMBEEULA
B ENBR L ETHETARERYENEER RO ER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for
safety and health reasons.
CEXCEREMBHTAR T EREEAMARKNA DL -

Number of products and service related complaints received and how
they are dealt with.

FEBNEMMRBORFHE AREH L

HERE R

Product Responsibility
EmEE

Not applicable
i

Product Responsibility
EmAL

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual ~ Product Responsibility
MBRENIEERG.3 property rights. EmEME

. ERAERRRERIEEEBOEN-
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Not applicable

BB MUIEIRB64

KPIBB.5
BREHEAMIEIRB6.5

B Bl E B N EmE KR -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they
are implemented and monitored.

HIUEBEERRERABRE URBBRIREE A
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KPIs
BRENER
Aspect B7
EEB7

General disclosure
—f

KPI B7.1
BRSHEMIE1RBT.1

KPI B7.2
Mg EIEIERT 2

KPIB7.3
FRSHEMIEIRBT.3

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI B RERARS

Hong Kong Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements

BEABRA (RE dERERESEES) AR

Anti-corruption
k&R

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

BB LR DR BFRARENERRETHETAREAY
EORBERNATINER -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought
against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.
RERBAHETAREEERIVEELNESHFARMENEA
PEENCE S

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures,
how they are implemented and monitored.

B EE R BRI ABBRTRERTE

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

HRES B TRENRESH

Section/Remarks

B R

Anti-Corruption
k&S

During the year, no cases of corruption

reported

FR UERRERSREER-

REF

Community

HE

Aspect B8 Community investment
EmES HERE

General disclosure
—BEE

KPI B8.1
FRSHE 512881

KPI B8.2
BASAEMUEIRBS.2

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities
take into consideration the communities’ interests.
FRAUHERERTRETACENEHEZTENRRAELEY
SERMHENRNOBR

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns,
labour needs, health, culture, sport).

EIEMEE (NHE REFE SIFK BE L #E)-

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EZIEBMPAER (MEBERERH)

Community Investment

HtERE

Community Investment

tERE

Community Investment

itERE
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERRES

The Board presents to shareholders their annual report together with
the audited financial statements of the Company and of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are construction and engineering,
property investment, property development and operations, healthcare
investment, car dealership and others. Other ancillary and supporting
businesses of principal subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures that
are integrated with the main businesses of the Group are shown on
pages 238 to 244.

The Group's revenue and results for the year ended 31 March
2023, analysed by operating segments, are set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the businesses of the Group during the year, particulars
of important events affecting the Group that have occurred subsequent
to the year ended 31 March 2023 (if any), a description of principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group and discussion on the Group's
prospects are provided in the Letter to Shareholders on pages 14 to
16, Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 17 to 24, Financial
Review on pages 25 to 30 and note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, discussions on the Group's compliance with
relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Group, relationships with its key stakeholders and environmental policy
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report and Environmental,
Social and Governance Report on pages 40 to 52 and pages 53 to 79,
respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out
in the consolidated income statement on page 100. The Board now
recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.28 (2022: HK$0.35)
per share payable in cash to shareholders whose names appear on the
Register of Members of the Company on Tuesday, 12 September 2023.
Together with an interim dividend of HK$0.10 (2022: HK$0.15) per share
paid on Thursday, 22 December 2022, the total dividends for the year
amounted to HK$0.38 (2022: HK$0.50) per share. Subject to the approval
by shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “"AGM"),
the proposed final dividend will be payable in cash to shareholders on or
about Wednesday, 20 September 2023.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the
Register of Members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday,
23 August 2023 to Monday, 28 August 2023, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order
to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Standard Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 22
August 2023.

For determining entitlement to the proposed final dividend (subject
to the passing of an ordinary resolution by the shareholders of the
Company at the AGM), the Register of Members of the Company will
be closed from Monday, 11 September 2023 to Tuesday, 12 September
2023, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
will be effected. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office
in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited, 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Friday, 8 September 2023.

SHARES ISSUED

Details of the shares issued by the Company during the year are set out
in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in note 36 and note 47 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 March 2023, the Company's reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to HK$3,448,208,000 (2022:
HK$2,047,286,000).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Movements in investment properties of the Group during the year are
set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2023
are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY/FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial summary and financial review of the Group are shown on
pages 4 to 7 and on pages 25 to 30, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group's revenue and purchases for the year attributable to the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers were less than 30%
respectively. None of the Directors, their respective close associates
(as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) or any shareholder (whom to the knowledge of the Directors
owns 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company) as at 31
March 2023 had any interest in the Group's five largest customers and
suppliers.

MAJOR PROPERTIES

Particulars of major properties of the Group as at 31 March 2023 are set
out on pages 36 to 39.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group employed approximately 3,600 full-time staff globally as at
31 March 2023. Total staff costs amounted to HK$1,482 million for the
year ended 31 March 2023. The remuneration policies of the Group are
reviewed periodically on the basis of the nature of job, market trend,
company performance and individual performance. Other staff benefits
include bonuses awarded on a discretionary basis, medical schemes and
retirement schemes.

The remuneration package of the Directors and the senior management
is based on their contribution to the performance of the Group and is
supervised by the Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

During the vyear,
charitable bodies.

the Group made donations of HK$1,573,100 to

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's Bye-
Laws although there is no restriction against such rights under the laws
in Bermuda where the Company is incorporated.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of listed securities of the
Company by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’'s Bye-Laws, every Director shall be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in the execution of his/
her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has taken out
insurance against the liability and costs associated with defending any
proceedings which may be brought against the Directors of the Group.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. KUOK Hoi Sang (Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. TAM Kwok Wing (Deputy Managing Director)

Mr. HO Chung Leung

Mr. MA Chi Wing

Miss Lily CHOW

Non-Executive Director
Mr. CHOW Vee Tsung, Oscar

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. YANG Chuen Liang, Charles
Professor POON Chung Kwong

Mr. Irons SZE

Mr. SUN Leland Li Hsun

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-Laws, Messrs. Ho Chung Leung,
Ma Chi Wing, Yang Chuen Liang, Charles and Irons Sze shall retire from
office at the AGM and, being eligible, may offer themselves for re-
election. The Non-Executive Directors are subject to the same retirement
requirements as the Executive Directors.

Mr. Yang Chuen Liang, Charles, has informed the Company that he
would not offer himself for re-election and accordingly will retire
as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company after the
conclusion of the AGM. Save for Mr. Yang, the other retiring Directors,
being eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

The biographical details of the Directors of the Company as at the date
of this report are set out in the “Management Profile” section on pages
31 to 35.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Related Party Transactions” in
note 45 to the consolidated financial statements, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Company's
business to which the Company's subsidiaries was a party or were
parties and in which a director of the Company or his or her connected
entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors have an interest in any business
constituting a competing business to the Group.
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EEEIR

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations, within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"), which have been notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO),
or which were required to be recorded in the register to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code were as follows:

Interests in the Company - Shares

RZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—HB ARAE
ERREITHABRARRKEHFE
B(EERBEBEMENEEFHFLBE
&0 ([FEHRHERG ) EXVED) 2 &
mREROEEZTRMESDRE
EHENEEEMEXVHETRESH A
@$@ﬂ&%“%2%ﬁ&&ﬁ(a%
B ERIE Ll 55 5 & HE G HHE ST
BRBIERBE ZHESNMAR) MBI
BRSRARAREZEALBEKGE
3mMﬁmm%ﬁTz Rft oz s
KRB SR BEIZESTRBENS AR T
DRz R AR AT

AREERE KRG

Numbers of ordinary shares held (Long Positions)

FEEBEREOBE (F8)

Personal
Name of Directors Capacity interests
EEE8 g6 B ARz
Mr. KUOK Hoi Sang Beneficial owner 173,460
FEELRSE E&HEA A
Mr. TAM Kwok Wing Beneficial owner 209,583
e E&HEA A
Mr. HO Chung Leung Beneficial owner 40,000
AR EHE E&HEA A

Miss Lily CHOW

According to the disclosure of interests form filed by Miss Lily Chow, a
director of the Company, on 4 April 2023 (amendment to her disclosure
of interests form filed on 28 June 2021), 189,490,248 shares (62.76%)
were held by her as one of the named executrixes of the Will dated 27
April 2009 of the late Dr. Chow Yei Ching (the “late Dr. Chow"), and
as one of the named executrixes of the Will dated 29 October 2015
(2015 Will") of the late Dr. Chow, and both Wills are subject to the
determination of the High Court Probate Action HCAP22/2019. The
Company has no comment on her capacity as named executrix disclosed
under the disclosure of interests forms however, it is noted that there
are references made by the Court of Appeal Hong Kong under case
reference CAMP 202/2021 [2023] HKCA 167 dated 8 February 2023
to the effect that any representation made by Miss Lily Chow to third
parties that she is acting in the capacity as an executrix would not be
correct after 29 June 2021 as Miss Lily Chow has stated in her court
pleading concerning the High Court Probate Action HCAP 22/2019 that
she does not intend to accept the office of executrixship of the 2015
Will pending the judgment in the said Action.
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Approximate

Family percentage of
interests Total interest
RIRER wmE R

%

- 173,460 0.06
40,265 249,848 0.08
- 40,000 0.01
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DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
(CONTINUED)

Interests in the Company - Shares (continued)

As at 31 March 2023, so far as is known to the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company, no other person had interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which the Director was taken
or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register referred to therein, or were required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director offering for re-election at the AGM has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract of significance concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was entered into or subsisted
during the year.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group has established various retirement benefit schemes for the
benefit of its staff in Hong Kong and overseas.

In Hong Kong, the Group participates in both defined contribution schemes
which are registered under the Occupational Retirement Schemes
Ordinance (the “ORSO Schemes”) and Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
(the “"MPF Schemes”) established under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance in December 2000. The ORSO Schemes are funded by
monthly contributions from both employees and the Group at rates ranging
from 5% to 7.5% of the employee’s basic salary, depending on the length
of service with the Group. For members of the MPF Schemes, the Group
contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs per employee, at a maximum of
HK$1,500 per month for the year ended 31 March 2023, to the mandatory
contribution of the MPF Schemes.

The Group also participates in the employee pension schemes in
countries or locations where the Group operates. The Group is required
to make defined contributions at rates calculated as a certain percentage
or sum of the monthly payroll.

The Group's total contributions to these schemes charged to the
consolidated income statement during the year amounted to HK$35.86
million against which no forfeited contributions had been deducted.

Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 44 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2023, so far as is known to the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company, the interests and short positions
of the persons or corporations in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company which have been disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO were as follows:

ITERRZES R
RZE-_=F=A=+—R0 RAAT
BERSETRABMM THALH
% B R AR 2 AR5 S AR B AR 49 P BT B
AR 1R 8 5 R AR R DI XV BE2R3H
BB ADRRE RADERA
D AR IEE % K & 160 33615 8 17 2
BrRfAzgmRiEDT:

Approximate

Number of ordinary shares percentage of
Substantial shareholders Capacity held (Long Positions) interest
FrisEBER
FERR g7 BROBE (F7) EEMY
%
Dr. CHOW Yei Ching® (Deceased) Beneficial owner 189,490,248 62.76
FEIREIE e (B ) BEREA A
Ms. MIYAKAWA Michiko Interest of spouse 189,490,248* 62.76
BINEEFRL fo B

@ Ms. Chow Wai Wai, Violet and Ms. Chow Vi Vi have each reported under Part
XV of the SFO that they have interest in the shares of the late Dr. Chow
each as an executrix of the estate of the late Dr. Chow and in addition, Ms.
Chow Wai Wai, Violet has also reported to have interests in 14,551,162
shares (held as to 104,607 shares as beneficial owner, and as to 14,446,555
shares through wholly-owned corporations) of the Company.

Miss Lily Chow has reported under Part XV of the SFO that she has interest
in the shares of the late Dr. Chow as an executrix of the estate of the
late Dr. Chow. According to the disclosure of interests form filed by Miss
Lily Chow on 4 April 2023 (amendment to her disclosure of interests form
filed on 28 June 2021), 189,490,248 shares were held by her as one of the
named executrixes of the Will dated 27 April 2009 of the late Dr. Chow, and
as one of the named executrixes of the 2015 Will of the late Dr. Chow, and
both Wills are subject to the determination of the High Court Probate Action
HCAP22/2019. The Company has no comment on her capacity as named
executrix disclosed under the disclosure of interests forms however, it is
noted that there are references made by the Court of Appeal Hong Kong
under case reference CAMP 202/2021 [2023] HKCA 167 dated 8 February
2023 to the effect that any representation made by Miss Lily Chow to third
parties that she is acting in the capacity as an executrix would not be correct
after 29 June 2021 as Miss Lily Chow has stated in her court pleading
concerning the High Court Probate Action HCAP 22/2019 that she does not
intend to accept the office of executrixship of the 2015 Will pending the
judgment in the said Action.

* Under Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Miyakawa Michiko, the spouse of the late Dr. Chow,
is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of 189,490,248 shares held by
the late Dr. Chow.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
(CONTINUED)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, so far as is known to the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company, no other person had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which were required to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO, or, were directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company.

ARRANGEMENT FOR ACQUISITION OF SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company or any other body corporate.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance. The Company has adopted the applicable code provisions as
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code"”) contained
in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. In the opinion of the Directors, the
Company has complied with the code provisions throughout the year
ended 31 March 2023, except for the deviation from code provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code which have already been stated in the Corporate
Governance Report of the Annual Report. Detailed information on the
Company's corporate governance practices is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 40 to 52.
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules, changes in Directors’
biographical details since the date of the Company's Interim Report
2022-2023 are set out as follows:

Professor Poon Chung Kwong retired as a non-executive director of Lee
& Man Paper Manufacturing Limited on 9 May 2023.

Mr. Irons Sze was appointed as an independent non-executive director,
and a member of each of the audit committee, remuneration committee
and nomination committee of Forward Fashion (International) Holdings
Company Limited on 1 July 2022. He was also appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Tongda Group Holdings Limited on
29 May 2023.

Mr. Sun Leland Li Hsun retired as an independent non-executive director,
a member of each of the remuneration committee and nomination
committee of Quanzhou Huixin Micro-credit Co., Ltd. on 9 June 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other change of Directors’
biographical details required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Board, the percentage of the
Company's share which is in the hands of the public exceeds 25% of
the Company's total number of issued shares as at 29 June 2023, the
latest practicable date to ascertain such information prior to the issue of
this Annual Report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who shall retire and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

KUOK Hoi Sang
Chairman and Managing Director
Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Chevalier International Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are
set out on pages 100 to 244, comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2023;

e the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
o RVRER Gk =

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

e revenue recognition from construction works;
e valuation of investment properties;

e recoverability of properties under development and properties for
sale; and

e impairment assessment of goodwill relating to senior housing
business in the United States of America.

How our audit addressed
the Key audit matter

Key audit matter

Revenue recognition from construction works

Refer to notes 4(g) and 6 to the Our procedures in relation to management'’s
consolidated financial statements  recognition of revenue from construction
works included:

For the year ended 31 March 2023,
the Group recognised revenue
from construction works of
HK$2,981 million.

obtained an understanding of the
management’s control procedures of
revenue recognition from construction
works and assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors;

* evaluated and tested, on a sample
basis, the key controls over the revenue
recognition from construction works;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed

the Key audit matter

Revenue recognition from construction works (continued)

The recognition of revenue from
construction works involves a
high degree of management
judgement in relation to the
determination of estimated total
construction contract value,
estimated total construction costs,
as well as the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the
performance obligations. Some
of the construction works takes
more than one year to complete
during which the project scope
may change from time to time.
Management estimates the total
contract value and budgeted cost
at the commencement of the
contracts and regularly reassess
these amounts and the financial
impact with reference to the
progress of construction works.

Due to the existence of significant
management’s judgement required
to determine the amount and
timing of revenue recognised from
construction works, we considered
it a key audit matter.

e in our testing of management’'s
estimation on the total construction
contract value, total construction costs
and the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance
obligations of each contract at the end
of the reporting period, we selected
a number of construction works on
a sample basis and performed the
following:

e discussed with management and
the respective project teams on the
progress of the projects;

e assessed management's
estimates in contract value and
construction costs with reference
to the supporting evidence such as
contracts with customers, suppliers
and subcontractors and other
correspondences;

e tested the construction costs
incurred for construction works
during the reporting period by
tracing to supporting documents
including architect’s certificates
issued to subcontractors and
invoices from subcontractors and
suppliers; and

e tested the value of work done to
architect’s certificates and other
correspondences as appropriate
and recalculated the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligations based on
the latest management budget.

Based on the procedures performed, we
considered that management’'s judgement
and estimates in determining the amount
and timing of revenue recognised from the
construction works were supportable by the
available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed
the Key audit matter

Valuation of investment properties

Refer to notes 4(a), 8 and 14 to the
consolidated financial statements

The Group's investment properties
were carried at HK$4,765 million
as at 31 March 2023 and a fair
value gain of HK$104 million was
recognised in the consolidated
income statement. The Group's
investment property portfolio
comprises commercial, residential
and industrial properties in the
Mainland China, Hong Kong and
overseas.

Management has engaged
independent external valuers to
estimate the fair value of the
Group's investment properties as
at 31 March 2023 based on the
direct comparison approach and
income capitalisation approach,
where appropriate.

The valuation of investment
properties depends on certain
key assumptions that require
significant management
judgement, including capitalisation
rates and prevailing market
rents and comparable market
transactions.

Due to the existence of significant
management’'s judgement and
assumptions used in the valuation
of investment properties we
considered it a key audit matter.

Our procedures in relation to management'’s
valuation of investment properties included:

obtained an understanding of the
management’s processes of valuation
of the investment properties and
assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty and level of
other inherent risk factors;

evaluated the independent valuers’
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

obtained the valuation reports and
discussed with the independent external
valuers to understand the valuation
methodologies and the comparable
market data used;

involved our internal valuation experts
to assess the appropriateness of
methodologies and the reasonableness
of the key assumptions used in the
valuation of a sample of properties
selected by comparing the data used
against the available market yields
for capitalisation rates, prevailing
market rents of leasing transactions
of comparable properties and recent
market transaction prices of properties
with comparable conditions and
locations, where appropriate; and

checked the accuracy of input data, on a
sample basis, used by the independent
valuers including rental income by
agreeing them back to management’s
records, historical information or other
supporting documents including key
terms of lease agreements and rental
income schedules.

Based on the procedures performed, we
considered that judgement and assumptions
used in management’'s valuation of
investment properties were supportable by
the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed
the Key audit matter

Recoverability of properties under development and properties for sale

Refer to notes 4(e),
27 to the consolidated financial
statements

The Group had HK$2,097
million and HK$1,008 million of

properties under development and e

properties for sale respectively
as at 31 March 2023. The Group's
development properties portfolio
comprises completed properties
and properties under development
in the Mainland China and Hong
Kong.

Management assessed the
recoverability of properties under

development and properties for e

sale based on an estimation
of the net realisable values of
the underlying properties which
involved analyses of the current
market prices of comparable
properties at similar locations, and
costs to be incurred to complete
and sell the developments and
where applicable made reference
to the valuation report from the
independent external valuer.

8, 24 and Our

procedures in relation to

management’'s assessment on the
recoverability of properties under
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development and properties for sale
included:

obtained an understanding of the
management’'s control procedures
of recoverability assessment of the
properties under development and
properties for sale and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors;

evaluated and tested, on a sample
basis, the key controls over the property
development cycle; and

assessed the reasonableness of key
assumptions used in management’s
estimation of the net realisable value,
on a sample of properties selected,
including:

e compared estimated selling prices
to the contracted sales prices of
the underlying properties or to
recent market transaction prices
of comparable properties at similar
locations, where applicable;

e compared total costs to complete
and sell the properties to the latest
approved budgets and checked
those budgets to supporting
documents such as suppliers’
contracts.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed

the Key audit matter

Recoverability of properties under development and properties for sale

(continued)

Due to the existence of estimation e
uncertainty and management’s
judgement in assessing the
recoverability of properties under
development and properties for
sale, we considered it a key audit
matter.

For property projects with independent
valuation reports,

evaluated the independent valuer's
competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

obtained the valuation report and
discussed with the independent
valuer to understand the valuation
methodologies and the comparable
market data used; and

involved our internal valuation
experts to assess the
appropriateness of methodologies
and the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the valuation of
a sample of properties selected by
comparing the data used against the
available recent market transaction
prices of properties with comparable
conditions and locations.

Based on the procedures performed, we
considered that management’'s judgement
in assessing the recoverability of properties
under development and properties for sale
were supportable by the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed
the Key audit matter

Impairment assessment of goodwill relating to senior housing business in

the United States of America

Refer to notes 4(c), 8 and 39 to the
consolidated financial statements

The Group had HK$505 million
of goodwill as at 31 March 2023
relating to certain senior housing
business in the United States of
America.

Management assessed
whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment by assessing
recoverable amounts of cash
generating units (“CGU"), or
groups of CGUs, being the
higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value-in-use
thereof. Management's value-in-
use calculations use cash flow
projections based on financial
budgets approved by management
which involve the use of
judgement applied by management
such as the determination of
revenue growth rate, terminal
growth rate and discount rate.

Due to the existence of estimation
uncertainty and management
judgement in the impairment
assessment of goodwill relating
to senior housing business in the
United States of America using
value-in-use calculations, we
considered it a key audit matter.

The procedures performed to assess the
methodologies and assumptions used by
management in the impairment assessment
of goodwill are summarised below:

e obtained an understanding of
the management’'s process of
the impairment assessment and
assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty and level of
other inherent risk factors;

e assessed the appropriateness of
methodologies used in preparing the
impairment assessment;

e agreed the input data to supporting
evidence on a sample basis such as
historical results and financial budgets
approved by management;

* gassessed the reasonableness of
key assumptions such as revenue
growth rate, terminal growth rate and
discount rate applied by management
including comparing the current year
actual results with the prior year
forecast and comparing to available
market information, to assess the
reasonableness of management
forecasts; and

e performed sensitivity analysis on
the key assumptions adopted in the
impairment assessment to understand
the impact of reasonable changes
in assumptions on the recoverable
amounts.

Based on the procedures performed, we
considered that the assumptions used by
management in the impairment assessment
of goodwill were supportable by available
evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

fibf5 5

AR EFAHEMEEAE -HME
SEBERFRANABEER 157[”7%@
A IS IR R e T AP B i SR B ¥R

oI mjg piis

D>

BMEGEEMBEREINBERALTRER
/ﬁij,1|:|u_, ﬁz1FﬁjT7r¥Tu/<_r/\1m'fD/u %
EREANEREW® -

BARMUGEEMBHRERNES A

METRABELMERS FitBRS £
BEMESRSRESMBHRERKLM

EEABRETATENBAFEERE
B EUTFFEERERBRANER -

REMERITH I ZZD%?MF%U
‘rM:. EFEERHERRA HMF
#Em.u BE-EEHE ﬁzfﬁ/x*ﬁ_f?cﬂﬂi

o

EEREREEERES
RAERENEE
BERREFAREARBEEGFMAE
B (BEMBRELER) REFE (A
ARG MR ESREREEEMT AL
i?éﬂﬂ%iﬁz?ﬁ’I‘;TEE%%%TEJ\A@#

Bt 7% ¥R

A RE N FERRNKFFRERM
BB BN $E AR R AL BT 44 T 0 A B4R I

ERBRAMBBAL EFRAN
& BEMSRER D) WEE
ERTRERSBEEEMHEE I
&ﬁ%ﬁ%meaﬁ%W % IFEE
BEE REE SN EE )
AL BB BT 5



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

e conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chu Ho Kwan Raphael.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

R W

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-T-_=F=A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—s=-= —E- =
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
=T BET T ok e
Revenue N 6 7,100,052 8,634,433
Cost of sales $HE AR (6,288,723) (7,597,577)
Gross profit EH 811,329 1,036,856
Other income H Al A 7 124,195 125,825
Other gains, net Hhlhz 58 8 25,231 153,488
Selling and distribution costs SHE R A SE A AR (194,007) (231,728)
Administrative expenses THXZ (387,865) (400,151)
Operating profit il 378,883 684,290
Share of results of associates P Bt N B) E4A 18 173,859 144,756
Share of results of joint ventures FriEeEhbEER 19 (49,355) 82,013
... 503387 911,059
Finance income B 75 WA 9 52,454 27,073
Finance costs MBER 9 (137,212) (88,592)
Finance costs, net VBBA T8 ° (84,758) (61,519)
Profit before taxation B 7% A A 10 418,629 849,540
Taxation fRig 11 (149,654) (156,866)
Profit for the year FERR 268,975 692,674
Attributable to: LR
Shareholders of the Company EiN/NGT S 233,888 644,523
Non-controlling interests JEIE R 35,087 48,151
268,975 692,674
Earnings per share BREF
— basic and diluted (HK$ per share) —EXEEE
(BRBE) 12 0.77 2.13

The notes on pages 109 to 244 are integral parts of these consolidated F109B B2448 2 s DL T 456 M1
financial statements. WK ZHRERD o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FEEEWEmR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=F=A=+—BLFE

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$ 000
BET T BT
Profit for the year FERF 268975 692,674
Other comprehensive (expenses)/income FEHMZE (XH)
for the year U &=
Items that will not be reclassified TEEHFREZTEZN
to profit or loss HE
Exchange difference attributable to BMEBINNE RG] 2 %
non-controlling interests on translation of HIEERERTESEZ
operations of overseas subsidiaries HNE MR E RE (23,689) 12,597
Change in fair value of investments at fair value ERAnBEIAEMEE
through other comprehensive income W mIE 2 IRE R
RRAEZY (37,148) 45,594
Fair value surplus of property, plant and YE BEIREBERS
equipment upon transfer to investment WEYER 2
properties NABEE 30,632 -
Share of an associate's fair value surplus of FrG — B & A7) 2 F F
right-of-use assets upon transfer to REEEBRERAME
investment properties B AREERS - 2,031
Items that may be reclassified subsequently HETKEEFREZEER
to profit or loss KIE B
Exchange difference on translation of BEEINKIB AR B
operations of overseas subsidiaries, QET&A%&\%Z%%?
associates and joint ventures FTEEE Z INE H =58 (295,166) 130,630
Fair value adjustments on the derivative BT AR RELHH
financial instruments designated PTHEMBIARN
as cash flow hedge NABERAE (65) 116
Other comprehensive (expenses)/income FEHEM2E (ZH)
for the year, net of tax Woas - BRERE (325,436) ¢ 190,968
Total comprehensive (expenses)/income FE2@E(XH)
for the year U s 48 58 (56,461) 883,642
Attributable to: P47
Shareholders of the Company ZiN/N i S (67,896) 822,894
Non-controlling interests FE5 AR i 7 11,435 60,748
(56,461) 883,642
Note: =
Items shown within other comprehensive (expenses)/income are disclosed net of REAMEE (ZH) WSR2 EEB TR
tax. MRELIEE R

The notes on pages 109 to 244 are integral parts of these consolidated F109B B2448 2 s DL T 456 M1

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AR MR TR

As at 31 March 2023
RZEZ=F=A=+—8H

Non-current assets

Investment properties

Property, plant and equipment

Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Interests in associates

Interests in joint ventures

Investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Investments at fair value through
profit or loss

Investments at amortised cost

Properties under development

Deferred tax assets

Amounts due from non-controlling
interests

Other non-current assets

Current assets

Amounts due from associates

Amounts due from joint ventures

Amounts due from non-controlling
interests

Investments at fair value through
profit or loss

Investments at amortised cost

Inventories

Properties for sale

Properties under development

Debtors, contract assets, deposits
paid and prepayments

Derivative financial instruments

Prepaid tax
Bank balances and cash

Assets held-for-sale

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

HRBEE

BREME

ME BEMZE
kS

HiELEE
NI E
BEhFRERS
BAREIAEMEE
W R 2 R E
BAREIABmEE
ZERE
WEHKANI R ZRE
BRTYE
BT IR E &

P& Ui S 47 i 2 23 B X

HMERBEE

REBEE

I Uiz Bt = 2 ) Bl X
FEU & & R IRA
T Ui I 47 i 4 23 B X

BRANBEIANEBREERE
2B

REBHEK AR ZIRE
rE

FEME

BERPYE
R - AWEE -
EffFELHRe kAR
I

TEMBTEA
B R IE
RITEFERS

FIFHEERE

Note
B 5

14
15, 29
16
17
18
19

21

22
23
24
37

20
25

18
19

20
22
23
26

27
24

28
30

31

46

2023 2022
—E=-= S
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BET T
4,765,251 4,749,247
3,049,930 3,377,007
605,419 634,564
19,667 26,955
720,543 676,946
1,083,636 1,193,344
50,204 91,738
943,012 750,707
214,113 101,800
197,465 214,449
70,803 69,055
42,222 47,183
89,369 76,841
......1.851,634 12,009,836
19,015 25,242
109,649 102,263
32,771 33,031
615,241 484,665
38,393 -
297,841 304,138
1,008,031 1,086,268
1,899,043 1,482,036
1,917,595 1,995,399
796 65
26,802 21,947
2,502,637 2,667,092
8,467,814 8,202,146
- 2,913
8,467,814 8,205,059



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
RE M BIKTE

As at 31 March 2023
R-ZTE-_=ZF=A=+—8

2023 2022
—E=-= —E- =
Note HK$'000 HK$ 000
B 5 BET T BET T
Current liabilities RBAE
Amounts due to joint ventures ERaEPERRK 19 9,576 13,162
Amounts due to non-controlling FERTIEPE IR B 25 AR 3K
interests 20 259,347 259,833
Derivative financial instruments PTEFBETA 30 - 47
Creditors, bills payable, deposits FERERFR - ERNEE
received, contract liabilities, BRFARE AL
accruals and provisions ABE BIEBALKEHE 32 2,990,980 2,789,811
Unearned insurance premiums and R R B 2R iB H
unexpired risk reserves [\ Bes 5% 15 329,700 296,862
Outstanding insurance claims RARBERE 33 700,385 437,031
Current income tax liabilities EHMREREE 101,085 89,210
Bank and other borrowings $R1T M H A & K 34 900,334 2,425,438
Lease liabilities HERE 29 18,195 21,293
5,309,602 6,332,687
Net current assets REEEFE 3,158,212 1,872,372
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAME 15,009,846 13,882,208

HIEREEERAR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R B ER
As at 31 March 2023
RZT=Z=%=A=+—H

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Shareholders’ funds
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Amounts due to non-controlling
interests
Unearned insurance premiums
Bank and other borrowings
Lease liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

Total equity and non-current liabilities

Note
=T
BAREE
fi& 2 35
& 36
[ERES
B AR fE ==
R
kRBERE
B SEHE BT M 2R BR 3K
20
PRAEAR B &
RIT R EAMER 34
HEAaE 29
RERIBEEE 37
HEZRERBERE

Approved by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2023 and signed on its

behalf by:

KUOK Hoi Sang
SREE
Director

EF

HO Chung Leun
Al SRR
Director

EF

The notes on pages 109 to 244 are integral parts of these consolidated

financial statements.
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2023 2022
—E-= =
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT T
377,411 377,411
10,008,200 10,211,964
10,385,611 10,589,375
606,889 637,218
....10.992500 11,226,593
254,225 239,187
266,132 330,082
2,980,794 1,594,462
78,026 87,941
438,169 403,943
... 4017346 2655615
15,009,846 13,882,208

REEeN _E_=—F A -_t+hB#
TR TINEERREE:

9

FI1098 Z244B 2 M DI SR A P 1%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

At 1 April 2022

Profit for the year
Change in fair value of investments
at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Fair value surplus of property,
plant and equipment upon
transfer to investment properties
Exchange difference on translation of

operations of overseas subsidiaries,

associates and joint ventures

Fair value adjustments on the
derivative financial instruments
designated as cash flow hedge

Total comprehensive
(expenses)/income for the year

Dividends paid
Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests

At 31 March 2023

R-ZE--—fWMAB—H

F = A
BAREIAREMEER
W RIE 2 RE W

NIEEH

W P B AR
EREVMERZ
NRERHK
BEBINIE AT
BERARAERE
ZEBEL ZIME
RBER
BERBREREHMH
ITEMB T AN
NIEFHE

FE2@E(XH) /S
Yot 88

ENEE
EN T IFERER
es)

N-—EE=-=
=B=+-—H

=

=R ANGE v =1
o

Z > g

m B R

Im =

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=F=A=+—BLFE

Equity attributable to

PEAL RE &
Shareholders Non-
of the controlling
Company interests Total equity
EARRER FERER RS
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BET T
_....10589375 637,218 11,226,593
233,888 35,087 268,975
(37,148) - (37,148)
30,595 37 30,632
(295,166) (23,689) (318,855)
(65) - (65)
,,,,,,,,,, (67,896) 1435 (56,461)
(135,868) - (135,868)
T (41,764) | (41,764)
10,385,611 606,889 10,992,500
HI-EBREEERD R

2023 F1f
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

= A 4l 2L 424
e EmEsR
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=+—BHLEFE

At 1 April 2021

Profit for the year

Change in fair value of investments
at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Share of other comprehensive
income of an associate

Exchange difference on translation of

operations of overseas subsidiaries,

associates and joint ventures

Fair value adjustments on the
derivative financial instruments
designated as cash flow hedge

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Dividends paid

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests

Acquisition of additional interest in
subsidiaries from non-controlling
interests

Disposals of subsidiaries

Capital reduction by a non-controlling
interest

At 31 March 2022

The notes on pages 109 to 244 are integral parts of these consolidated

financial statements.

R-E-—FWMAB—H

F & A
BARBEIAREMEE
W RIE 2 RE W

NREEH
PriE— M ZE R F 2
Hib 2 HE &=
BEBINIE AT
BERARAERE
ZEBEL ZIME
RBER
EERBREREL TN
ITEMB T AN
NIEFHE

FEE2EKDAER

ERKRE

BN FIEERERRE

0 3 42 PR AR 2 U B
DRI 2

HE K B A
— IR A 2 R
Bl

N-—EE=-=
=A=+—H

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Equity attributable to

FE G
Shareholders Non-
of the controlling

Company interests Total equity

2NN S FEFERR B Gy
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000

BT T BT T BT T
.....9929520 639705 10,569,225
644,523 48,151 692,674

45,5694 - 45,5694

2,031 - 2,031

130,630 12,597 143,227

116 - 116
o 822,894 60,748 883642
(163,041) - (163,041)

- (38,006) (38,006)

(12) (680) (692)

14 (760) (746)
T (23789) (23,789).
10,589,375 637,218 11,226,593

R ZAKEDD
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Operating activities

Cash generated from operations

Interest paid on bank overdrafts,
a non-controlling interest and
bank and other borrowings

Interest paid on lease liabilities

Profits tax paid

Profits tax refunded

Net cash (used in)/from operating
activities

Investing activities
Interest received
Dividends received from associates

Dividends received from joint ventures

Addition to/purchase of investment
properties

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Net cash inflow from disposal of
a senior housing business

Purchase of intangible assets

Net cash outflow from acquisition of
a subsidiary

Net cash inflow from disposals of
subsidiaries

Repayments from/(advances to)
associates

(Advances to)/repayments from
joint ventures

Proceeds from disposal of
investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Increase in unpledged bank deposits
with original maturity more than
three months

Net cash used in investing activities

Note
B 5

RERY
KEEEZRE
RITEX - —IFER

Bm A RIRITREAM
ERZEBHFE
HEABZEHMFE

BN FEH
S HRR

38(a)

(AR) /RAREXKZ
BEFH

REEK
2 UFE
BB E AR RS
EEaeartEIRE
//J\\E/E%ETXéQ%%

BEVE BELERE
HEME BFE k&

FriS k18
HE—EBZEREER
ZBEEMAFRE

BEEFEE

W —RHHEB AR Z
e m 8
HEMBARZ

IR & m AR
REBERTZEBIER
1B,/ (R AR FTIE
Zfﬁm&)
(MAEELEMEZ
BXR) REAED
¥ EENREA
HERALBEAELM
2HREREBZEE
FriS k18
R={EREFNEH
AR PR IR T 17 SR8 N

Sq P

38(b)(i)

38(b)(ii)

38(b)(iii)

ARREXB R FHE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

\\7r\ Eﬁﬁ /)ILE%%

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=F=A=+—BLFE

2023 2022
—EZ= . —
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
213,933 544,710
(133,463) (84,507)
(4,058) (4,218)
(92,449) (121,702)
8,981 8,253
B (7,056) 342,536
52,454 27,073
116,749 142,763
39,513 30,509
(85) (761,419)
(162,851) (299,972)
11,232 27,028
132,795 -
(1,947) (5,424)
- (7,969)
- 94,907
6,227 (17,623)
(9,977) 22,810
4,291 -
(464,712) (25,040)
(276,311) (772,357)
HtEBEEARAH
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108 <

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

/\\7|— |:l Eﬁi;ﬁ%%

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=F=A=+-HILFE

Financing activities

Capital reduction by a non-controlling
interest

Dividends paid

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests

Drawn down of bank and other
borrowings

Repayments of bank and other
borrowings

Payments of lease liabilities

Decrease in pledged bank deposits

Payments to acquire additional
interests in subsidiaries from
non-controlling interests

Net cash (used in)/from financing
activities

Decrease in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Effect of changes in foreign
exchange rates

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the year

Analysis of balances of cash and
cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash
Less: Pledged bank deposits
Unpledged bank deposits with
original maturity more than
three months

The notes on pages 109 to 244 are integral parts of these consolidated

financial statements.
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BMEXK
— IR

Mﬂ

B
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@ Z AR

RRHVRTT R A M B 5K
BEIRITREMBRR
HEREMRK

B ERTT 7 OB

FHH P 4 25 Mo B PR I
AR IME S 2 53K

(AR) /" REAMEXKZ
BEF8

RERREESEYRD

FOZRERAESEEY

HEERSH HE

FRZBEERBETEEY

ReRBReESEOWZER
vkl

RITEFERE

o B ERITER
R=A®&EH
ZEEMIRITIFR

2023 2022
—EZ= - —
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B R BETT BETT
- (23,789)
(135,868) (163,041)
(41,764) (38,006)
4,415,477 3,141,186
(4,508,804) (2,621,452)
(25,280) (26,980)
137,499 84,402
- (692)
,,,,,,,,,, (158,740) 351,628
(442,107) (78,193)
2,498,851 2,654,580
(49,561) 22,464
2,007,183 2,498,851
31 2,502,637 2,667,092
(5,702) (143,201)
(489,752) (25,040)
2,007,183 2,498,851
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Chevalier International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public
listed company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability. The
addresses of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and 22nd Floor, Chevalier Commercial
Centre, 8 Wang Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong respectively. The
Company has its shares listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding while
the activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 48 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollar, which is the same as the functional currency of the Company.
The consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue
by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2023.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). These financial
statements also complied with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) and the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by
the revaluation of investment properties, investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI") and
financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative
financial instruments) at fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL").

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are
disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

in e B AR A
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=F=A=+—BLFE
—RER
HIEBRERBER AT ([AQF])
REARLEmIEETFEETMK
YZBERRAE AR E M EER
£ E M B 2 ik 5 5 7 Victoria
Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM10, Bermuda % &8 /1
EELRMESKE TEEFRL2E-
HEOREBEBBERXHM AR QR
Fre

AARZEBEBARELER  ME
TEMBRAZERHNERAME
R MIFE48 o

I EGRAVBHRRABE LR B
RAIZNEE BB IR - KNx G B 15
KER-_ZE-_=ZFXNA-_ThLBK
SRS EEM-

EXRSHHEBE
MBNGEVBRERAEA TR
SR BREINWMT - BRBAZRBIN
HEBRROHERRAR2IZ S F
o

(a) IMBEEE
REBZERAVBERERDBES
BEHAAE ([EEGFMA
gl)MBEHRZEEYHHRELE
Bl (BEMEREEL]) mR -
WEFBHRERNFTEEE QA
) (Fe228) v HBEHTE R
EEBMERIMERARESL
MRAZBEBABERRT - HLEE
B M RE TR £ R AN E ) 4R
BOWEHEREME -RAAE
AR EAEKES ([EARE
AEMmEEmKEZG])EEREZE
BARBEAREI AR ([
ARBEIAEBZR])ERZTB
BENUBEAG (RETENE
TH)ZEHMmBE -

REBEWBREENFER &
EYBmAREREARLERS
AR Y BREEBHEHTA
SESERZBRETEREH
B-fF A M RRMEIWRET
BREBRABHEREZR =X
FEHGRAMBRRFLEAR
R MG 2B

HIEREEERAR
2023 F1f
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=+—BHLEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Amendments to existing standards that are effective for
the Group's financial year beginning on 1 April 2022

The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to
existing standards mandatory for the financial year of the
Group beginning on 1 April 2022:

e HKFRS 3, HKAS 16 and HKAS 37 (amendments),
“Narrow-scope Amendments”

e Annual Improvements Project (amendments) — “Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020"

The adoption of these amendments to existing standards
neither have significant impact on the Group's consolidated
results and financial position nor any substantial changes in
the Group's accounting policies and the presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

New standard, amendments to standards and
interpretation that have been issued but are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted by the Group
The following new standard, amendments to standards and
interpretation have been issued but are not yet effective for
the financial year of the Group beginning on 1 April 2022
and have not been early adopted:

e HKAS 1 (amendments), “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants"?

e HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 (amendments),
“Disclosure of Accounting Policies™!

e HKAS 8 (amendments), “Definition of Accounting
Estimates ™!

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

2 EREFHBEME (&)

(a) MBEE (F)

(i)

(i)
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EER 7 F RS

RMIRBERN 2 ZFEFTAN
UARKEZHEAXERTH
ARYBEERTE TFEYH
AEBZEABREGEARM
BHRE 22575 NEREM
EAEH-

EEMENRERNBELREER
WERARMN ZFETER -
EAlZBITXARRE

T 5 FTET 2R & B 2 & 5T
AERZBEELREM EEXR
SER=-ZZE-_—_FWMA—H
R 2 B BF E s R ER
TNEELR BT ER AN

o FAEGRERF IR (&
AR TRBHIFRD
BEIBEEMEREN
FRBAE]?

o HAGENEIRLE
AU BEREENEBQ
EHE22F(EFIA) T2
AR

o FEGRERFeH (&
AR [&EtEEt2E
e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(ii) New standard, amendments to standards and
interpretation that have been issued but are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted by the Group
(continued)

e HKAS 12 (amendments), “Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction”’

e HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (amendments), “Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture”?

e HKFRS 16 (amendments), “Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback"?

e HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 and February

2022 amendments to HKFRS 17), “Insurance
Contracts”’
e HK Int 5 (revised), “Presentation of Financial

Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause "?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

iR B IR AR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

2 EREFHBEME (&)

(a) IRBLEZ% (1)
(i) CEMAEERERBELRER
WEIBATERN Z FETEA -
HERZBITARRZE (&)

o FHERGRTEAF125 (&
AIAR) [E—RGME
TEEEMBEMERBZ
EIERIR ]

. BEEUBHELAED
T EEEPR
ACHESIIE'S £ T
HYEATLA DY

ZEEEIOEIAEE]®

o AAMBHEEIF 16
(BRI A)  [ERHE
B ZHONHEERE]?

o BAEMBHMEELNE7
E(RE_E_ZTF+
ARZE-_—_F-AK
BEAP B REERFE7
8UERIAR) ) [IRB &
#4y]

s FTAEBREFESH (KR
A [MBHmRZ=2
JI—fERAHEBARE
K& FE R Z EHE R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE-_ZT_=#=A=1+—HILtHE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EASHHREME (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Basis of preparation (continued) (a) MHEEE (H)
(i) CEMEERERBELRER

(ii) New standard, amendments to standards and

interpretation that have been issued but are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted by the Group
(continued)

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 and February 2022
amendments to HKFRS 17), “Insurance Contracts”

HKFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” will be effective for annual
periods from 1 January 2023. This standard will bring some
significant changes to the accounting for insurance and
reinsurance contracts.

The overall impact of establishing the contractual service
margin, as well as other measurement impacts on the
Group's assets and liabilities, has not been determined as
the transition work has not been finalised. The actual impact
of adopting HKFRS 17 on 1 April 2023 depends also on the
following factors:

- the new accounting processes and internal controls
required for applying HKFRS 17, which the Group is
continuing to refine; and

— the new accounting policies, assumptions, judgements
and estimation techniques, which are subject to change
until the Group finalises its first financial statements
that include the date of initial application.

A transition option is added to address the possible
accounting mismatches between financial assets and
insurance contract liabilities in the comparative information
presented on initial application of HKFRS 17 The Group is
assessing the impacts on the Group's financial statements.

Other than the above, the Group anticipates that
the application of the amendments to standards and
interpretation that have been issued but are not yet effective
may have no material impact on the results of operations
and financial position.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE M B MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EASHBEEME(H)
(CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of consolidation

(b) FEREER

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March 2023.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to
the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. ldentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the carrying
value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date;
any gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance
with HKFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9") with
the corresponding gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-
measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
ECEC=F=A=+-RALFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date
fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling
interest recognised and previously held interest measured
is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in profit or loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary, amounts
reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the
Group's accounting policies.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions —
that is, as transactions with the owners of the subsidiary in
their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of
any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the
carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in
equity. Gains or losses on disposal to non-controlling interests
are also recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest
in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at the date when
control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in
profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition,
any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE M B MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EASHBEEME(H)
(CONTINUED)

(c) Goodwill/discount on acquisitions

(c) WBELXZHE &

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary, an associate
or a joint venture, representing the excess of the consideration
transferred over the Group's interest in net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
acquiree at the date of acquisition. The Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, either at the fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportional share of the recognised amount of acquiree’s net
identifiable assets. If the Group recognises non-controlling
interest in the acquiree at fair value, goodwill includes the portion
attributable to the non-controlling interest.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of an associate or a joint venture
is included in the cost of the investment of the relevant associate
or joint venture.

Separately recognised goodwill is tested for impairment annually
or more frequently if there is indication that goodwill might
be impaired. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates and joint
ventures is included in investments in respective associates and
joint ventures and is tested for impairment as part of the overall
balance. For the purposes of impairment testing, separately
recognised goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated to each
of the relevant cash-generating units (“CGUs"), or group of CGUs,
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition.
A CGU or group of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication
that the goodwill may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a financial year, the CGU or group of CGUs to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the
end of that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the
CGU or group of CGUs is less than the carrying amount of the unit,
the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other assets
of the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly
in profit or loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, an associate or a joint
venture, the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=+—BHLEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Goodwill/discount on acquisitions (continued)

A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary,
an associate or a joint venture represents the excess of the share
of net fair value of an acquiree'’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over the cost of the business combination and
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Contingent liabilities of an acquiree are recognised at the date of
the acquisition if the fair value of the contingent liabilities can be
measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are initially measured at fair
value at the date of acquisition.

Interests in associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the
case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the
voting rights. The results and net assets of associates are
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are
initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the
investee in profit or loss, and the Group's share of movements
in other comprehensive income of the investee in other
comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from
associates are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount
of the investment. Upon the acquisition of the ownership
interest in an associate, any difference between the cost of
the associate and the Group's share of the net fair value of the
associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for
as goodwill. Where the Group's share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the
entity, including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest
in the relevant associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the associates have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE M B MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EASHBEEME(H)
(CONTINUED)

(e) Joint arrangements (e) EEZH

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or
more parties have joint control and over which none of the
participating parties has unilateral control.

Under HKFRS 11, “Joint Arrangements”, investments in joint
arrangements are classified either as joint operations or joint
ventures, depending on the contractual rights and obligations of
each investor.

Joint operations

Joint operations arise where the investors have rights to the
assets and obligations for the liabilities of an arrangement.
Investments in joint operations are accounted for such that
each joint operator recognises its assets (including its share
of any assets jointly held), its liabilities (including its share of
any liabilities incurred jointly), its revenue (including its share
of revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation)
and its expenses (including its share of any expenses incurred
jointly). Each joint operator accounts for the assets and
liabilities, as well as revenue and expenses, relating to its
interest in the joint operation in accordance with the applicable
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Joint ventures o
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties AETER " BEEELHE B

that have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. The
results and net assets of joint ventures are incorporated in the
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of
accounting.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are
initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses
of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group's share of
movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in
other comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable
from joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the
carrying amount of the investment. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in a joint venture, any difference between
the cost of the joint venture and the Group's share of the net
fair value of the joint venture's identifiable assets and liabilities
is accounted for as goodwill. Where the Group's share of
losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its
interest in the entity, including any other unsecured long-term
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless
it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
other entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=+—BHLEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Joint arrangements (continued)

(f)

Joint ventures (continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interest in the relevant joint venture. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the
joint ventures have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received or receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had
been recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, is cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid or
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE M B MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EASHBEEME(H)

(CONTINUED)
(f) Financial instruments (continued) (f) & THE(F)
(i) Financial assets (i) AEEE

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently at FVOCI;

e those to be measured subsequently at FVPL; or

e those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group's business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms
of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
either be recorded in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss. For investments in equity instruments that are not
held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has
made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to account for the equity investments at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=+—BHLEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Financial assets (continued)

Measurement (continued)

e Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group's business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are
three measurement categories into which the Group
can classify its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets, impairment losses,
foreign exchange gains and losses, and gain or loss
arising on derecognition are recognised directly in
profit or loss.

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets' cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition of impairment
losses or reversals, interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses which are recognised
in profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified from equity to, and recognised in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Financial assets (continued)

Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

- FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair value gains or
losses on equity investments in other comprehensive
income, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair
value gains and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in profit or
loss when the Group's rights to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from
other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with debtors, deposits
paid, amounts due from associates, joint ventures and
non-controlling interests, debt investments measured at
amortised cost and bank balances and cash. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=+—BHLEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment (continued)

For trade debtors, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime
losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the trade
debtors.

Impairment on financial assets measured at amortised cost
other than trade debtors is measured as either 12-month
expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses,
depending on whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a financial asset has occurred since
initial recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit loss.

When there is a significant increase in credit risk or the
financial assets are not settled in accordance with the terms
stipulated in the agreements, management considers these
financial assets as under-performing or non-performing and
impairment is measured as lifetime credit loss.

When management considers that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, the financial assets measured at
amortised cost will be written off.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. The Group's financial liabilities are
classified into financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss and other financial liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted in respect of financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE M B MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EASHEEBE(H)
(CONTINUED)
(f) Financial instruments (continued) (f) & THE(F)

(i) ¥HBEBERBRATA (&)

(ii) Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at FVPL are financial liabilities held for
trading on initial recognition. At the end of each reporting
period subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities
at FVPL are re-measured at fair value, with changes in fair
value recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including amounts due to joint
ventures and non-controlling interests, creditors, bills
payables, deposits received, lease liabilities and bank and
other borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

(iii) Derivatives and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at their fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value
depends on whether the derivative is designated as a
hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being
hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as either:

e fair value hedges, which are hedges of the fair value of
recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment; or

e cash flow hedges which are hedges of a particular risk
associated with the cash flows of recognised assets
and liabilities and highly probable forecast transactions.

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=F=A=+-HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EASHBEEME(H)

(CONTINUED)
(f) Financial instruments (continued) (f) B THE(HF)
(iii) Derivatives and hedging activities (continued) (i) STETAREHEIE (&)
At the inception of hedging, the Group documents the RETS e REE B Y
economic relationship between hedging instruments and 5‘?15\;@%’?5#‘1@9 2 S E R

hedged items, including whether changes in the cash flows R(REEAREBEHPT A
of the hedging instruments are expected to offset changes REREZEHIKEE HIE

in the cash flows of hedged items. The Group documents
its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking
its hedge transactions.

The fair values of various derivative financial instruments
designated in hedge relationship are disclosed in note 30
to the consolidated financial statements. Movements in the
hedging reserve in shareholders’ equity are shown in note
36 to the consolidated financial statements. The full fair
value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current
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asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged T A AR ITET A
item is more than twelve months; it is classified as a Z2ERARESEAERD

current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the EESAR BHHEE Z

hedged item is less than twelve months. Trading derivatives BTFHIORTZ@EA A

are classified as a current asset or liability. DEAERDEEXEE-E
%T/TEIE/\*EF_'IUILEQF
FBEE-

(I) Cash flow hedge (1) B mEHM
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REREE R ZTET
BZ2AREEHNAER
E‘BT%ECE@&EP B ¥

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges is recognised in the hedging reserve within
equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion

is recognised immediately in profit or loss. HER - AENXENDE
B RBRERERA
TR o

When option contracts are used to hedge forecast EHREHARYEHIE

transactions, the Group designates only the intrinsic R GE  NEB{EIE

value of the options as the hedging instruments. EHEANEEEBEREF
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Gains or losses relating to the effective portion of the
change in intrinsic value of the options are recognised
in the hedging reserve within equity. The changes in
the time value of the options that relate to the hedged
item (“aligned time value”) are recognised within other HENKEEEEZ S
comprehensive income in the costs of hedging reserve (IT—EEHEERE] R
within equity. HE 5 R R K AR R B
B fth 2 E M s TR o

.

=
g

124 < CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

(iii) Derivatives and hedging activities (continued)

(1)

Cash flow hedge (continued)

When forward contracts are used to hedge forecast
transactions, the Group generally designates only the
change in fair value of the forward contract related to
the spot component as the hedging instrument. Gains
or losses relating to the effective portion of the change
in the spot component of the forward contracts are
recognised in the hedging reserve within equity. The
change in the forward element of the contract that
relates to the hedged item (“aligned time value"”) is
recognised within other comprehensive income in the
costs of hedging reserve within equity. In some cases,
the entity may designate the full change in fair value of
the forward contract (including forward points) as the
hedging instrument. In such cases, the gains or losses
relating to the effective portion of the change in fair
value of the entire forward contract are recognised in
the hedging reserve within equity.

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified in the
periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss, as
follows:

— Where the hedged item subsequently results in
the recognition of a non-financial asset (such as
inventory), both the deferred hedging gains and
losses and the deferred time value of the option
contracts or deferred forward points, if any, are
included within the initial cost of the asset. The
deferred amounts are ultimately recognised in profit
or loss as the hedged item affects profit or loss (for
example through cost of sales).

— The gain or loss relating to the effective portion
of the interest rate swaps hedging variable rate
borrowings is recognised in profit or loss within
finance costs at the same time as the interest
expense on the hedged borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=+—BHLEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

(iii) Derivatives and hedging activities (continued)

(1)

(1)

Cash flow hedge (continued)

When a hedging instrument expires, or is sold or
terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the
criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative deferred
gain or loss and deferred costs of hedging in equity at
that time remains in equity until the forecast transaction
occurs, resulting in the recognition of a non-financial
asset such as inventory. When the forecast transaction
is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or
loss and deferred costs of hedging that were reported
in equity are immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge
accounting. Changes in the fair value of these derivative
financial instrument are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

(iv) Offsetting financial instrument

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
where the Group currently has a legally enforceable right
to offset the recognised amounts, and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The Group has also entered into
arrangements that do not meet the criteria for offsetting but
still allow for the related amounts to be set off in certain
circumstances, such as bankruptcy or the termination of a
contract.

(g) Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital
appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the Group, is
classified as investment property.

Investment property comprises land and buildings held under

leases.

Land held under lease is classified and accounted

for as investment property when the rest of the definition of
investment property is met.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost, including
related transaction costs. After initial recognition, investment
property is carried at fair value. Fair value is determined by
professional valuation conducted as at the end of the reporting
period. Changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g)

(h)

Investment properties (continued)

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the carrying amount
of the asset only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group and
the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance costs are expensed in profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Changes in fair values are recognised in profit or loss as part of
the other gains, net.

[f an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is
reclassified as property, plant and equipment, and its fair value
at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for accounting
purposes. If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes
an investment property because its use has changed, any
difference resulting between the carrying amount and the fair
value of this item at the date of transfer is recognised in equity
as a revaluation of property, plant and equipment under HKAS
16, “Property, Plant and Equipment”. Any resulting increase
in the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment
is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses
a previous impairment loss, with any remaining increase
recognised directly to revaluation surplus within equity. Any
resulting decrease in the carrying amount of the property, plant
and equipment is charged to profit or loss. Upon the subsequent
disposal of investment property, any revaluation reserve balance
of the property, plant and equipment is transferred to retained
profits and is shown as a movement in equity.

When an investment property undergoes a change in use,
evidenced by commencement of development with a view to
sale, the property is transferred to properties for sale at its fair
value at the date of change in use.

For a transfer from properties for sale to investment properties
that will be carried at fair value, any difference between the
fair value of the property at that date and its previous carrying
amount shall be recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets initially measured
on a present value basis at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group. These are presented within
“Property, plant and equipment” in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
ECEC=F=A=+-RALFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(h) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets)
are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for
as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
reporting period in which they are incurred.

Leasehold land commences depreciation from the time when
the land interest becomes available for its intended use.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs or fair values less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives at the following rates per annum:

Annual charge

Building Over the shorter of 20 to 50 years or
the remaining lease term

Leasehold land Over the remaining lease term
Leasehold improvements Over the remaining lease term

Right-of-use assets Over the remaining lease term
Machinery 10%
Furniture, fixtures, 10% — 33%s%
office equipment
and motor vehicles
Others 10% - 20%

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss arising from disposal or retirement of an asset
is determined as the difference between the net sale proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit
or loss.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

(i)

(k)

Other intangible assets

On initial recognition, intangible assets acquired separately and
from business combinations are recognised at cost and at fair
value respectively. After initial recognition, intangible assets
with finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation
for intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses.

Gain or loss arising from derecognition of an intangible asset is
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceed
and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Development cost of properties
comprise prepaid lease payments, development expenditure and
borrowing costs capitalised.

The net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less selling expenses and costs to
completion.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the first-in-first-out or weighted
average method. Net realisable value is determined on the basis
of anticipated sales proceeds in the ordinary course of business
less applicable selling expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=+—BHLEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

n

Properties for sale

Properties for sale are initially measured at the carrying amount
of the property at the date of reclassification from properties
under development. Subsequently, properties for sale are carried
at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

(m) Contract assets and contract liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group
obtains rights to receive consideration from the customer and
assumes performance obligations to transfer goods or provide
services to the customer.

The combination of those rights and performance obligations
gives rise to a net contract asset or a net contract liability
depending on the relationship between the remaining rights and
the performance obligations. An item of assets is recognised as
contract assets if a contract’'s cumulative revenue recognised
in profit or loss exceeds cumulative payments made by
customers. Conversely, an item of liabilities is recognised as
contract liabilities if a contract’s cumulative payments made by
customers exceeds the revenue recognised in profit or loss.

Contract assets are assessed for impairment under the same
approach adopted for impairment assessment of trade debtors
(note 2(f)(i)). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when
the Group transfers the goods or services to the customers and
therefore satisfied its performance obligation.

The incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer
are capitalised and presented as contract related assets, if the
Group expects to recover those costs, and are subsequently
amortised on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customers of the goods or services to which
the assets relate. The Group recognises an impairment loss in
profit or loss to the extent that carrying amount of the contract
related assets recognised exceeds the remaining amounts of
consideration that the Group expects to receive less the costs
that relate directly to providing those goods or services that
have not been recognised as expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n) Assets held-for-sale

(o

~—

Non-current assets are classified as assets held-for-sale when
their carrying amount is to be recovered principally through
a sale transaction and a sale is considered highly probable.
They are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell if their carrying amount is to be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use, except for assets such as deferred tax assets
and investment properties.

A remeasurement loss is recognised for any initial or
subsequent write-down of the asset to fair value less costs to
sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increase in fair
value less costs to sell of an asset, but not in excess of any
cumulative remeasurement loss previously recognised. A gain
or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the
non-current asset is recognised at the date of derecognition.

Non-current assets are not depreciated or amortised while they
are classified as held-for-sale.

Non-current assets classified as held-for-sale are presented
separately from the other assets in the consolidated statement
of financial position. Liabilities directly associated with non-
current assets classified as assets held-for-sale are presented
separately from the other liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks with original maturities up to three months
and bank overdrafts.

Pledged bank deposits are not included in cash and cash
equivalents.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(p)

Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be
made. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset when the
reimbursement is virtually certain.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time
is recognised as interest expense.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events that
is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of
economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation
cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements. When a change
in the probability of an outflow occurs so that the outflow is
probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group.

A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain,
an asset is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p)

(q)

(r)

Provisions and contingencies (continued)

The Group regards its financial guarantee contracts in respect
of mortgage facilities provided by banks to certain property
buyers, and credit facilities provided by financial institutions
to its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures as insurance
contracts.

Unearned insurance premiums and unexpired risk reserves
Unearned insurance premiums represent the estimated portions
of the premiums written which relate to periods of insurance
subsequent to the end of the reporting period and are deferred
to subsequent accounting periods. Unearned premiums are
computed on the basis of net premiums written for all classes
of insurance. Net premium written represents gross premiums
received or receivable after deducting reinsurance premiums.

Provision is made for unexpired risks arising from the expected
value of claims and expenses attributable to the unexpired
periods of policies in force which, at the end of the reporting
period, exceeds the unearned premiums provision in relation to
such policies.

Insurance claims

Claims paid and outstanding comprise claims paid, claims
reported but not yet paid and an estimate of claims incurred
but not reported (“IBNR") as at the end of the reporting period
which is calculated with reference to foreseeable events, past
experiences and trends.

Insurance claims are recognised when they are incurred and
reported. Incurred claims include the losses, related costs and
expenses paid during the year and the change in the reserve for
outstanding claims during the year. Reserves for outstanding
claims are reported on an undiscounted basis which include
reserves for reported claims and reserves for IBNR claims.

Every notified claim is assessed on a case-by-case basis. The
reserve of a reported claim is made by the claims handler based
on his experience and based on the information, documents
and the claim amount submitted by the claimant and is checked
by the officer before updating the information into the claims
system. The reserve is reviewed and revised regularly to reflect
the development of the claim and the change of the market
practice.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(r)

(s)

(t)

Insurance claims (continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group performs a
liability adequacy test to ensure the adequacy of the insurance
claim liabilities. In performing these tests, current best
estimates of all future contractual cash flows are made. Any
deficiency is immediately charged to profit or loss.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Revenue and income recognition

HKFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“HKFRS
15") establishes a comprehensive framework for determining
when to recognise revenue and how much revenue to recognise

through a 5-step approach: (i) identify the contract(s) with a
customer; (ii) identify separate performance obligations in
the contract; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate

the transaction price to the performance obligations; and (v)
recognise revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied.
The core principle is that a company should recognise revenue
when control of a good or service transfers to a customer.

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of the goods or
service is transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms
of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control
of the goods or service may be transferred over time or at a
point in time.

Control of the goods or service is transferred over time if the
Group's performance:

e provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

e creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the Group performs; or

e does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EASHBEEME(H)
(CONTINUED)

(t) Revenue and income recognition (continued)

(t) WMARKZER (F)

If control of the goods or service transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods or service.

Incremental costs incurred to obtain a contract, if recoverable,
are capitalised as contract assets and subsequently amortised
when the related revenue is recognised.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation of a construction contract is measured based on
one of the following methods that best depict the Group's
performance in satisfying the performance obligation:

e direct measurements of the value transferred by the Group
to the customer; or

e the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation relative to the total expected efforts
or inputs.

Income from sale of properties is recognised when the legal
assignment is completed or the property is accepted by the
customer, which is the point in time when the customer has the
ability to direct the use of the property and obtain substantially
all of the remaining benefits of the property.

Income from sale of goods such as information technology
equipment, motor vehicles and food and beverage are
recognised when goods are delivered and title to the goods has
passed to the customers. Revenue is arrived at after deduction
of any sales return, discount and relevant local tax.

Income from rendering of services such as provision of
maintenance and property management, warehouse and
logistics services and hotel and senior housing operations are
recognised over time when services are rendered. Receipt in
advance of provision of services are accounted for as contract
liabilities.

Premiums for direct insurance business and reinsurance are
recognised at date of risk inception.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, with reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to its net carrying amount.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(t)

(u)

Revenue and income recognition (continued)

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
Group's rights to receive payment have been established.

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the terms of the respective leases.

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the
period between the transfer of the promised goods or services
to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one
year, except for retention receivables which may not be fully
settled within twelve months after the end of the reporting
period. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.

Leases

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as
receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in the
leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods
so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group's
net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the terms of the relevant
leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease,
at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to
all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee at the date
when the leased asset is available for use by the Group, except
for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of
twelve months or less) and leases of low value assets (defined
as leases with a lease asset of US$5,000 or below, equivalent
to approximately HK$39,000). For short-term leases and low
value leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease unless another systematic basis is more representative
of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
assets are consumed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EASHBEEME(H)
(CONTINUED)

(u) Leases (continued)

(u) HE (&)

The Group as lessee (continued) TEBERAEBA (F)
Lease liabilities HEERE

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability
at the present value of the lease payments. The lease payments
are discounted by using the interest rate implicit in the lease.
If this rate cannot be determined, the lessee's incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value in a similar economic environment with similar
terms, security and conditions.

Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following
lease payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate;

e amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using
the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
costs. The finance costs are charged to profit or loss over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(u)

Leases (continued)
The Group as lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost comprising the
following:

e the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received;

e any initial direct costs; and
e restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. They are
depreciated over the remaining lease term on a straight-line
basis. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the
lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “Property, plant and
equipment”.

Lease modifications

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EASHBEEME(H)
(CONTINUED)

(v) Employee benefits

(v) BEERA

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period. Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Bonus plans
Provision for bonus plans is recognised when the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
services rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of
the obligation can be made.

(iii) Defined contribution plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
are charged as an expense as they fall due.

(w) Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated
at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net
of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in
profit or loss or capitalised over the period of the borrowings
using effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least twelve months after the end of the reporting year.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(x) Taxation

Taxation represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
period. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
profit or loss items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit, and is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, and interests
in associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is
realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same
taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(x)

(y)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets arising from
investment properties located in Hong Kong and Singapore are
determined based on the presumption that the carrying amount
of such investment properties will be recovered through sale
with the corresponding tax rate applied.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12,
“Income Taxes"”, requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial
recognition and over the lease terms due to application of the
initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in its
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates) at the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value has determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=+—BHLEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(y)

CHEVALIE|

Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms part
of the Group's net investment in a foreign operation, which are
recognised in equity in the consolidated financial statements.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss
for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses
are recognised directly in equity, in which cases, the exchange
components of that gain or loss are also recognised directly in
equity.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income as a separate component of equity, the
exchange fluctuation reserve. Such exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign
operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange differences so arising are recognised
in the exchange fluctuation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE M B MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EASHBEEME(H)
(CONTINUED)

(z) Impairment of non-financial assets

(z) kUBEENRE

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful
life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other
assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair
value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows
which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or groups of assets (CGUs). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting
period.

(aa) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the Directors of the
Company that make strategic decisions.

Segment assets mainly consist of non-current assets and
current assets as disclosed in the consolidated statement of
financial position except prepaid tax, unallocated bank balances
and cash, deferred tax assets and other unallocated assets.

Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities and non-
current liabilities as disclosed in the consolidated statement of
financial position except current income tax liabilities, bank and
other borrowings, deferred tax liabilities.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
(ab) Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable

assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate.

Government grants relate to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's major financial instruments include investments at
FVPL and FVOCI, investments at amortised cost, derivative financial
instruments, debtors and receivables, creditors and payables,
amounts due from/to related companies and non-controlling
interests, bank balances and bank and other borrowings and lease
liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes to the consolidated financial statements. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

3.1 Financial risk factors
(a) Market risk
(i) Interest rate risk
The Group's interest rate risk arises from bills payable,
amount due from a joint venture, amount due from/(to)
non-controlling interests, bank and other borrowings and
bank deposits at floating rates. Majority of the Group's
bank and other borrowings carry interests at floating
rates and expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk. The management monitors interest rate exposure
and hedges significant interest rate exposure by
using financial instruments such as interest rate swap
contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE M B MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Interest rate risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2023, if interest rates had been
increased/decreased by one percentage point and
all other variables were held constant, the post-
tax profit of the Group, would decrease/increase by
HK$19,289,000 (2022: HK$23,274,000), resulting mainly
from the change in the borrowing costs of bank and
other borrowings and interest income of bank deposits.

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed
to foreign currency risk arising from various currency
exposures. Foreign currency risk arises when
the Group's recognised assets and liabilities are
denominated in currencies that are not the entities’
functional currency.

The Group's financial assets that are exposed to foreign
currency risk mainly comprise of investments in debt
and equity securities, accounts receivable balances
arising from sales to overseas customers, bank balances
and cash and amounts due from related companies
and group companies (on entity level). The Group's
financial liabilities that are exposed to foreign currency
risk mainly comprised of accounts payable balances
arising from purchases from overseas suppliers and
amounts due to group companies (on entity level). It is
the Group's policies to ensure that the net exposure is
kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign
currencies at spot rates where necessary to address
short-term imbalances. The management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and hedges significant
foreign currency exposure by using financial instruments
such as foreign currency forward contracts.

For the year ended 31 March 2023
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-_ZE-_=%=A=+—HBIEE
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3 BB REEBEEREE
(CONTINUED) (#&)
31 B EREE (&)
(a) TIERER (&)
(i) SMERE R (£)
T e 9N FE & B 2 o) K Bt
BILA(TBREAEE

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)
(if) Foreign currency risk (continued)
Financial instruments under foreign currencies (other
than the functional currencies of the Group's entities)

that are exposed to foreign exchange risk are mainly
denominated in Australian dollar, British Pound,
Canadian dollar, Euro, Hong Kong dollar, Japanese Yen,
Macau Pataca, Renminbi, Singapore dollar, Swiss Franc,
United States dollar (“US dollar”) and Vietnam Dong.

CEZHIEEE)TE
PN RS 3N
ToEE ¥ -AE-
WPTEE - AR 3703
T EEERR - RTT (3%

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency T REEERER-
denominated financial assets and financial liabilities at AKEB AN BEN 2
the end of the year are as follows: MHEERMBAER
FRZEEREBENOT:
Assets Liabilities
BE af&E
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-= - S —E-= —Fq-=
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BET T BT T BET T
Australian dollar B IT 16,072 13,900 (6,347) (249)
British Pound e 25,609 46,314 - -
Canadian dollar mexx 173,280 235,333 - -
Euro (G 14,776 10,009 - -
Hong Kong dollar B 13,081 27,575 (689) (2,460)
Japanese Yen H 9,681 7,647 (1,382) (972)
Macau Pataca pdka 3 3 (491,532) (814,563)
Renminbi AR 156,497 186,414 (372) (25,164)
Singapore dollar N T 59,224 66,168 - -
Swiss Franc I 2% RP 7,826 7,539 - -
US dollar e 2,388,711 2,224,829 (9,866) (816)
Vietnam Dong WA 50,198 91,948 - -
Others Hh 85 3,319 - -

TRFHIANEE Z1EE
SECENEEE L

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to
every percentage point increase and decrease in the

functional currency of corresponding group entity
against the above foreign currency. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for every
percentage point increase in foreign currency rates.
Positive numbers below indicate an increase in profit/
investment revaluation reserve where the above foreign
currency strengthens every percentage point against
the functional currency of corresponding group entity.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(if) Foreign currency risk (continued)

(iii)

Increase in post-tax profit

Increase in investment revaluation

reserve

Price risk

(&)

B

mE B HARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
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31 BEKEREBREE (&)
(a) MEEK (&)
(i) ShEE B (4E)

T 18 )48 K138 hn

—E-=
HK$"000
BT

2023 2022

— = — —

=

HK$'000
BETT

23,562 19,937

REEMEEEMN

502 917

The Group is exposed to listed debt and equity
securities price risk because investments held by the
Group are classified on the consolidated statement of
financial position either as investments at FVOCI or

investments at FVPL.

If the prices of the respective quoted debt and equity
instruments of the Group had been increased/decreased
by one percentage point and all other variables held

constant:

— the post-tax profit and investment revaluation
reserve of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2023 would increase/decrease by HK$4,996,000

and HK$489,000

(2022:

HK$3,991,000 and

HK$903,000) as a result of the changes in fair
values of investments at FVPL and investments at

FVOCI respectively.

(iii) 1575 )& %

AEBEHER EHESR
PR ESFERRR I
THRASERFAZ
BENEZ A M BRI K
TOBRERAREIA
Hitp2mK S REIE &
BB AREINAEE
BRI ZIREME -

7 o 16 75 ¢ B A T
B 5 R @SS
mE s —EE S %
i B 5 24 7 0 R % 39
LN RTE

- AEEHE=-Z
T =F=A=+—
AIEFE2H#%ER
FEREEEHREE
IR | -
B4 996,0007T
N & ®489,0007T
(ZE==—F 8K
3,991,000 K& /& &
903,0007T) ' Bk o H#
RIEXARES AE
HEBEZIRE MK
RNABEIANEME
HMWHFEEZRE
ZRANRBEEBTE -

HIEREEERAR
2023 F1f

> 147



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR
For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-_ZE-_=%=A=+—HBIEE
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3 BIBXERMEEEEREBEK
(CONTINUED) (#&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 BHEREE (&)
(b) Credit risk (b) ESER B

The Group's holdings of investments at FVOCI, investments
at FVPL, investments at amortised costs, derivative
financial instruments, debtors, contract assets and other
receivables, amounts due from related companies and non-
controlling interests and bank balances which are subject
to expected credit loss model, expose the Group to credit
risk of counterparties. The Group's maximum exposure
to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure to
perform their obligations at the end of the reporting period
in relation to each class of recognised financial assets
is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position after deducting
any loss allowance.

Debtors of the Group may be affected by the unfavourable
economic conditions and the lower liquidity situation which
could in turn impact their ability to repay the amounts owed.
Deteriorating operating conditions for debtors may also
have an impact on management’'s cash flow forecasts and
assessment of the impairment of receivables. To the extent
that information is available, management has properly
reflected revised estimates of expected future cash flows in
their impairment assessments.

The Group has established different credit policies for
customers in each of its core businesses. The average credit
period granted to trade debtors is 0-90 days.

Bank balances and cash are also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9 but the identified impairment loss
was immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) Trade debtors and contract assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade debtors and
contract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade debtors
and contract assets have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The
Group used expected loss rates based on the ageing
for classes with different credit risk characteristics and
exposures. The expected credit loss rates are estimated
based on the historical credit losses experienced over
the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2023
and 2022 was determined as follows for trade debtors
based on the days past due:

B
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

EZT-=F=ZA=1+—HLEFE

3 MBEBREEEERERK
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31 M EBEE (&)
(b) FERARE (#)

EZEKREAREHE
E
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AEMEBEEMS A&KHE
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FR 2 BlLRIE A
EREHEREEER
BREGTEBEHNEEBR-

RITERHEEER
BIRRERRADE
ECRBEAREERR
FEMEBHBE#ESE-
AEBFRERZEHE
BEXREBEABETEEE
[ B R R R B AR R
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EHMEEBRXDRE
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ZBEEEEBERLRM
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FEEPHEBRENR
BN ZERERE
ZHREREBMEEZ
CREN

BHEZEE BHEHE
WEREZmE RN =
TR ZE =
A=+—BRE®AHA
oz EEREET
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Up to 61-90 Over
60 days days 90 days Total
60K A 61-90% EiEI0K HEE
HK$"000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETRT BETT BETR BETRT
31 March 2023 —E-=
=A=+-—H
Gross carrying amount RmERSE 604,346 7,304 73,294 684,944
Loss allowance B (307) (279) (42,974) (43,560)
Expected loss rate TBHBEX 0.05% 3.82% 58.63%
HtEREEERAR
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=+—BHLEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

(ii)

HHEEREEEREREXK

(&)

31 M EBEE (&)
(b) FERRE (#)

Trade debtors and contract assets (continued) i) BEZEKEAXLEEHE
E (&)
Up to 61-90 Over
60 days days 90 days Total
60K A 61-90K HE#EI0K e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
BETIT BETIT BT BT T
31 March 2022 —E--F
=A=+-8
Gross carrying amount RHEERS 806,542 27,428 53,538 887,508
Loss allowance IR (3) (348) (29,975) (30,326)
Expected loss rate EHEBEX 0.00% 1.27% 55.99%
Trade debtors are written off when there is no ELBEAEIEHTKE
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that RIER ETHESE
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, W BR Fk -8 B & 12 78 B
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a A E R IE 2 EIE R
repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make (ERBE)EBK AR
contractual payments for a period of greater than 90 EAREB T ERETE
days past due. VA B2 5K B 7 180 HA #8 1890
KB LI
No contract asset was considered impaired as at 31 RZEBEZ_=ZFRK_F
March 2023 and 2022 as the expected credit loss for —ZF=ZHA=+—8"
respective balances are considered as minimal. REAMNEGEHNEEWHR
BRE B REEGE
WIEHEEEE®SRA
E‘%/J\ °
Other debtors, amounts due from associates, joint (i) H it FE Y BR 31 - FE UL B

ventures, non-controlling interests and bank balances

The loss allowance for other debtors, amounts due from
associates, joint ventures, non-controlling interests
and bank balances as a result of applying the expected
credit risk model was sufficiently provided for.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(iir)

(iv)

Debt investments carried at amortised cost

All of the Group's debt investments at amortised cost
are considered to have low credit risk, and the loss
allowance recognised during the year was therefore
limited to twelve months expected losses. Management
consider “low credit risk” for debt investments when
they have a low risk of default and the issuers have
strong capability to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term.

Financial guarantees

The Group has assessed the credit risk arising from
guarantees given to financial institutions for credit
facilities granted to certain property buyers and
associates taking into consideration the realisable value
of the underlying projects/assets. The Group does not
expect any significant credit risk arising from these
guarantees.

The Group does not have any significant exposure to
any individual debtors or counterparties.

(¢) Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain prudent liquidity risk
management and flexibility in funding by keeping sufficient
cash and cash equivalents, readily realisable marketable
securities and to have committed short term and medium
term credit lines available.

The Directors believe that the Group has obtained sufficient
committed and uncommitted general credit facilities from
banks for working capital purposes.

iR B IR AR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3 BB REEBEEREE

(CONTINUED) (%&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 BKRBEE (&)

(¢) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) E€REB R (&)
The Group's liquidity position and compliance with loan ARNREBREZTYERAE
covenants are monitored closely by the management of BzrBEeRAKRETE
the Company. The Group provided guarantees to banks in RERHBE R - AEB G EFT
connection with mortgage facilities of certain buyers of BRYVENE TERNES
properties developed by the Group (note 41). The Group WM IRITIREER (T
does not anticipate material outflow of resources, arising 41) AEBEEH B TSR
from the guarantees. BRMOHEORERKERD
The following table details the Group's contractual maturity TREJAEBRREER
for its financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period. BB EZAELBEBER-
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted ZFME TR R AN & B AT RE AR
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest BRI HREEHZHB
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table BEBEZAMBRENER
includes both interest and principal cash flows. BleoZRBRBEENERERR

ZHERE-

Total
Less than More than undiscounted Carrying
1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5years  cash flows amounts

FHE

YR-%  -E@F  REIF BRI RIAEAE REE
HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HKS$'000
B®Tn  ERTR  ERTn  E%Tn ERTR ERT:n

2023 ZBIZE
Amounts due to joint ventures EREELEERR 9,576 - - - 9,576 9,576
Amounts due to non-controlling EREERERER

interests 259,998 243,990 4,426 9,599 518,013 513,572
Creditors and payables ERETRENTE 798,027 196,670 - - 994,697 994,697
Bank and other borrowings FAREMER 962,873 1,030,637 2,005,988 674,266 4,673,764 3,881,128
Lease liabilities HERE 20,892 20,237 42,805 24,718 108,652 96,221
2022 —EC-CE
Amounts due to joint ventures ERALELEER 13,162 - - - 13,162 13,162
Amounts due to non-controlling EREERERER

interests 259,833 239,187 - - 499,020 499,020
Creditors and payables EREFRENTE 732,834 176,197 - - 909,031 909,031
Derivative financial instruments TEMETIER

(gross settled) (BBEE)

- outflow — i 1,779 - - - 1,779 1,779

- inflow A (1,731) - - - (1,731) (1,731)
Bank and other borrowings BIREMER 2,488,276 730,605 531,664 693,182 4443727 4,019,900
Lease liabilities HEEE 25,249 19,795 51,448 32,349 128,841 109,234
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-_ZE-_=f=A=+—HILEE
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3 BIBERMEEEERBEK
(CONTINUED) (#&)
32 EREABERE

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern while
maximising the returns to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balances.

The Group regularly and closely reviews and manages its capital
structure to provide cost efficient funding to the Group and its
companies and make adjustments to the capital structure in
light of changes of economic conditions or corporate needs.

The Group monitors the capital on the basis of net debt to
equity ratio, which is expressed as a percentage of net debt
(comprises total debt less bank balances and cash) over total
equity. Total debt represents bank and other borrowings.

The net debt to equity ratio of the Group is as follows:

AEBEEREAZ BREARER
SEFELEZRN AKEBR
RIZMES MR G AR
US> FNCIE &

AEBETERET RS LEEE
BRGER NAASEREET
RARENTARARD 2 ES
W EBRMKBRFTRKZEE
HERGEBIELAR-

AEERFEGEBRL R 2 E
BEREN REERFER (8
RBEBRRTEFLRES)Y
Mgz AN BMEMERT
R EALE 3R

7Kt B 2 OF 75 R 2 R 40
T

2023 2022
—EC-=H T —F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BET T

Total debt (note 34) BETS (P 5E34) 3,881,128 4,019,900
Bank balances and cash (note 31) RITEFNRIBS (BF5E31) (2,502,637) (2,667,092)
Net debt FET 1,378,491 1,352,808
Total equity BiE 10,992,500 11,226,593
Net debt to equity ratio FEGEERELE 12.5% 12.1%

Pursuant to the Hong Kong Insurance Ordinance (Cap. 41),
all authorised insurance companies are required to maintain
an excess of assets over liabilities of not less than a required
solvency margin. For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022,
the Group's relevant subsidiaries complied with the solvency
margin requirements as set out by the relevant authorities in
Hong Kong.

RIBEARBRERY (F41F) -
FrEERBREBATHAREE
ERHABEZEETLRRTZ
EBENEEE BHE-_T-_=ZFK
R F=ZRA=+—HIF
B -AEERBNBARIETE
BHEBERERG BN EHESR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3
(CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation
The table below analyses the Group's financial instruments
carried at fair values by level of inputs to valuation techniques

to measure fair values. Such inputs are categorised into three
levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

e Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

e |nputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

e |nputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level
3).

The following table presents the Group's financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair values as at 31

MBEERBEEREEERERXK
(%)
3.3 DAEME

TREARFEAREBZHBES
EFMREABBNER DA
SEZEARBEIRZHH TR
BB AZELIDBERAER
BAZ NI =EEA:

s FHHEREEXRBEELR
MG ZRE (RAE) (F—
) e

s HFHEERBGBZH AR
TEERE—HANZRE
AT EE (AER)KBE
(BN EEAR S| BR (F
—) -

s HHUEEXABZHABE
I FER 1K AT B ER 2 T 3B BUK
(AR B2t AEIK)
(F=4) -

TREIARZZE_=ZFR_F
=A==+ —HEARER

March 2023 and 2022: EZAEENBEERMBA
f&:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& B E=&K Mz
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T BET T BET T
2023 —EZZF
Financial assets BREE
Investments at FVPL BEAREHNAEBZR
BIREZIEE
- debt securities — BB E S 388,564 32,843 888,589 1,309,996
— equity securities — AN FE 5 173,250 - 75,007 248,257
Investments at FVOC| BRARBEIIAEAM
TENREREZEE
— equity securities — AN FE 5 48,892 - 1,312 50,204
Derivative financial PTEGBIA
instruments - 796 - 796
610,706 33,639 964,908 1,609,253
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B IR AR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE
HEBRBEEEERKE
(%)
3.3 A AEME (&)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3
(CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& BE-m E= e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETIT BRI BETIT BETT
2022 —E-=
Financial assets BMBEE
Investments at FVPL BEAREYABZ
BRBZ®RE
- debt securities —EBEF 243,619 11,121 692,396 947,136
- equity securities — RN 5 208,820 - 79,416 288,236
Investments at FVOCI RARBEIIAEAM
PHBREEZRE
- equity securities — RN 5 90,311 - 1,427 91,738
Derivative financial PTHEVBIA
instruments - 65 - 65
542,750 11,186 773,239 1,327,175
Financial liability MBAaE
Derivative financial PTHEMBIEA
instruments (47) - (47)

The Group uses quoted market prices for financial assets
included in level 1. The quoted price used is the current bid price
that is most representative of the fair value.

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives)
are determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

ME-—RAZHBEEMS &
SERAMERE-FAFANEKRE
REMBEEERERRAREZ
ERER

VEEERMS EBEEZVBL
B (MBI TTETR)ZRARE
FRHEERLEE - ZEHES
FRERBABRZMS K
(el 58 THRELEBERLE
BEMF -MAETEARER
EZBERE ASIEATEE
AlZTEBAE_H-

W—AKZHEANGEABIEIL I
ERABEmSHE AZITA
B AE =/
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=+—BHLEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3
(CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments
include:

e Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar
instruments;

e The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is calculated
as the present value of the estimated future cash flows
based on observable yield curves;

e The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is
determined using forward exchange rates at the end of the
reporting period with the resulting value discounted back to
present value;

e For unlisted securities or financial assets without an active
market, the Group establishes the fair value by using
valuation techniques including the use of recent arm’s
length transactions, reference to other instruments that
are substantially the same, reference to net asset value
of investee and discounted cash flow analysis, making
maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as
possible on entity-specific inputs; and

e Debt securities classified as financial assets at FVPL
included a debt instrument with fair value of approximately
HK$820 million (2022: HK$596 million) which relates to
the financing of the development project of a church
and a senior housing facility in Hong Kong. The fair value
was derived by an independent external valuer based on
discounted cash flow method. The estimated cash flows
used in the assessment are based on assumptions, such
as estimated cash proceeds generated from the senior
housing facility, estimated development cost and discount
rate. The assumptions used in the fair value assessment
determination involve estimates and judgements, and any
deviation from the estimates may result in increase or
decrease in fair value. For example, any increase in the
discount rate, any increase in the development costs or
any decrease in the estimated cash proceeds, with other
variables remain constant, if adopted, would result in a
lower fair value.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

HHEEREEEREREXK

3.3 A REME (&)
RAETHMB T AMGEZFEMR
BHABHE:

BUTAEZMSREHRS
P RIE

MEBBEN 2 AAERE
A EBRZE S MR ARE
RenEzRENE:

ERINESHZARENA
REEMRZEMERE
o URAERERBRERE:

RYBEBMS 2ELED
ERAMBEEMS A%
ERABEEDERETEHERD
RAE ETEEMNBOHBA
FRP S2BREMAHAR
ZIE 2RERERAZ
BEFELRGRRERED
- ZANBATEHEERE
EIRBERFEEE R

DEAEREARBINAEIRER
BrUBEEZERESFE
ERELBES 201 T (=
T F M5 961ETL) 2
BEHETA WEEEE—H
Hek—HLERSHHBE
RIEBEZBMERMB-BLIN
HEEMEMRESRES
HE QA RE R HREATHE
ZHERERENENSZE
B Bl & & iEAT
EEZHEFREMBRE:
HET AR AR KRR R R
EEAnEITHMAZER
BEMEFTRAE  FAKE
HEt 2 RBEATE QA E T
hn skt A o 5 a0 - T {AT BA 3R
8 0 - 1T (7] B R AR AN 35 0
ARG ET IR € P8 3R
D(EMEERFAE) (B
) BERREANE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE M B MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—HBLFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3 BB REEBBEEREE

(CONTINUED) (&)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 AREME (&)
There were no transfers of financial instruments between levels BE_Z-_=FRk-_ZE-__F=

AZT—HLEEFE ZSHIAR
ERBzZRAMEYHTAERE-

in the hierarchy for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

TREIIBE=RIABERENE

The following table presents the changes in level 3 fair value
hierarchy of financial instruments for the years ended 31 March
2023 and 2022:

&) :
Debt Equity
securities securities Total
BXkESH BAEH AR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BET T
At 1 April 2022 R-E-—FmA—H 692,396 80,843 773,239
Additions NE 202,782 6,280 209,062
Receipt for capital returns L EE= N (29,355) - (29,355)
Fair value gain recognised in other ~REMEEUWHRIERZ
comprehensive income NAERE - 4,271 4,271
Fair value gain/(loss) recognised in ~ RIEBRERZ A RE
profit or loss ez, (E8) 27,504 (8,983) 18,521
Disposal e - (4,291) (4,291)
Exchange realignment & B (4,738) (1,801) (6,539)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZT-=fF
=A=+—H 888,589 76,319 964,908
At 1 April 2021 R-ZZT-_—FMA—H 644,689 1,370 646,059
Additions NE 100,100 79,320 179,420
Receipt for capital returns L EE= N (28,848) - (28,848)
Fair value gain recognised in other ~REMEEUWRERZ
comprehensive income NAERE - 10 10
Fair value loss recognised in profit ~ RIERERZ A RE
or loss &5 18 (26,874) - (26,874)
Exchange realignment & A B 3,329 143 3,472
At 31 March 2022 NWZE -
=A=+—H 692,396 80,843 773,239
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=+—BHLEFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 4

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal to the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are discussed below:

(a) Fair values of investment properties

The valuations of investment properties held directly by the
Group are made on the basis of the “Market Value” adopted
by the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors (“HKIS") and/or
the International Valuation Standards Council (“IVSC") and/
or the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (“RICS").
They are performed in accordance with the HKIS Valuation
Standards on Properties published by the HKIS and/or the
International Valuation Standards published by the IVSC and/or
the RICS Valuation — Global Standards published by the RICS.
The valuations are reviewed annually by qualified valuers by
considering the information from a variety of sources including
(i) recent market transaction prices in an active market for
properties of different nature, condition or location, adjusted to
reflect those differences; (ii) recent market transaction prices
of similar properties in less active market, with adjustments to
reflect any changes in economic conditions since the date of
the transactions that occurred at those prices; and (iii) rental
income derived from existing tenancies with due provision
for reversionary income potential based on market conditions
existing at the end of the reporting period.

These methodologies are based upon estimates of future
results and a set of assumptions specific to each property
to reflect its tenancy and cash flow profile. The fair value of
each investment property reflects, among other things, rental
income from current leases and assumptions about rental
income from future leases in light of current market conditions
including open market rents, appropriate capitalisation rates
and reversionary income potential. For the year ended 31 March
2023, capitalisation rate in the range of 2.5% to 13.25% (2022:
3.89% to 13.25%) were used in the valuation. The fair value
also reflects on a similar basis, any cash outflows that could be
expected in respect of the property.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Fair values of investment properties (continued)

As at 31 March 2023, if the market values of investment
properties had been 10% (2022: 10%) higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, the carrying values of the Group's
investment properties would have been HK$476,525,000 (2022:
HK$474,925,000) higher/lower respectively.

Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amounts of property, plant and equipment have been
determined based on the higher of their fair values less costs
to sell and value-in-use, taking into account the latest market
conditions and past experience.

Impairment assessment for goodwill

The Group tests whether goodwill has suffered any impairment
in accordance with accounting policies stated in note 2(z) to
the consolidated financial statements. The recoverable amounts
of CGUs or groups of CGUs have been determined based on
value-in-use calculations or their fair values less cost to sell,
whichever are higher. Where discounted cash flow forecast is
used to estimate the recoverable amount, it requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from CGUs
or groups of CGUs and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows
or estimated transaction price, which applicable, are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise. Details are set
out in notes 16 and 39 to the consolidated financial statements
for details.

RE BN
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—HBLFE

4 BRETMEFTRAE (&)

(a)

(b)

(c)

REWEZDANE (BE)
N—ZZE-_=F=A=+—H8 &
FTEEMAB8ERXRFIEZIB
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=+—BHLEFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)
(d) Fair values of unlisted investments at FVOCI and FVPL and

(e)

(f)

derivative financial instruments

The fair values of unlisted investments at FVOCI and FVPL
and derivative financial instruments that are not traded in an
active market are determined by using valuation techniques as
detailed in note 3.3. The Group uses its judgement to select
a variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly
based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting
period, including the purchase price paid by the Group, the
investees’ financial position and results, risk profile, prospects,
including trend and other factors. Any change in any of the key
assumptions used would result in increase or decrease in fair
values.

Net realisable values of properties under development and
properties for sale

The Group writes down properties under development and
properties for sale to net realisable value based on assessment
of the realisability of properties under development and
properties for sale which takes into account cost to completion
and cost to sell based on past experience and net sales value
based on prevailing market conditions. If there is an increase
in cost to completion or cost to sell or a decrease in net sales
value, the net realisable value will decrease which may result in
writing down properties under development and properties for
sale to net realisable value. Write-downs are recorded where
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances
may not be realised. The identification of write-downs requires
the use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, the carrying value of
properties under development and properties for sale is adjusted
in the period in which such estimate is changed.

Determination of insurance liabilities

The Group's insurance liabilities mainly comprise provision for
outstanding claims. The Group determines these estimates on
the basis of historical information, actuarial analysis, financing
modelling and other analytical techniques. The estimated
insurance liabilities are affected by assessed net loss ratio.
As at 31 March 2023, assessed net loss ratio was 75% (2022:
61%). Differences resulting from reassessment of insurance
liabilities are recognised in subsequent consolidated financial
statements. The Group continually reviews the estimates and
makes adjustments as necessary, but actual results could differ
from what is envisioned when these estimates are made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(g)

(h)

Construction contract

Revenue from construction works is recognised over time, and
is dependent on management's estimation of the total outcome
of the construction contract, as well as the work done to date.
The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract value,
contract costs, variation orders and contract claims prepared
for each construction contract as the contract progresses.
Revenue from construction works is measured in accordance
with progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligations. Budgeted construction costs are prepared by the
management on the basis of correspondence between the
Group and its major contractors, suppliers or vendors involved
and the experience of the management. In order to keep the
budget accurate and up-to-date, the management conducts
periodic reviews of the management budgets by comparing
the budgeted amounts to the actual amounts incurred. A
considerable amount of judgement is required in estimating
the contract value, contract costs, variation works and contract
claims which may have an impact in terms of progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance obligations and
recognition of profit.

Income taxes

As at 31 March 2023, deferred tax asset of HK$80,697,000
(2022: HK$102,613,000) in relation to unused tax losses had
been recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly
depends on whether sufficient future taxable profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. In cases
where the actual taxable profits generated are more or less than
expected, additional deferred tax assets or reversal of deferred
tax assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit or
loss for the period in which such an addition or a reversal takes
place.

Also, the Group as well as associates and joint ventures are
subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions, mainly in Hong
Kong, Mainland China and overseas. Significant judgement is
required in determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(i)

(i)

(k)

Control over investees accounted for as subsidiaries

Certain investees are considered to be subsidiaries of the
Company despite the equity interests therein are not more than
50% of the relevant investees. Based on the contractual power
pursuant to the relevant shareholders’ agreement between the
Group and the other shareholder, the Group has the majority
voting power in the board of directors in the respective
investees, by which the relevant activities that significantly
affect the return of the investees are determined, and hence
has control over these investees. Accordingly, those investees
are accounted for as subsidiaries of the Company.

Consolidation of senior housing business in the United
States of America ("USA")

The Group's senior housing business in the USA is operated
by different professional senior housing operators. Significant
judgement is required in determining whether Group is a
principal and similarly, whether the operator is an agent in this
business. Management considered the Group has exposure to
the risks and return associated with rendering of services and
therefore regarded the Group as the principal. Accordingly, the
financial results and operations of this business is consolidated
in the Group's financial statements.

Determination of lease term and discount rate for lease
liabilities

In determining the lease term, management considers all
facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive
to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination
option. Extension options (or periods after termination options)
are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably
certain to be extended (or not terminated).

In determining the lease term, the following factors are normally
the most relevant:

e if there are significant penalties to terminate (or not extend),
the Group is typically reasonably certain to extend (or not
terminate);

e if any leasehold improvements are expected to have a
significant remaining value, the Group is typically reasonably
certain to extend (or not terminate);

e otherwise, the Group considers other factors including
historical lease durations and the costs and business
disruption required to replace the leased asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(k) Determination of lease term and discount rate for lease
liabilities (continued)
In determining the discount rate, the Group is required to
exercise considerable judgement in relation to determining the
discount rate taking into account the nature and location of the
underlying assets, and the terms and conditions of the leases at
the commencement date.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The operating segments are determined based on the reports
reviewed by the Directors, the chief operating decision-maker, that
are used to make strategic decisions. The Directors consider the
business from a product/service perspective.

Principal activities of the segments are as follows:

Construction and engineering: Construction and engineering work for
aluminium windows and curtain walls, building construction, building
supplies, civil engineering, electrical and mechanical engineering,
environmental engineering, and lifts and escalators.

Property investment: Properties rental business.

Property development and operations: Property development and
management, cold storage and logistics and hotel operations.

Healthcare investment: Senior housing business and medical office
building investment.

Car dealership: Retailing, trading and servicing of motor vehicles.

Others: Sale and servicing of information technology equipment
and business machines, food trading, general insurance business
(except aircraft, aircraft liabilities and credit insurance), investment
in securities, food and beverage and freight forwarding services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

imE BRI EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

B

5

E-T-_ZFZA=Z+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment revenue is measured in a manner consistent with that
in the consolidated income statement, except that it also includes
the Group's share of revenue of associates and joint ventures on
a proportionate consolidated basis. The sales from associates and
joint ventures to the Group and sales between individual associates
and joint ventures are not eliminated.

The Directors assess the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of segment results. This measurement includes
the Group's share of results of associates and joint ventures on a
proportionate consolidated basis. Unallocated corporate expenses,
unallocated finance income and costs and taxation are not included
in segment results.

Segment assets mainly consist of current assets and non-current
assets as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial
position except prepaid tax, unallocated bank balances and cash,
deferred tax assets and other unallocated assets.

Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities and non-
current liabilities as disclosed in the consolidated statement of
financial position except current income tax liabilities, bank and
other borrowings and deferred tax liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023
REVENUE

Total revenue

Intersegment revenue

Group revenue

oM BRENE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
 E T _ZFZAZ+—HLEFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 2EER (#&)

(a) Revenue and results

(a) MAREE
Property
Construction development
and Property and  Healthcare Car
engineering investment  operations investment  dealership Others Total
BER NERRR  REEE

BHIE W=RE g8 RE  RERR At 4%
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BRTR  RRTR  BRTR EWTR  BRTR ERTn AETR

BE-E-ZE-R-t-HLEEE

WA

BRA 3176133 188221 609910 797,323 1,410,008 1,040,869 7,222,464
AELERA 33,434) (1,883)  (46,124) - - (4097)  (122.412)
SEBA 3142699 186,338 563786 797,323 1,410,008 999,898 7,100,052

Share of revenue of associates and joint ventures FEBERERAELERA 1,655,883 - 24,233 122,841 398,218 123,897 2,325,072
Proportionate revenue from a joint venture eliminated BYHERE-HAELEL

ILAMRA (2,020 - - - - - (2,020)
Segment revenue 2ERA 4796562 186,338 588,019 920164 15808226 1,123,795 9,423,104
Revenue from contracts with customers: ZEANZHA:
- recognised at a point in time -EE-REED 21,766 - 133981 3465 1,367,032 490,114 2,016,358
- recognised over time -fE-BRAER 3,120,898 - 425079 793,858 14,994 39,445 4,394,274
Revenue from other sources RREELZHA 35 186,338 4,126 - 27982 470339 689,420
Group revenue EEUA 3142699 186338 563786 797,323  1410,008 999,898 7,100,052
RESULTS E4
Segment profit/(loss) before finance costs, net NREHBERANAERA/

(E#8) 327,46 230,168 127,719 (111952)  (56,033) 39,454 556,602
Finance income BHWA 2,613 15562 9,556 3,907 3,709 21,507 42,854
Finance costs BEER (1882)  (15,203) - (52547) (10,414 (2454) (82,500

Segment profit/(loss| after finance costs, net

Included in segment profit/(loss) are:

Share of results of associates

Share of results of joint ventures

Depreciation and amortisation, net of amounts allocated
to contract work

Impairment loss on properties for sale

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment

Increase in fair value of investment properties

Unrealised gain/(loss) on investments at fair value
through profit or loss

Provision recognised for inventories to net realisable
value, net

Provision recognised for trade and other debtors, net

Provision written back for properties for sale

NREHBERENAERT/
(Bi) 321977 216521 137275 (160592)  (62,738) 58507 516,956

AREN/ (BB 8%

NS | 189,663 - 2 - - (15830 173,859
Fihaet sz 353 - (19193)  (30,503) (12) - (49,35)
TERBE NRIRZAN
T8 (11,213) (1,009)  (64721)  (78,169)  (37,907)  (18,755)  (211,854)
FENEZAESE - - (23,294) - - - (23,294)
nE BEREGZAERR - - - (9,604)  (19,380) - (28,984)
REMEZDRERD - 99,460 1518 - 1,140 1761 103,879
BAREINERREZ AN

FERNE/ (BE) - - - 28,730 - (44638) (15,908
BRAGERAZIERSE
8 (13) - - - (8,828) (578) (9,419)
ERAEAREMENEN 2 BE
8 (1,841) - (7.256)  (16,490) - (477)  (26,064)
BRGENZ ER - - 30,000 - - - 30,000
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

5 2EEN(FE)

(a) Revenue and results (continued) (a) MAREE (F)
Property
Construction development
and Property and  Healthcare Car
engineering  investment  operations  investment  dealership Others Total
BER MERER  REEE
BRIE  MERE BE %&  HERA Eft g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEfr  RMTT B%TR BT BT BETn BETx
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE-E--EZRA=1-ALEE
REVENUE WA
Total revenue amA 3,292,750 152,901 1,491,087 806,304 1,811,137 1280693  8834,872
Inter-segment revenue AEZERA (132,098) (2034 (44782) - - (21525 (200439)
Group revenue EEWA 3,160,652 150,867 1,446,305 806,304 1,811,137 1259168 8,634,433
Share of revenue of associates and joint ventures FIEBERARAEREUA 1,835,359 - 64665 123520 479,466 93877 2,596,879
Proportionate revenue from a joint venture eliminated ~ EHERE-HALLEL
EOAILON (398) - - - - - (398
Segment revenue 2EUA 4,995,613 150,867 1,510,960 929,826 2,290,603 1,353,045 11,230,914
Revenue from contracts with customers: EFAHZHA
- recognised at a point in time -EE-BEED 23,785 - 1,089,002 - 1765831 607614 3485932
- recognised over time -E-BERED 3,136,832 - 3B)TR9 806,304 14,766 39800 4,350,461
Revenue from other sources ERRREEZBA 3B 150867 4544 - 30840 611754 798,040
Group revenue EEUA 3,160,652 150,867 1,446,305 806,304 1811137 1259168 8,634,433
RESULTS EL
Segment profit/(loss) before finance costs, net NRFHBERANAERA/
(E8) 34476 3719413 267,949 (2232 (38008 20363 961961
Finance income BRI 2427 1,03 8488 249 2402 2371 19,204
Finance costs HBER (359) 2,141) - (4438 (7,906) (1639) (56,330
Segment profit/loss) after finance costs, net NRFHBERENAEER/
(E#B) 336,544 378,306 276,437 (44,121) (43,512) 21,201 924,855
Included in segment profit/(loss) are: AR/ (BR)EE:
Share of results of associates Y UGS 163,254 - ) - - (18493) 144,756
Share of results of joint ventures Fihaetsss 15 - 14720 95,371 1347 - 82,013
Depreciation and amortisation, net of amounts allocated ~ TE R & AR AEZAH
1o contract work TEZEE (9,633 (6470 (60171)  (81583)  (40533) (192500 (211,817
Impairment loss on properties for sale BENEZRESE - - (732) - - - (732)
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment nE BEREGLAEER - - - (8,158 (19,520 - (27678
Impairment loss on goodwill BB REER - - - (4,040) - - (4,040)
Increase in fair value of investment properties RENEZLABED - 288719 - - - - 288719
Unrealised (loss)/gain on investments at fair value through AL EFIABERE 2 REH
profit o loss AER(BR) /& - - - (5289) 4550 (66471)  (87,200)
Provision written back/recognised for inventories tonet B/ (BBR) FERAEZTEE
realisable value, net FE R 15 - - - (5,967) 779 (5,173)
Provision recognised for trade and other debtors, net EEREAREMENESN
B BE (133 - [18251)  (14043) 67) (149 (32,643)
Note: B 5
Inter-segment revenue is charged at prices determined by the Directors DEZERBRAZRSGEERAESK
with reference to market prices. BHiSEKEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—HBLFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 28EER (&)
(a) Revenue and results (continued) (a) WARESE (F)
Total segment revenue is reconciled to the Group's revenue in BAOBWABLREERNGE W
the consolidated income statement as follows: FARZWASRRNT
2023 2022
—Eg-= —_=__
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Total segment revenue moygmeA 9,423,104 11,230,914
Add: Proportionate revenue from a joint  AN: ¥ K E —HAEE ¥
venture eliminated z®memes 2020 398
Less: Share of revenue of associates B PTIEBEE AR A E D E
and joint ventures WA
Construction and installation BENTEESD
contracts 921,293 1,145,268
Maintenance and other services RE R E MRS 734,590 690,091

Sales of motor vehicles and MEREMZEE
others 398,218 479,466
Food and beverage B8R 123,897 93,877
Leasing of properties YEMEE 122,841 123,522
Hotel operations HIE &8 20,594 26,478
Sales of properties MEEE 3,639 38,177

N 2,325,072 . 2,596,879
Total revenue in the consolidated Riza R ER 2 2 A

income statement (note 6) (KI7Ee) 7,100,052 8,634,433

Reconciliation of segment profit to profit before taxation is

7> ¥4 B 2 R B A a8 1) 2 5 BR a0

provided as follows: ™

2023 2022
—s=-= —E=—-—

HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BET T
Segment profit gyl 516,956 924,855
Unallocated corporate expenses Ao EESTH (53,215) (50,902)
Unallocated finance income RO BB A 9,600 7,849
Unallocated finance costs A EER (54,712) (32,262)
Profit before taxation B 7% A ) 418,629 849,540
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e BN
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Assets and liabilities

5 2EEN(FE)
(b) EEREE

Property
Construction development
and Property and  Healthcare Car
engineering investment  operations investment  dealership Others Total
BER NERER  REEE

BBIR  NERE £E RE  RERE 2 8%

HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

B¥Tn  AMTn  BETn  BETn  BETn  BMTR  BETR
At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=EZR=+-H
ASSETS BE
Segment assets PEEE 2402500 4,741,165  5521,709 3,330,123 1,159,985 2,766,836 19,922,318
Included in segment assets ars: PEEERE:
Interests in associates BENAZER 716,609 - - - - 393 720543
Interests in joint ventures BEREER 14,198 - 300701 690,373 78,364 - 1,083,636
Amount due from an associate EH-HBELARR 19,015 - - - - - 19,015
Amounts due from joint ventures ERAEGEER 4 - 109,645 - - - 109,649
Additions to non-current assets [note FEERDEE (M) 18,126 10440 441567 55,963 26,306 60712 613,116
LIABILITIES g%
Segment liabilities 2EAE 2,124,243 99,526 376,333 388,040 434390 1,484,034 4,906,566
Included in segment liabiliies are: NEBERE:
Amounts due to joint ventures ERAEREER - - 9,512 - 64 - 9,576
At 31 March 2022 RZF-Z%£=R=1-R
ASSETS BE
Segment assets PEEE 1,956,671 4858354 5516915 2812213 121093 2,942,580 19,297,686
Included in segment assets are: PEEERE:
Interests in associates BENFZER 656,467 - - - - 0,479 676,946
Interests in joint ventures AEREER 13,846 - 335436 755,506 88,656 - 1193344
Amounts due from associates e -IN 25,034 - - - - 208 25,242
Amounts due from joint ventures ERAEHEEN - - 102263 - - - 102,263
Additions to non-current assets (note FEERDAE (M) 18872 765,105 724,890 83,025 41194 144343 1,777,429
LIABILITIES g%
Segment liabilities ARER 1,876,013 88204 417534 355340 451,987 1,286,081 4,475,249
Included in segment liabiliies are: HEEERHE:
Amounts due to joint ventures ERARLERR - - 12,876 - 286 - 13,162
Note: B E -

FRDEERRMB TR BEAF
ZHm AEbEZED BEEREA
A T R YOI P R A IR A SN Y
FRBEE-

Non-current assets represent non-current assets other than financial
instruments, interests in associates, interests in joint ventures, deferred
tax assets and amounts due from non-controlling interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Assets and liabilities (continued)

(c)

Note: (continued)

Reconciliation of segment assets and liabilities to total assets and

iR B IR AR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

5 2EEN(FE)
(b) EEREE (f

&)

BsE: (&)

DHEERABEAEERAE

liabilities is provided as follows:

Segment assets DEEE
Prepaid tax FERHIE
Unallocated bank balances and cash ROBBITEFRES
Deferred tax assets REFRIEE BE
Other unallocated assets HEh RO EE
Total assets WA E
Segment liabilities DEBEE
Current income tax liabilities EHMGHEaE
Bank and other borrowings RIT R HMER
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIBEEE
Total liabilities #weE

Geographical information

ZEERIT

2023 2022
—E-=F - fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T ok i
19,922,318 19,297,686
26,802 21,947
280,596 807,707
70,803 69,055
18,929 18,500
20,319,448 20,214,895
4,906,566 4,475,249
101,085 89,210
3,881,128 4,019,900
438,169 403,943
9,326,948 8,988,302

(c) HEESR

The Group's operations in construction and engineering
businesses are mainly carried out in Hong Kong, Mainland China,
Macau and Australia. Property investment businesses are mainly
carried out in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Canada, Singapore
and the United Kingdom. Property development and operations
businesses are mainly carried out in Hong Kong, Mainland China
and Canada. Healthcare investment businesses are carried
out in Hong Kong and the USA. Car dealership businesses are
carried out in Mainland China and Canada. Other businesses are
mainly carried out in Hong Kong, the USA, Mainland China and
Thailand.

The associates’ and joint ventures’ operations in construction
and engineering businesses are mainly carried out in Hong Kong,
Mainland China, Singapore and Macau. Property development
and operations businesses are mainly carried out in Hong Kong
and Mainland China. Healthcare investment businesses are
carried out in the USA. Car dealership businesses are carried
out in Mainland China. Other businesses are mainly carried out
in Hong Kong and Australia.

AEBREREBIRERE
BEERB PEAM RFIRR
MNEE - MEREXBIERSR
B RBERM - INEKR BN K
REEE-MEERIEEERK
TEERE PERABENER
BE-RBEEREXBERB
KMEBEFE - AEREEHES
B R ne XEE LXK
AIXTEEFE XE HEAM
REEES-

BERRRASDLEZ EZERK
MIEXGETEERSE TEHRA
Mo AN KORFIE A - W) E B
EREEEXRGEEZERERT
N EF - RIEFEREXZHE
KEEE-REREEBET
NIEE - EMEBAETEES
78 ROBME A

HIEREEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 oEER (&)

(c) Geographical information (continued)

(c) HEER (&)

Segment revenue by geographical areas

EHEHSZAEUA
Company  Associates Company  Associates
and and joint 2023 and and joint 2022
subsidiaries ventures Total subsidiaries ventures Total
RAAR  BEAAR -B-=F RRAR  BERRR ZF-C
HWEAR RELE &g HERR REDRE &g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT % BYTTL BETTL BYETT %
Hong Kong 3 4,093,803 665,505 4,759,308 51 4473158 665,585° 5,138,743 45
Mainland China RE R, 1,338,847  1,188966 2,527,813 27 2306027 1479206 3785233 34
USA %8 935,972 122,841 1,058,813 1 946,055 123522 1,069,577 10
Canada nex 370,770 - 370,770 4 381,806 - 381,806 3
Singapore ;g 12,838 292,329 305,167 3 12,586 289,831 302,417 3
Macau 43 252,227 24,719 276,946 3 373,496 18,807 392,303 3
Thailand %8 48,831 - 48,831 1 60,204 - 60,204 1
Australia BN 18,542 28,243 46,785 0 74,265 19,200 93,465 1
United Kingdom g 28,222 - 28,222 0 6,836 - 6,836 0
Others L4 - 449 449 0 - 330 330 0
7,100,052 2,323,052 9,423,104 100 8634433 2,596,481 11,230,914 100

# The proportionate revenue from a joint venture is eliminated.

The Group maintains a healthy and balanced portfolio of
customers. No customer is accounted for 10% or more of the
total revenue of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2023
and 2022.

The following is an analysis of the carrying amounts of non-
current assets, excluding financial instruments, interests in
associates, interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets
and amounts due from non-controlling interests analysed by
geographical areas:

Hong Kong aBA
Mainland China A i
USA EE
United Kingdom TR
Singapore b
Canada mEX
Macau B
Thailand ZH
Others Hi
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fokBE-HAEREZRELAIK
ACHWE -

AEBRBEELAEG2REFAE
B VERFPEHAEBEHE_ZT
TR IE =A==+ —
BIEFEHERAI10% KA L -

LTI RTBRRYHTA BEAQ
AlziEm RELEZED R
FER TR & B M 8 W IR 2 IO 25 PR
RZzBwRE D 2 IFRDEER
EED

Non-current assets

IRBEE
2023 2022
—EC-=HF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
3,635,938 3,681,504
2,019,032 2,030,828
1,673,429 1,848,273
618,552 703,836
493,535 461,250
234,999 256,795
41,882 43,663
6,966 7,268
2,768 252
8,727,101 8,933,669




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE M B MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—HBLFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(d) Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers

The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities
related to contracts with customers:

Contract assets AREE

— construction and engineering —IRENEMTIE
Contract liabilities AHEaE

— construction and engineering —RENEMTIE

— property development and —EBERREE

operations

- healthcare investment —REEBEKE

— car dealership —RERE

- others —HAth

TEEN (&)

d) BEFENFHENEERRARE
AEEBRANTEEFPAKNER

Contract assets have increased as the Group has performed
more construction and engineering works ahead of the certified
progress by customers and/or their consultants.

Contract liabilities have increased mainly from construction and
engineering as the Group has more prepayments received from
customers and an increase in overall contract activities.

MEBEENMAIE:

2023 2022

—g=-= —T=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT
193,070 179,035
367,164 223,975
8,384 8,987
7,990 5,632
9,645 21,811
14,361 13,723
407,544 274,028

BHEERMEARAKERE
F X,/ 3% % B e REEEA
TR EENEMTIE-

TEREREREMIEZAL
AEENEENRASEEEP K
BRZANRIEBEARBRALE
Bhig e

HIEREEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 2B&ER (&)
(e) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (e) MENEBZEBRAWA
The following table shows the amount of the revenue TREHNARE RS #ERK
recognised in the current reporting period relates to contract ABEFYIENBEREREN
liability balance at the beginning of the year and the amount BLRERBAREETHNENE
relates to performance obligations that were satisfied in FHENSE:

previous period:

2023 2022
—E=-= —E=-=
HK$000 HK$ 000
BETT BT T
Revenue recognised that was included FFAFVIANBESREL
in the contract liability balance at the B R A
beginning of the year
— construction and engineering — R N M, T AR 13,331 5,183
- property development and operations —MEBERREE 8,987 423,734
- healthcare investment —(REHEBRE 5,532 6,338
— car dealership —RERE 20,052 18,471
- others —HAftb 13,712 15,590
61,614 469,316
Revenue recognised from performance RERBEHBET
obligations satisfied/partially satisfied HhBITHENEE
in previous period 2 HERKA
- construction and engineering —IEENHEWMITRE 4,793 11,895
(f) Unsatisfied performance obligations (f) MRXBITHEYOEE
The following table shows the amount unsatisfied performance TREY|RTBH AR & —F A%k
obligations resulting from construction and engineering for AEMENPRERKKTEE
contracts with an original expected duration of one year or ERRMARBITREAOEENSRE:
more:
2023 2022
—Eg-= —_=__
HK$000 HK$ 000
BETT BT
Expected to be recognised within one year FEHIRA —F N HER 3,105,559 4,134,896
Expected to be recognised after one year TEER —F 2R 7,133,926 3,672,409
10,239,485 7,807,305
For all other contracts with an original expected duration of one RIEEEIR B —FH—FUA
year or less or are billed based on time incurred, as permitted HIFT B E M & 4 SR IR 35 A
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these W ER &9 R I - *ETF% BB WmE
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed. AR E155% DEEZ B ARTK
& ,\'JE’JSQ%LT&—ITT’E%ZE% o
(g) Assets recognised from costs to fulfil a contract (9) AERENTHEAEBRREE
As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, there is no asset recognised RZE—=FK-_FT-__F=H
from costs to fulfil a contract. =+ —H - UEATKE DS

AR TER D EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE

Revenue represents amounts received and
receivable from:

Construction and installation contracts

Sales of information technology equipment,
motor vehicles and others

Senior housing operations

Maintenance and property management
services

Warehouse, logistics and freight forwarding
services

Insurance premium

Leasing of properties

Sales of properties

Hotel operations

Dividend and interest income from
investments

Leasing of vehicles and equipment

Food and beverage

Total revenue (note 5)

OTHER INCOME

Sales and marketing services income from
an associate (note 45)

Management fee income from an associate
and joint ventures (note 45)

Service fee income from associates
(note 45)

Government grants

Compensation income

Handling fee income

Others

= AN
A= ER

ZpZE e

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—HBLFE

6 WA
2023 2022
—Eg-= —_=__
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
WAEKBUATREZ
B R GROE
BELRTEAGHN 2,980,732 3,009,325
BB S B REAM
ZHE 1,549,244 1,936,302
LZEREEE 797,323 806,304
REMMEEE
AR %% 476,882 449,561
BE MRk EERE
AR %% 430,188 548,258
Rig B 425,218 577,917
MEME 199,340 165,010
LES NS 101,709 1,055,546
B E &8 52,385 20,480
REKEZRBERFE
A 44,341 33,261
RERRERE 23,072 23,984
BER 19,618 8,485
LA (FI5Es) 7,100,052 8,634,433
7 HilA
2023 2022
—Eg-= S —
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BET T
RE—MBERARZHE R
™5 HEE RIS WA (B 5E45) 37,812 36,465
RE—HBERARIRAELEY
EEBEWA (MF45) 22,835 22,755
REBZEARZREBUIA
(Pt 5F45) 449 594
XS 18 BN 48,154 24,557
HEKA 2,575 24,604
FEBWRA 3,429 4,023
HAty 8,941 12,827
124,195 125,825
H+EREEERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR B IR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

8 OTHER GAINS, NET

8 Hitbis  FH

2023 2022
—E-=5F —_=EFq_-—
HK$000 HK$ 000
BT T BT
Loss on investments at fair value through BEARBEINAEBREEZ
profit or loss "EBE (14,456) (79,974)
Gain on derivative financial instruments PTHEFBTAE 2 WS 843 8
Increase in fair value of investment "EYE 2 A EE
properties (note 14) (KfsE14) 103,879 288,719
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant HEWE BMEMREZ
and equipment, net Wz (k58) 38 4,230 (5,878)
Loss on disposal of a senior housing HE—BZEREE£K 2 EE
business (note 38(b)(i)) (B 7E38(b)(i) ) (18,337) -
Loss on disposal of assets held-for-sale HERBELEEECEE (146) -
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries HEWB AR ZWE
(note 38(b)(iii)) ( B FE38(b) iii) ) - 8,471
Impairment loss on property, plant and Y BELREZRESRE
equipment (note 15) (FisE15) (28,984) (27,678)
Impairment loss on properties for sale SEMEZRESE (23,294) (732)
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 16) a2 BEEE (MF16) - (4,040)
Provision recognised for trade and other Eﬁﬁwféf%&,ﬁ\fﬂfgqﬂlﬁﬁmz
debtors, net Bim o FE (26,064) (32,643)
Provision written back for properties BEGEYE 2 EE
for sale 30,000 -
Exchange (loss)/gain EH (BB s (2,440) 7,235
25,231 153,488
9 FINANCE COSTS, NET 9 MBER FE
2023 2022
—E== —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Interest expenses on lease liabilities, HEBBE RITEX
bank overdrafts, a non-controlling interest — IR R RIRTT R
and bank and other borrowings HEMEmRzFEZTH 170,857 104,113
Less: Amounts capitalised to properties WBIEBRRERAYEZ
under development (note) BRI 5 (MisE) (33,645) (15,521)
137,212 88,592
Less: Interest income from bank deposits, il : & B ﬁEﬁﬁ%’\ .
promissory notes, an associate, EHEE - —RHBE AR
a joint venture and a non-controlling —F'ﬁ/\%*ﬁ%& FEVERR
interest HE &5 B9 AL B A (52,454) (27,073)
84,758 61,519
Note: B &L -

FEﬁﬁﬁAfiHﬁ?M%thﬁﬁf’E%%?"EZﬁ
EMEREFELRAE334% (T ==
FERB140% ) °

The capitalisation rate applied to funds borrowed and used for the
development of properties was 3.34% per annum (2022: 1.40% per annum).
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10 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation has been arrived at
after charging/(crediting) the following:

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (note 15)
Less: Amounts allocated to contract work

Staff costs (note a)
Less: Amounts allocated to contract work

Short-term lease payments in respect of
leasing of
— premises (note b)
— equipment

Auditors’ remuneration
- audit services (Company’s auditor and
its affiliates)
— audit services (other auditors)
- non-audit services (Company's auditor
and its affiliates)
— non-audit services (other auditors)

— under-provision in prior years

Amortisation of other intangible assets
(note 17)
Less: Amounts allocated to contract work

Provision recognised for inventories to
net realisable value, net

Cost of construction contracts

Cost of inventories sold

Cost of properties sold

Gross rental income of HK$199,340,000

(2022: HK$165,010,000) from properties
less direct operating expenses (note c)

iR B IR AR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

10 BR®E A1 % R

BB AR A Bk
(FEA) TFIIEE -

ME- BEMEEZITE
(PtsE15)
BN EEAHN IR ZEHE

BTRA (MEa)
B OEEENIREZEH

MELTHE 2 EHAE
o
—#2% (KiiEb)
&1

PG E
—EBR (KA
BHE R BB AR)
BB (B
—ERBRG (AAF
BHE R BB AR)
— SR BURT (E bt
BT )
—BEFERBTR
A
(B 5E17)
WAEEANTRY &8

ERRATEREETZR
HE - FHR

BEAHMAR

FEHERA

)% T 48 g A B
199,340,0007T (=T ==

£ #%165,010,0007T )
BEELESTH (Kise)

2023 2022
—EZ= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
211,749 198,675
(7,781) (3,335)
203,968 195,340
1,482,037 1,442,622
(293,442) (267,357)
1,188,595 1,175,265
5,706 7,166
2,755 2,657
8,461 9,823
7,582 8,167
10,025 8,679
687 285
3,899 2,372
393 382
22,586 19,885
9,215 16,483
(68) (6)
9,147 16,477
9,419 5173
2,832,221 2,888,555
1,395,916 1,747,953
54,710 801,031
(166,516) (122,052)
HtEBEEARAH
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e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=+—BHLEFE

10 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED) 10 BRBLAER (&)

Notes: Mo -

(a) Details of Directors’ emoluments included in staff costs are disclosed in (a) EFMECREEBEIKAAN  HiF
note 40 to the consolidated financial statements. BELRA M SRR M F40F HEE -
Included in staff costs are amounts of HK$833,000 (2022: HK$723,000) EIRABERAEIFEZEBKR
in respect of termination benefits made to staff and HK$35,860,000 1R #833,000T ( Z T = —4:
(2022: HK$34,531,000) in respect of contributions to defined 7 1£723,00070) & R E R KR
contribution retirement benefit schemes. F =t &l 30548 #635,860,000T (= &

= 4 1 5%34,531,0007T) °

(b) For the year ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no contingent rental was b)) BEZZE =K _ZT-_—_F=A8

included in short-term lease payments in respect of leasing of premises. “t+—RALFE -HEEFEHA
EERTREXARS -

(¢c) Included in rental income is the Group's share of an amount of (c) HEeWABEARAEEK —HAEEK
HK$5,875,000 (2022: HK$5,380,000) less outgoings of HK$1,025,000 &R UL 2 FE & 5 5,875,000
(2022: HK$1,135,000) from a joint operation. Included in rental T (T - —4F:7%5,380,0007T)
income is a gross amount of HK$184,397.000 (2022: HK$157,667,000) WS S #1,025,000 (ZF = =
derived from investment properties less direct operating expenses of & #1,135,00070) cFHE AR
HK$28,861,000 (2022: HK$41,817,000). BEREREMEZEBSZWAEE

184,397,000 (ZE = _F : F ¥
157,667,0007T ) il B £ 48 & 2 18
#28,861,0007C (—Z T = — & : B
41,817,0007C) °
11 TAXATION 11 HIE
2023 2022
—E-= - —
HK$'000 HK$ 000
BT T BT T
Current tax KEFHIE
Hong Kong BB 54,748 48,774
Mainland China B A 3 18,142 87,914
Overseas NSEIN 22,391 35,112
Over-provision in prior years BEFEBERE (2,622) (62)
92,659 171,738
Deferred tax EER IR
Origination and reversal of temporary ERHEREEER
differences (note 37) ol & (Ff5E37) 56,995 (14,872)
149,654 156,866

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at the rate of 16.5% (2022:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits. Taxation on Mainland
China and overseas profits has been calculated on the estimated
assessable profits for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in
the countries in which the Group operates.

Details of deferred taxation are disclosed in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE M B MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—HBLFE

11 TAXATION (CONTINUED) 1 BIE (&)
Taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation e W R AR AR A AR FE
per the consolidated income statement as follows: WIBZ EERIMT
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$ 000
BET T BT
Profit before taxation B 50 AL A 418,629 849,540
Adjusted for: R EE
Share of results of associates PGBt N m) ¥ 4E (173,859) (144,756)
Share of results of joint ventures Fiida & hEE 49,355 (82,013)
294,125 622,771
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of AR B A E16.5%
16.5% (2022: 16.5%) (ZZ-—%:165%)
EBIEA 48,530 102,757
Effect of different tax rates on subsidiaries  fEE b AlE B B @ 48 &
operating in other jurisdictions B B8 A B R {5 AT B R
ZRE (8,567) 5,085
Changes in applicable tax rates WA EREE (328) (131)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TR 2 R IE & 55,552 40,914
Tax effect of non-taxable income BEARMBAZBIETE (44,025) (29,998)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RARTHERABRBEBZHREBETE 90,661 45,175
Tax effect of deductible temporary RYHEZRAUMBEREEZERE
difference not recognised MEZE 25,264 12,274
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses BABERTHER G
and deductible temporary difference &5 18 & o] R A 1
not previously recognised ERBIBARE (21,095) (48,960)
Over-provision in prior years BEFEBERE (3,335) (370)
Land appreciation tax deductible for BETEFBH 2 oI R
calculation of income tax purpose T I ER (2,392) (9,630)
Mainland China land appreciation tax BB A b b BE (B AR 9,567 37,794
Others Hity (178) 1,956
Taxation for the year FEME 149,654 156,866
HIEREEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE 12 BRER
The earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable FERAEFITIRIEAR QR K EEG S
to shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of MBpUEE - E-_=FF T - =
ordinary shares in issue during the years ended 31 March 2023 and FZA=Z+—RHLFEEETER
2022. Bz T EEE -
2023 2022
—®-= —E--
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Profit attributable to shareholders of KRN 7 B R A i A
the Company 233,888 644,523
2023 2022
—E-=F =
Weighted average number of ordinary BT E B AR 2 NKEFII 8
shares in issue (‘000 shares) (FR%) 301,928 301,928
Basic and diluted earnings per share (HK$) SREARRESARN (FE) 0.77 2.13
There were no potential diluted ordinary shares in existence for the BE_T-_=FK=_F__F=A
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. ST-BLEFEMBREEHEER
% o
13 DIVIDENDS 13 BRE
2023 2022
—s=-= —E=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T
Interim dividend of HK$0.10 Bk AR S R %0107
(2022: HK$0.15) per share paid (ZE2 =% : B¥%0.157T) 30,193 45,289
Final dividend of HK$0.28 R AR B AR B RE #E0.287T
(2022: HK$0.35) per share proposed (ZZ=—F: F%0.3570) 84,540 105,675
114,733 150,964
Final dividend of HK$0.28 per share totalling HK$84,540,000 has EEREARKREGRBK0.287T
been proposed by the Directors and is subject to approval by the & H 8 #84,540,0007T 0 HZBF AN
shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting. The amount BEARMZBRERBAFRS EEREH
will be reflected as an appropriation of retained profits for the year EB FAEE -2 BEEREE_Z
ending 31 March 2024. “HFE=ZA=+—BIFEIIER

B Az 7K -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

iR B IR AR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

14 REYE

2023 2022
—Eg-= = _

HK$'000 HK$ 000

BT T BT

At beginning of the year FH) 4,749,247 3,661,401

Exchange realignment M X AR (149,314) 31,988

Addition NE 85 761,419

Transfer from property, plant and EEREYE - HENLEE

equipment (note 15) (Kf7E15) 63,634 5,720

Transfer to property, plant and equipment EEREYE - HENLEE

(note 15) (Mf5E15) (2,280) -

Increase in fair value (note 8) nAEEN (HEEs) 103,879 288,719

At end of the year FR 4,765,251 4,749,247

Notes: BT -

(a) The fair value of the Group's investment properties in Hong Kong, (a) NEBEMREE FEANH RGN
Mainland China and overseas as at 31 March 2023 had been arrived REMER-_T_=ZF=R=+—
at on the basis of valuation carried out on that date mainly by CHFT BZAREDNREFTERZENLFEN
Advisory and Appraisal Limited and Carter Jonas LLP which are FF{EH BB AR K Carter Jonas LLP (It
independent firms of qualified valuers having appropriate qualifications BEUABKTHET WREB
and experience in the valuation of properties in the relevant locations. EEBETYMELMBEZABEERR
The valuation, which conforms to the HKIS Valuation Standards on KB EZRETZEEREEMB
Properties published by the HKIS and/or the International Valuation HeZzGEDETHESAEMESH
Standards published by the IVSC and/or the RICS Valuation — Global EHzEBNEMBTYEGEE
Standards published by the RICS, was arrived at with reference to Ak HEERGEEENESEEMG
market evidence of transaction prices of similar properties or calculated ZEBREEEANRRERRTA
on the net income allowing for reversionary potential. For all investment EMEEEM 2 ERFIT SRS
properties, their current use equates to the highest and best use. EHE-REKZETE28BMSE L

HUMEZZSHESD  FIRBAFE
B8 Wt RERZ(WE N -SLFT
BREWMEMS HEBAAERERE
SEMRERR-

(b) Investment properties in Hong Kong with a total carrying value of b) MMARBEZREMECRABLES
HK$77,667,000 (2022: HK$73,667,000) represented the Group's share 77,667,000 (ZE - —F B
of interest in a joint operation. 73,667,0007T) BAEBEFTE—HEE

B o
(c) Charges were created on the investment properties with a total carrying (c) BREAMBEB771,712,000L (=&

value of HK$771,712,000 (2022: HK$1,011,150,000) for the purpose of
securing banking facilities granted to the Group.

75 #1,011,150,0007T ) 2 %
EMECIERR EARTASEEER
TEEZER-

HIEREEERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRENE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

~. RT3 =
14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 14 REYE (F)
Notes: (continued) MisE: (&)
(d) Valuation of investment properties (d) BEWMHEZMHE
The following table presents the changes in level 3 fair value hierarchy TREIE=FRAABELE Tﬁﬂ'ﬂxﬁ
of investment properties for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022: MEBE_T_=ZFR-_FT_—
=A=+- EI 1E i Ez2%:
Commercial properties Residential properties Industrial properties Total
BENE FEhE I$0% @z
Mainland Mainland
Hong Kong China Overseas Hong Kong China Hong Kong Overseas
E HE R i3 E FERL e 5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
e BRI BRI BRI BRI BRI BRI BRI

At 1 April 2022 RZEZZEWA-A 436,017 136,498 743,774 43,890 1,225,185 1,599,697 564,186 4,749,247
Exchange realignment EHAZ - (11,008) (45,602) - (98,805) - 6,101 (149,314)
Addition RE - - - - - 85 - 85
Transfer from property, BRENE BREREE

plant and equipment (BizE15)

(note 15) - - 32,928 - - 30,706 - 63,634
Transfer to property, plant BRENE BRRAE

and equipment (note 15) (BizE15) - - - - - (2,280) - (2,280)
(Decreaselfincrease in DAECRD) /8

fair value [note 8) (GED) (21,400) 1,847 (41,755) (1,850) 108,391 29,831 28,815 103,879
At 31 March 2023 RZZE-ZZ£=/=+-H 414,617 121,337 689,345 42,040 1,234,771 1,658,039 599,102 4,765,251
At 1 April 2021 R-Z--EmA-AH 419,244 131,638 39,120 38,130 1,077,545 1,406,472 549,252 3,661,401
Exchange realignment JE 5 - 5,519 (21,443) - 46,927 - 985 31,988
Addition hE - - 743,679 - - 16,700 1,040 761,419
Transfer from property, EaNE BRRIE

plant and equipment (MizE15)

(note 15) - - - 5,720 - - - 5,720
Increase/(decrease) in DREEN/ R

fair value (note 8) (GED) 16,773 (659) (17,582) 40 100,713 176,525 12,909 288,719
At 31 March 2022 WZE-—F=A=+-H 436,017 136,498 743,774 43,890 1,225,185 1,699,697 564,186 4,749,247

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(d)

Valuation of investment properties (continued)

The Group includes a team that reviews the valuations performed by
the independent valuer for financial reporting purposes and reports
directly to the senior management. Discussions of valuation processes
and results are held between the senior management and valuers at
least once every six months, in line with the Group's interim and annual
reporting dates.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group:

e verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation report;

e  assesses property valuation movements when compared to the
prior year valuation reports; and

o holds discussions with the independent valuers.

Fair values of commercial, residential and industrial properties in
Hong Kong, Mainland China and overseas are derived using the direct
comparison method and income capitalisation method, as appropriate.
Direct comparison method is based on comparing the property to be
valued directly with other comparable properties, which have recently
transacted. However, given the heterogeneous nature of real estate
properties, appropriate adjustments are usually required to allow for any
qualitative differences that may affect the price likely to be achieved
by the property under consideration. Income capitalisation method
is based on the capitalisation of the net income and reversionary
income potential by adopting appropriate capitalisation rates, which are
derived from analysis of sale transactions and valuers’ interpretation of
prevailing investor requirements or expectations. The prevailing market
rents adopted in the valuation have reference to recent lettings, within
the subject properties and other comparable properties.

iR B IR AR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

14 REWE (&)

BisE: (&)

(d)

REMEZHE (B

AEEE S ENBE TG H
BHREBNMMEBEZER BzxE
BEEMSREEASHRSES -2RE
BAEBELERER (BAREHDH
KNEREHRE B ) BT (hAETT
—RIEEBERERT R -

REREHRR NEME:

REHBIGERENAEE
NN 6

A EAERALFEGER
SHBETHES: &

o BB AFMENETTR W

ER -PEAMMENER EER
ITEWEZAABRBERLEOE
L@ ERAMET A ERH (WE
B) BRELEEDERBEMREZ
MELEFIERFZEMA LR
MEEERLE AW ERFEHE
MEZEZE(NE  BEAREAT
EFXEEERATHODEMEZER
MERZZFHESHE - REEAR
OETERBBEABEE ZEARNL
oUW AEE R ZCE DT A
EARL MEREETBEBHFHER
ZZAMNMAEMEERREEZ
ERJMEBHIERMSH - EHET
RAzZRTmSES IREHZY
EREMA LR ELHHA
BRMETE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 14 REYXE (&)
Notes: (continued) MisE: (&)
(d) Valuation of investment properties (continued) (d) HEWMEZEHE(E)
There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year, BRBTFEHFERNMEEDED
except for direct comparison method was used for valuation of HERAEELEE UERFRET
residential properties in Mainland China in prior year and income BE R R MR A RS E AN
capitalisation method was used during the year, given insufficient FAMGERELESE( -

market data were available.

Significant unobservable inputs used to determine fair values BEEAREHRAZEXT A EHEE
A B 1%

Prevailing market rents are estimated based on recent lettings for WITMBEHEENERKREYWZE K

investment properties, within the subject properties and other EXHENDEREMAUHLERY

comparable properties. The lower the rents, the lower the fair values. ¥AZBHEHEBRAGE -He M

1K Bl Ao B -

Prevailing market rents used in the income capitalisation method: WamERNME A EAMARTMSES -
2023 2022
== —E-—F
Residential properties FEME
— Mainland China (per square metre (“sq. m.") —HEAN (FAFFEFK HK$178 to
per month) (T FEARAKD) HK$1,045 N/A
BEI178TE
1,045 T A iE A
Commercial properties BmEME
- Mainland China (per sq. m. per month) — R E A HK$16 to HK$17 to
(BRAEFHXK) HK$38 HK$42
BH16TE BEITTE
B HE38TT 7427
— Overseas (per square feet (“sq. ft.") - BINBAEFEAR HK$40 to HK$43 to
per month) (IFHFR])) HK$47 HK$52
BHs40TE B4 TTE
B4 T 7527
Capitalisation rates are estimated by valuers based on the risk BRI ERHTEHEHERGEEZ
profile of the investment properties being valued. The higher the REWMEZRBMR GG LXMW
rates, the lower the fair values. & A AREBE-

1 82 < CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(d)

Valuation of investment properties (continued)

Significant unobservable inputs used to determine fair values (continued)

Capitalisation rates used in the income capitalisation method:

Residential properties FEME
- Mainland China — B R
Commercial properties BMEME
— Mainland China — B A
- Overseas — g5

Comparing price per sq. ft. or per sgq. m. with other recently
transacted comparable properties formed the inputs under
direct comparison method, which is in average of approximately
amounted to HK$7,900 per sq. ft., HK$19,900 per sq. m.,
HK$11,300 per sqg. ft., HK$37,200 per sg. m. and HK$4,900
per sqg. ft. (2022: HK$7,500 per sq. ft., HK$27,400 per sg. m.,
HK$11,600 per sq. ft., HK$62,400 per sq. m. and HK$5,400 per
sqg. ft.) for commercial properties in Hong Kong and Mainland
China, residential properties in Hong Kong and Mainland China,
and industrial properties in Hong Kong respectively as at 31
March 2023.

iR B IR AR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

14 BREYE (F)
GEZRC D)

REME 2 HE (F)

BEAAEFRAZEXNT B EE
ABE (&

W EARNMe AR RE AR :

2023 2022
—E-=F —_F-—
2.5% to 6.5% N/A

2.5% %£6.5% i
7% to 13.25%
7% £13.25%
4.9% to 5%
4.9% £5%

7% to 13.256%
7% £13.25%
3.89% t0 4.75%
3.89% £4.75%

HEEMA L EMENSFH R
BYAARERARSERBREEZL
BETHRASE RZTE_=F=
A=+ —B&BRTREANMEED
¥ FEMTBRAMEEDELE S
TEYHEZEBRFHESNNES
FHRE7 90T FFH KB
19,9007t * & F 75 R % #11,3007T
FFFHKBEI7200 L EBFHRE
4,900 (ZE-—F :GFEARE
#7,5007T & F 5 KB #27,4000T
HFFHRABEEEI 600 FFFHK
62,4007 R F F 75 R 5,400
JL) °

HIEREEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 YE BERRKHE

Furniture,
Plant, fixtures, office
machinery  equipment
Cold storage Hotel Other and  and motor Right-of-use
warehouse properties properties  equipment vehicles assets Total
BH-£E-
BE BAZRE
REER BEENE Hit%E BERRE RAE FEREEE sy
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BT BRI BETT BETT BETT BRI
Cost or valuation RASEE
At 31 March 2021 RZB--F
—A=t-H 62,149 142,540 1,749,327 109,048 501,018 1,857,723 4,421,805
Exchange realignment BHAE - 1516 16,523 2,652 3,169 21,552 45,412
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-EHEAR
(note 38(b)fii) (B3 =E38(b)il ) - - - - 3,968 2,369 6,337
Additions RE - - 32,876 24,896 75,549 222,400 355,721
Disposals fe& - - (24,328) (12,297) (15,439) - (52,064)
Transfer to assets held-forsale BRERENELE
(note 46) (Ftt46) - - (11,275) - 2,082) - (13,357
Transfer to investment properties ~ EBZRENE
(note 14] (Fiztr4) - - - - - (5,720) (5,720)
Lease modification HEEI - - - - - 128 128
Lease expiration/termination RERR/HL - - - - - (4,036) (4,036)
At 31 March 2022 RZB-ZF
“A=t+-H 62,149 144,056 1,763,123 124,299 566,183 2,094,416 4,754,226
Exchange realignment R AR - (9,341) (13,979) (6,722) (5,813) (45,403) (81,258)
Additions NE - - 20,734 19,246 119,033 24,566 183,579
Disposals HE - - (1,019) (14,452) (4,354) - (19,825)
Disposal of a senior housing HE-BREREEE
business (note 38(b)(i) (F £38001)) - - (134,855) - (9,025) (46) (143,926)
Transfer from investment BREARENE
properties (note 14) (HizE14) - - 410 - - 1,870 2,280
Transfer to investment properties ~ EBZERENE
(note 14) (Fiztr4) - - (85,592) - - (170) (85,762)
Lease modification HEE - - - - - (1,914) (1,914)
Lease expiration/termination MEREM/ L1 - - - - - (84,217) (84,217)
Change in fair value AREED - - 31,230 - - - 31,230
At 31 March 2023 i =
Zf=1+-H 62,149 134,715 1,580,052 122,371 666,024 1,989,102 4,554,413

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE M B MR

020 =]
For the year ended 31 March 2023
(ZE_T_=F=ZR=+—HILEFE

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 15 YE BERKXE (F)

Furniture,
Plant, fixtures, office
machinery  equipment
Cold storage Hotel Other and and motor  Right-of-use
warehouse properties properties  equipment vehicles assets Total
GH-£8-
BE. BOERE
REER BEENE HithE  BBERRE RAE GAREE ag
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BETR BETR BETT BETR BETR BETR
Accumulated depreciation and R ERHE
impairment
At 31 March 2021 RoB-—F
=A=t-H 33,814 65,331 299,525 67,501 323,151 378199 1,167,521
Exchange realignment ERRE - 691 3,064 1,332 1,650 3,141 9,878
Charged for the year (note 10) FERE (M) 3,238 1,681 55,461 11,530 52,069 74,696 198,675
Disposals HE - - (2,374) (4,894) (8,572) - (15,840
Transfer to assets held-forsale ERERENELE
(note 46) (Hi7t4e) - - (8,362) - 2,082) - (10,444)
Impairment loss (note 8) (note ¢) BRI (MisEs) (Mic) - - 16,757 2,136 860 7,925 27,678
Lease expiration/termination RERER/ LIt - - - - - (249) (249)
At 31 March 2022 i a3
ZA=t+-A 37,052 67,703 364,071 77,605 367,076 463,712 1,377,219
Exchange realignment ERRE - (4,109) (5,916) (3,598) (3,551) (8,096) (25,270)
Charged for the year (note 10) FERE (M310) 3,238 1,508 55,018 10,979 61,768 79,238 211,749
Disposals HE - - - (5,754) (3,434) - (9,188)
Disposal of a senior housing HE-BRERE £
business (note 38(b)fi) (B5E38(b)(0)) - - (16,413) - (7,166) (23) (23,602)
Transfer to investment EREREANE
properties (note 14) (H3E14) - - (22,077) - - (51) (22,128)
Impairment loss (note 8) (note ¢}~ BEEE (MisEe) (Hitc) - - 16,533 3,022 1,241 8,188 28,984
Lease expiration/termination RERER/ &It - - - - - (33,281) (33,281)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZZE-=%
ZA=t+-A 40,290 65,102 391,216 82,254 415,934 509,687 1,504,483
Carrying value RHE
At 31 March 2023 RZZ-=%
“A=t+-AH 21,859 69,613 1,188,836 40,117 250,090  1,479415 3,049,930
At 31 March 2022 R-B-—F
“A=t+-H 25,097 76353 1,399,052 46,694 199,107 1630704 3,377,007
Notes: ME5E -
(a) The carrying value of properties comprise: (a) MEZEEERIE:
2023 2022
—E-=E —_E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Freehold land and buildings thereon KAFERELIH R
BRELEZETF 1,060,768 1,242,045
Leased and leasehold land and buildings thereon MHERHEE L RERHE £
BT 1,698,957 1,889,162
2,759,725 3,131,207
HtERERERAR

2023 Fif
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR B IR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=+—BHLEFE

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(b) Charges were created on the property, plant and equipment with a total
carrying value of HK$1,109,541,000 (2022: HK$1,408,881,000) for the
purpose of securing banking facilities granted to the Group, of which
balances of HK$103,480,000 were subject to floating charges.

(c) During the year ended 31 March 2023, impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment of approximately HK$29.0 million (2022: HK$27.7
million) was recognised, of which, approximately HK$9.6 million
impairment loss was recognised for healthcare investment business in
the USA in order to reflect the independent valuation of the relevant
property upon transfer to investment property with a fair value as at
transfer date of HK$17.3 million (2022: HK$Nil). Also, approximately
HK$19.4 million (2022: HK$19.5 million) impairment loss was recognised
for car dealership business in Mainland China in order to reflect
management’s latest assessment of the CGUs based on future outlook
of the business. The estimated recoverable amount was HK$17.4 million
(2022: HK$19.6 million). The impairment loss recognised for the year
represented the difference between the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment of the CGUs and their estimated recoverable
amounts.

16 GOODWILL

At beginning of the year F 4]

Exchange realignment b 5

Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi — BB AT
(note 38(b)(ii)) ( B #E38(b) (i) )

Impairment loss (note 8) WA E R (FsEs)

Disposal of a senior housing business HE—BLERSER
(note 38(b)(i)) (B 3E38(b)(i) )

At end of the year FR

Details of the impairment assessment of goodwill are disclosed in
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

15 Mk -BMERSRE (R)
GEIRE-P

(b) BRI 42{EHE%1,109,641,000T (=&
— — 7% %1,408,881,0007T) Z ¥
¥ MERRBEIEER EART
AEEBRTEEZER HBEHE
#5103,480,000 T JY B A F By K #8 ©

(c) B2-ZFE-_=F=-RA=+—81L#F
E EHERYWE -KRERZHEARE
EBA B 29008 T (ZFE__F:
BH2,7708 L) - AR A A %9608
THREBBIIRERRREERK
BEBHER URBRABEDMERE
BEREMEENBLGHE ER
HEBHNAREARBE7308 T

T CF BT AN B
LA B b &Y 0T 2R 3RS SRR
BEEBEYBEE 1 408t (—T - =
FEH,9508 L)  URBERE
BEEBARAMSEHRSELESEN
RS ATE o [fat AJ B & 5 A B
1,708 L (Z T = — F : 31,960
Br) FARRNRERBERS
EXENHNDE BERXENERET
EEEGHATKESB MR EE-

16 HE

2023 2022

—E_-= —_=EFq-—
HK$'000 HK$ 000
BT T BT T
634,564 629,796
1,278 4,768
- 4,040
- (4,040)
(30,423) -
605,419 634,564

BEZBREFEEERENGAH
TRz 5E39 ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EE M BHmRM T
For the year ended 31 March 2023
 E T -_=—F=-A=t+—HILtEE
17 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17 EEREE

Roads, Cold storage
drainage and public

and bonded Computer
waterworks warehouse Lease-in- software and
licence licences place system Others Total
RERER
BE RBR ARRER ERBRHAR
KBEIRER 3 REHE S Hity ot
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BB BETT BETT BETR BEET BRI

Cost RA

At 31 March 2021 NZZE=——F

=f=1+-8 26,534 3,000 107,363 7,466 14,023 158,386
Exchange realignment ELRE - - 798 - (183) 615
Additions ANE - - - 5,872 128 6,000
Disposals & - - (6,029) - - (6,029)
At 31 March 2022 i —a

=A=1+-8 26,534 3,000 102,132 13,338 13,968 158,972
Exchange realignment [& 5 A% - - 261 (26) (274) (39)
Additions B - - - 1,947 - 1,947
At 31 March 2023 WZZBZ=%F

=A=+-H 26,534 3,000 102,393 15,259 13,694 160,880

Accumulated amortisation ZNBERAE
and impairment

At 31 March 2021 RZB=-—4
=A=+-H 26,534 3,000 83,934 2,494 4,505 120,467
Exchange realignment B RAE - - 697 2 (179) 520
Charged for the year FEH#H
(note 10) (MzE10) - - 15,010 1,380 93 16,483
Disposals HE - - (5,453) - - (5,453)
At 31 March 2022 ;3
=A=+-H 26,534 3,000 94,188 3,876 4,419 132,017
Exchange realignment EXAE - - 251 (11) (259) (19)
Charged for the year FEHH
(note 10) (HzE10) - - 7,343 1,726 146 9,215
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F
ZA=t-H 26,534 3,000 101,782 5,591 4,306 141,213
Carrying value REE
At 31 March 2023 R-T-=%F
=A=+-H - - 611 9,668 9,388 19,667
At 31 March 2022 i —a
ZA=t—H - - 7,944 9,462 9,549 26,955

HIEBREEMAERALA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR B IR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=+—BHLEFE

17 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Other intangible assets (other than roads, drainage and waterworks
licence (“Licence"”)) are amortised on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of following estimated useful lives or licence period:

Cold storage and public bonded 10 years
warehouse licences
Lease-in-place 3 years

Computer software and system Shorter of 5-10 years or

remaining subscription period

The Directors are of the opinion that the upkeep of the Licence is at
minimal cost and the Group would renew the Licence continuously.
The Licence is considered by the management of the Group as
having an indefinite useful life and will not be amortised until its
useful life is determined to be finite upon reassessment of its useful
life annually by the management of the Group. The amount was fully
impaired in prior year.

The lease-in-place of senior housing business was purchased as
part of business combination. The lease-in-place is considered by
the management of the Group as having finite lives of 3 years. The
lease-in-place will be tested for impairment whenever there is an
indication that it may be impaired.

17

Hit\LEE ()
Hip @ AE (BB RBRKH
TRBEB (TR TAEBE
1% T 51 e 51 7 4 PR 4F B o 8 AR H3 T
B AT

RERBER T4
NRRTR IR

BiEHE =%

BB ERSE HEETFRHT

AR (AmEE

REE)

EXZRA BEERREARE 8K
SETSKERTEEMN AEEE
BEERSERBRABERAERFH
Bt T e wHEE BEEEAKEEE
EBrEAERFHEFENTHER
BEHEAERERARSL -2/C
RBEFEERHRE-

REREXEBZIREFHEDNERE
Ba—armEA AEEEEE
RARAGTHEZBERAEAFHR
“F-REHERNETREAAE
3R (E B AE 1T RE RN AA -

18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18 BEAT 2R
2023 2022
—E=-= -
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Non-current: ERE :
Interests in associates, including goodwill RN Fl
BEEE 698,943 655,346
Amount due from an associate FE U — R B = A R ER
(note b) (MF3ED) 21,600 21,600
720,543 676,946
Current: mEp:
Amounts due from associates JE W Bt N B ER R
(note b) (MF3ED) 19,015 25,242
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

The movements in the Group's interests in associates during the
year are analysed as follows:

At beginning of the year F 1]

Exchange realignment E X A%

Share of results Frib 248

Share of other comprehensive FriE M2 m|
(expenses)/income (X)) SEs

Dividends % 8

At end of the year FR

Notes:

(a) Particulars regarding the principal associates as at 31 March 2023 were

set out in note 49 to the consolidated financial statements.

Amount due from an associate under non-current assets of
HK$21,600,000 (2022: HK$21,600,000) is considered equity in nature
and denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

Amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand, except for the balance of HK$21,600,000 (2022:
HK$21,600,000) which bears interest at 5.41% per annum (2022: 5.41%
per annum).

The carrying amounts of amounts due from associates under current
assets approximate their fair values and are denominated in Hong Kong
dollar.

mE B HARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE-T-_=F=-A=+—HLFE

18 BMELQT 2Em (F)

AEBREAMEBE AR ZERE

BEH AW -
2023 2022
—E-= —ET-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
655,346 643,475
(10,881) 7.847
173,859 144,756
(2,632) 2,031
(116,749) (142,763)
698,943 655,346
BT E
(a) RZZE_=ZF=-ZA=Z+—HBHEEXZE
BERNRZENEHREAE VKR
=M FE49 -
(b) JEMBEEBE T Z2EK—HEBEQ

A BR B #21,600,000t (— T = =
521,600,000 ) W AR A B HE
mEE RAEBEE-

EWEENFTERAEER 28
N IBR B (EE B 21,600,000
7T (=Z = — 4 :%%21,600,0007T)
BRI ZERBRTF541%
(ZEZZF BF541% )T B

RHEERTERBERARERRZ
FREEEAERNABERERABEG
B

HIEREEERAR
2023 F1f
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HILFE

18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(c)

Chevalier (HK) Limited and its subsidiaries (together, “CHK Group”),
Toshiba Elevator (China) Co., Ltd. (“TCE"”) and Toshiba Elevator
(Shenyang) Co., Ltd. (“STE") which have a similar risk profile, are
engaged in similar business activities and related to each other which,
in the opinion of the Directors, are material to the Group. Set out below
is the summarised financial information for CHK Group, TCE and STE.
CHK Group, TCE and STE are engaged in the manufacturing, marketing,
installation, repair and maintenance of the lift and escalator business
and are accounted for using equity method.

Summarised statement of financial position

18 BMELQT 2Em (F)

W :

(c)

(%)

HE(FEB)BRAARENMELQ

(uﬁﬁfﬁi%&%%l ) RZE
ﬁ(#l)ﬁﬁﬁ"?(f%%%%(qﬂ
B)ERRZEHRCEB)BRQA
(TRZEH OFE) ) AECARMK
o e ERRELERFE B MRt 2 AR
Bl EERS HAKEMEE
ERUTHIELTFEEE RZ
ER(FE)ERRZEN (BE)2H
BENME-HLHEEEE R2ZE
B(RE)RRZER BB EET

Non-current assets IRBEE
Current B
Assets BE
Liabilities af&
Net current assets RBEEFE
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Net assets EEFE

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

Revenue WA

Profit before taxation B B A1 4 A
Taxation sl

Profit for the year FERA

Other comprehensive (expenses)/income

for the year W &=
Total comprehensive income for the year FEXEHWRAHE
The Group's share of total comprehensive REBFREFEE
income for the year el gy kol

Dividends received from associates B & R E IR A
The information above reflects the aggregated amounts as presented
in the financial statements of the associates, adjusted for differences
in accounting policies between the Group and the associates. The
information above is the amount before inter-company eliminations.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

FEEMmER(ZH)

PR R ERpRE EiH TR #
BRREER UEREAR-
BHEMRRREE
2023 2022
—E-= —_EFT-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
310,394 405,179
3,765,031 4,211,993
(2,292,727) (2,846,595)
1,472,304 1,365,398
(47,121) (61,515)
1,735,577 1,709,062
ZHRERPE
2023 2022
—EB-=5F —=E=-
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
5,677,643 6,540,634
433,621 405,280
(110,571) (53,929)
323,050 351,351
(3,859) 8,622
319,191 359,973
187,772 167,480
116,749 142,763

P EHRBREELRBBHRERA

2 5B AEE - Thph AN S B 1 N )

SRR TAMEL AR L ER
SRR AT £ 58



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE M B MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—HBLFE

18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(c)

(continued)
Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the
carrying amount of the interests in associates is provided as follows:

18 BMELQT 2Em (F)

s (&)

MBEERBRZHIR

PEFMBENBERBREDRZ
mARmE HREIIAT

2023 2022

—EZ= —E-—fF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Net assets at beginning of the year FUzEERHE 1,709,062 1,631,224
Exchange realignment bE 5 (54,413) 27,200

Profit attributable to shareholders H& 3R P& 5 3 A 323,050 351,351

Other comprehensive (expenses)/income BEEMEME2R (XH)

attributable to shareholders W &= (3,859) 8,622
Dividends fix & (238,263) (309,335)

Net assets at end of the year FRZEEFRE 1,735,577 1,709,062

Interests in associates* BENR 2w 701,915 641,773
Goodwill, net of impairment loss e MBRRESER 14,694 14,694

At end of the year FR 716,609 656,467
# As at 31 March 2023, the interests held by the Group in CHK . RZEZ=F=-A=+—H'X«

Group, TCE and STE as associates were 49%, 20% and 20%
respectively (2022: 49%, 20% and 20% respectively).

The aggregate summarised financial information of Group's associates
that are not individually material is set out below:

The Group's share of total comprehensive AEBNEMES HARE
expenses

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's RNEBEFTGILEHEE AT
interests in these associates BmZ BRERE

SESRFHEEELREEE R
ZTEB(PR)RREZEH (R
B) (B ABENE)249%
20% K20% (ZZFE=—F: 55l
HH49% 20% N20% ) HE2S o

(d ERINERZAEBBZ QR A

BERMBENT:

2023 2022

—EC-=F —E-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T
(16,545) (18,499)

3,934 20,479
HIEREEERAR

2023 F1f
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19 A ¥R
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$ 000
BT T BT T
Non-current: FEMmE -
Interests in joint ventures, including AR EIER
goodwill BEEE 819,518 929,235
Amount due from a joint venture B —E & E D ERNK
(note b) (Mf5tD) 264,118 264,109
1,083,636 1,193,344
Current: mE
Amounts due from joint ventures JEUE & RN
(note b) (Mf5tD) 109,649 102,263
Amounts due to joint ventures JERT& &R ERR
(note b) (M&Eb) (9,576) (13,162)
The movements in the Group's interests in joint ventures during the AEEBRFAMGEEELEZER
year are analysed as follows: oMM
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$ 000
BT T BT T
At beginning of the year F 1) 929,235 867,301
Exchange realignment b 5 & (20,849) 10,430
Share of results PRk % 4& (49,355) 82,013
Dividends ) (39,513) (30,509)
At end of the year FR 819,518 929,235
Notes: B -
(a) Particulars regarding the principal joint ventures as at 31 March 2023 (a) RZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—HBKEXZE
were set out in note 50 to the consolidated financial statements. AECEZENEBHNEE MR
K MTFE50 o
(b) Amount due from a joint venture under non-current assets of (b) FERBHEEBE N ZER—FHEED
HK$264,118,000 (2022: HK$264,109,000) is considered equity in nature FIR 264,118,000 (ZF ==
and is denominated in Hong Kong dollar. F 7 #0264,109,0007T ) 1 R B B
WIEE WABEE-
Amounts due from joint ventures under current assets are unsecured, MBEEBE T ZEREEDERR
repayable on demand or expected to be recovered within a year and AERKE AREREEXNTEHE
bear interest rate at one-month Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate R—FRUkE  Wik—EAEBRT
(“HIBOR") plus 1.3% per annum (2022: one-month HIBOR plus 1.3% RZEFE ([EBRITRAZEFRS])M
per annum) except for the balance of HK$4,486,000 (2022: HK$717,000) FEREI3% (ZE__F:%—M@A
is interest-free. ERBRTREFRBNFFE13%)

B MEAE R B 54,486,000 (— &
T T E#717,0007T) AR B e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

(continued)

Amounts due to joint ventures under current liabilities are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

The carrying amounts of amounts due from/(to) joint ventures under

current assets/(liabilities) approximate their fair values.

The net carrying amounts of amounts due from/(to) joint ventures are
denominated in the following currencies:

B
AR%

Hong Kong dollar
Renminbi

Seavest Core Fund |, LLC and its subsidiaries (together, “Seavest
Group”), that invest in the three medical office buildings in the USA
which, in the opinion of the Directors, are material to the Group. Set out
below is the summarised financial information for Seavest Group and
accounted for using equity method.

Summarised consolidated statement of financial position

Non-current assets IRBEE
Current assets REBEE
Cash and cash equivalents BehReEEY
Other current assets HibmEEE
Current liabilities RBAE
Other current liabilities HEinEasE
Net current assets REBEEFE
Non-current liabilities ERBEE

Financial liabilities (excluding creditors,
accruals and provisions)

Other non-current liabilities HEMIERBDEE
Net assets EEFE

BHEE(TBIEREN
R TRERE R RBE)

19 &

iR B IR AR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

e rED (H)

fiaE: (&)

(b)

(&)

RBBEBRATZENEEEERR
RERWR 2R RARBERERE-

MBEE,/ (AE)BET 2R (FE
MEECERRZERERZEQR
BERE-

U (ER)AEECERFFEZ
FREETI AT ESE BB

2023
—E-=

HK$"000
BET T

2022
—EC-CF
HK$'000
BT T

369,284
(5,093)

365,655
(12,445)

Seavest Core Fund |, LLC R E B
ANE (#7 [Seavest £ E | ) E L
REBRN-HREERLAEZERNE EF
REEHAEEMEBER - UTH
Y| Seavest R B 2 AR E - I
FAEDEAR-

FEMBEMRRARYE
2023 2022
—E-= —ET-
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BT
1,682,412 1,770,395
32,670 31,607
9,203 6,048
41,873 37,655
(12,347) (9,041)
29,526 28,614
(864,078) (860,599)
(109,483) (123,690)
(973,561) (984,289)
738,377 814,720
HtEBREEERAT

2023 F1f
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 19 S&hE oD (F)
Notes: (continued) MisE: (&)
(c) (continued) (c) (&)
Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive income FEZEHRERBE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Revenue WA 129,306 130,023
Interest expense FMEXZ H (39,672) (39,555)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BrFipl (B518) %A (54,435) 146,378
Taxation G7REE! 14,504 (38,943)
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive FE (BE) Bk
(expenses)/income for the year 2E (X)) EgE (39,931) 107,435
The Group's share of total comprehensive AEEMEFE2EA
(expenses)/income for the year (X)) Sz iass (30,503) 95,371
Dividends received from a joint venture BEl—HEEELEZRE 36,473 27,256
The information above reflects the amounts presented in the NEERRBR—HAECEREY
consolidated financial statements of a joint venture, adjusted for BHREANLINNESEE DR AEEH
differences in accounting policies between the Group and the joint AECESIHBERTRMELAE-
venture. The information above is the amount before intercompany FHRER TR AREHEANEE-

eliminations.

Reconciliation of summarised financial information BEENBEZHER
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the AN BEERBEERGELEL
carrying amount of the interest in a joint venture is provided as follows: EREmMEZHERHINAT
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Net assets at beginning of the year FYzEEFRE 814,720 729,934
Exchange realignment bE i B 1,980 6,042
(Loss)/profit attributable to shareholders PR FES (BE) %A (39,931) 107,435
Dividends [ik4SA (38,392) (28,691)
Net assets at end of the year ERCZEEZRE 738,377 814,720
Interest in a joint venture —HeELE ER 690,375 755,506
At end of the year FR 690,375 755,506
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—HBLFE

19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 19 SEEIES (H)
Notes: (continued) Mgt : (&)
(d) The aggregate summarised financial information of Group's joint (d) ERITERZAEEEEDERY
ventures that are not individually material is set out below: HERBEMT
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
The Group's share of total comprehensive AEBMEEMES HARE
expenses (18,852) (13,358)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's AEEFERESE
interests in these joint ventures TEERRMAE 129,143 173,729
20 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 20 B (FE) SFEERER RN
2023 2022
—E-= = _
HK$’000 HK$ 000
BT T BT T
Non-current: FEmE -
Amounts due from non-controlling interests [ U JE1% A% 4 25 BR 7Kk
(note a) (MizEa) 42,222 47,183
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FE ST 3E 128 i 25 AR K
(note b) (MizEp) (254,225) (239,187)
Current: mE
Amounts due from non-controlling FE U FE 12 AR 4 25 BR 3K
interests (note c) (FisEe) 32,771 33,031
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FE ST FE 128 i 25 AR K
(note d) (MizEd) (259,347) (259,833)
Notes: BT E
(a) Amounts due from non-controlling interests under non-current assets (a) JEMBEETE T EKIET R E S
are unsecured, interest-free and not repayable within one year from the REAERKF SERBEARKRE
end of the reporting period, except for the balance of HK$11,442,000 HRBFF—FANEE HEHKAEE
(2022: HK$13,703,000) which bears floating interest rate at one-month 11,442,000 (ZE - —F 1 B
HIBOR plus 3.6% per annum (2022: one-month HIBOR plus 3.6% per 13,703,00070) &2 — @ A BE A RITRA
annum). ERBENMFENEK3I6% (ZTEZZF:

—EREBRITAEREMEF R
3.6% ) ZF BT EREEBRIN

HIEREEERAR
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iR B IR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

20 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(b) Amounts due to non-controlling interests under non-current liabilities
are unsecured balances of HK$169,000,000 (2022: HK$168,973,000) and
HK$11,814,000 (2022: HK$13,703,000) which bear fixed interest rate
at 10% per annum (2022: 10% per annum) and floating interest rate at
one-month HIBOR plus 2.1% per annum (2022: one-month HIBOR plus
2.1% per annum) respectively. They are not repayable within one year
from the end of the reporting period.

() Amounts due from non-controlling interests under current assets
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand, except for
the balance of HK$979,000 (2022: HK$979,000) which bears floating
interest rate at one-month HIBOR plus 3.6% per annum (2022: one-
month HIBOR plus 3.6% per annum).

(d) Amounts due to non-controlling interests under current liabilities are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand, except for the
balance of HK$979,000 (2022: HK$979,000) which bears floating
interest rate at one-month HIBOR plus 2.1% per annum (2022: one-
month HIBOR plus 2.1% per annum).

(e) The carrying amounts of amounts due from/(to) non-controlling interests
approximate their fair values.

(f)  The net carrying amounts of amounts due to non-controlling interests
are denominated in the following currencies:

Hong Kong dollar ke
Renminbi AR
US dollar ET

196 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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20 EW () FEERER K
= (8|)
fiaE: (&)

(b) ERBEBERETENIFEERERE
TR OB K 45 #2785 5169,000,0007T
(ZZT = =4 :%%%168,973,0007L)
K & #11,814,000 (ZE Z ZF -
7 #13,703,0007T) © 0 Bl i% B TE &
FIE10% (ZE=Z—F : FFE10% )
—EREBRITAEFREMET
Eo)1% (ZBE-——F:—@ABEHERE
TTREFEMFENE21%) 238
FIEE - ZEREDERMEHRK
BE—FRNEE-

(c) MEEETE NEWIEERZERER
BEEE B RERSREE #
482 B 979,000 (2 = — 4
& #979,0007T) H — @ A BB R 1T
REFREMEMNE36% (ZT ==
F— @A FBRITRZERSINFF
E3.6% ) 2 FBNFI R BB

(d) mEBEBE NEMIEERERER
BERKR SEBRARERESR #
BB ®B79,000L (ZFE=Z—F:
& #979,0007T) I — A A BB R 1T
BERBMEMNZ21% (ZE ==
F:—EAABBRITRIEREMFF
L2 1% ) ZIFBFI KB -

(e) FEUL (FEAT) FEHE AR 2 BR 3 A9 BR
HERENALERSE -

( ENFZERESEFFENEEE
TIAT R EH B

2023 2022

—E-=F —F-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
(241,949) (224,643)
(196,381) (193,914)
(249) (249)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Listed investment: EHEE:
- equity security listed overseas — BN LT 2 R E S
(note) (K3E)
Unlisted investments: FEMKE:
— equity securities N

The carrying values of investments at FVOCI are denominated in the
following currencies:

Vietnam Dong A
Renminbi AR #&
Note:

The fair value of the listed investment of the Group is determined based on
the quoted market bid prices available on the relevant exchange.

mE B HARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—HBLFE

21 BAARENAREMEZE KR
BEZERE

2023 2022
—E-=5F —EFE-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
o 48892 20,311
o 1312 1,427
50,204 91,738

BonEIAEMEHMKRERE 2
BREZBREENATIEE REL:

2023 2022
—E-=E —_=EFq_-—
HK$'000 HK$ 000
BT T BT T
48,892 90,311
1,312 1,427
50,204 91,738

B 5E -

AEBEETREZAAREDREBRS
FRAT 2 5 E NBEE

HIEBREEMAERALA
2023 F1f
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iR B IR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

22 INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Listed investments:
— debt securities
— equity securities listed in Hong Kong
— equity securities listed overseas

Unlisted investments:
— debt securities
— equity securities

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Non-current assets
Current assets

EHERE:

— (B EH

— BB LT ZRAES
—BI BT Z BRANFE 55

FLEHRE:
— B 5

~RAES

B E BB
FERBEE
mEEE

The fair values of the listed investments of the Group are
determined based on the quoted market bid prices available on the
relevant exchanges and the unlisted investments of the Group are
determined based on financial models or with reference to quoted

prices from relevant financial institutions.

Floating charge was created on investments at fair value through
profit or loss with total carrying value of HK$38,836,000 (2022:
HK$84,441,000) for the purpose of securing banking facilities

granted to the Group.

The carrying amounts of investments at FVPL are denominated in

the following currencies:

British Pound
Euro

Hong Kong dollar
Renminbi

Swiss Franc

US dollar
Vietnam Dong

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

REE
X 7R
ok
AR
By KRR
X7
HEE

22 MAREBEIANEREEZRE

2023 2022
—E-= =

HK$"000 HK$'000
BETF T BT T
388,564 243,619
149,707 172,807
23,543 36,013

... 561814 452,439
921,432 703,517
75,007 79,416

... 996439 782,933
1,568,253 1,235,372
943,012 760,707
615,241 484,665
1,558,253 1,235,372

AREBZ EHEREZRARETNEA
X SMMBzmSEABEE M
AEBZIFLTREZAAREBIR
MHEAETE R2EREEHIH
Wi WwE-

BR T 4 18 8 38,836,000 (=&
Z ZF:75%84,441,000T) ZHE R
REIABRGRIEZREDEZE
B EARTAEERTEEZE
fRe

BARBEIABREREZRE ZKR
EETIATINER BER:

2023 2022
—E-= S —
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BETIT
18,447 30,870
8,171 8,254
972,718 768,808
38,836 62,896
7,639 7,539
511,486 355,736
956 1,269
1,558,253 1,235,372
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—HBLFE

23 INVESTMENTS AT AMORTISED COST 23 REBERETIEREZRE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Listed corporate bonds ISR E 87,509 79,319
Unlisted corporate bonds FLEMARIES 39,997 22,481
Unlisted and secured debt investment FLEMRERBEBRBIKE 125,000 -
252,506 101,800
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MHERBRLNA:
Non-current assets IEMBEE 214,113 101,800
Current assets MEEE 38,393 -
252,506 101,800
The carrying values of investments at amortised cost are REHEAAIEREZ2IREZEREETD
denominated in the following currencies: LAY B8 RN :
2023 2022
—E-= P = —
HK$'000 HK$ 000
BT T BT T
US dollar ETT 112,495 91,826
Hong Kong dollar B 140,011 9,974
252,506 101,800
Note: B E -
The fair values below are determined by reference to the published price UTRAREBENRZ2RBERMES A ARANREE
quotations in an active market. E °
2023 2022
—EC-=F —ECCF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Listed corporate bonds EHARES 76,308 72,273
Unlisted corporate bonds FEEMRAFES 37,848 21,234
114,156 93,507

HIEBREEMAERALA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B IR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

24 PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

At beginning of the year F 1)

Exchange realignment M 5 3 B

Additions A=

Transfer to properties for sale EREFEME

At end of the year FR

Analysed for reporting purposes as: HBMEREIN A
Non-current assets ERBEE
Current assets MBEE

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the balances are related to property
development projects in Changchun, Mainland China and Hong
Kong.

The borrowing costs capitalised to properties under development is
disclosed in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
unless the construction period of the relevant project is expected
to complete beyond normal operating cycle. The amount of
properties under development classified as current assets expected
to be recovered after one year is HK$1,409,354,000 (2022:
HK$1,482,036,000). The remaining balance is expected to be
recovered within one year.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

20 BRAPYE

2023 2022
—EZ= —_=F__—
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BETT
1,696,485 2,642,255
(36,911) 28,484
436,934 637,240
- (1,611,494)
2,096,508 1,696,485
197,465 214,449
1,899,043 1,482,036
2,096,508 1,696,485

RZEZ=ZFR_F-__F=A
—+— R REKRBEPREAMKEERT
LEBNMEERBEERR-

BRTPMERE XM ZERRARNRER
B AN O E -

BRAMEADBRARDEE BRI
EHEE v ESBEFHBHES
KRBT D EARBEE 2B
BHAMEFHRR —FHRKE 2258
578 #1,409,354,000 (T = =
4 5 #1,482,036,0007T) c #REETE
R —FRgE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Deposits paid for a property development
project (note)

FHiEE (M)

Non-current receivables FE T B FE L FIB

Non-current deposits paid and ERBEMNFLHEE X
prepayments B IR

Others HAth

Charges were created on the other non-current assets with total
carrying value of HK$11,785,000 (2022: HK$12,715,000) for the
purpose of securing banking facilities granted to the Group, of which
balance of HK$329,000 was subject to a floating charge.

Note:

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the balances represent deposits paid for a
property development project in Changchun, Mainland China.

INVENTORIES

Raw materials VYRS
Finished goods 25K i
Consumables FRYE

The costs of inventories sold, used and written down recognised
as expenses and included in cost of sales amounted to
HK$1,480,000,000 during the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022:
HK$1,783,000,000).

Floating charges were created on the inventories with total carrying
value of HK$265,221,000 (2022: HK$91,493,000) for the purpose of
securing banking facilities granted to the Group.

EN—EYEERERBZ

25

26

iR B IR AR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

HthERBEE
2023 2022
—EZ= =

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BETT
20,223 21,997

31,034 21,008

29,097 27,637

9,015 6,199

89,369 76,841

BR T 48 {8 78 #11,785,000 (= &
— 4 :%12,715,0007T) Z E b
FRBEECHEERT EFAETAE
ERITEEZER HPEHREBE
329,0007T J5 B A ) BY K 1

pf

A

RZEZ=FRZFZ=ZF=A=+—
B #%&EsastERNEED —BYER

REBZENGFLHES -
FE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E - F
HK$'000 HK$ 000
BT T BT T
10,193 20,227
286,006 281,808
1,642 2,103
297,841 304,138

B -_Z-_=F=A=+—8I1I+F
B EHRAETELIABEERKZ
BEE - EAMBRBTEERALSBE

1,480,000,0007T (=& — —4F : B
1,783,000,0007T) ©

05 T 42 {8 /8 #265,221,0000C (=&
191,493,000 ) 2 IFE
BEZSEE EER FAEERT
EEZER-

HIEREEERAR
2023 F1f
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e BN
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

27 PROPERTIES FOR SALE

Unamortised prepaid land leases REHEEN I HWAE
- Hong Kong —B%
— Mainland China — A
Development costs BRAA

Properties for sale included the Group's share of a joint
operation with an aggregate book value of HK$18,129,000 (2022:
HK$18,129,000) as at 31 March 2023.

The cost of properties sold and included in cost of sales amounted
to HK$54,710,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022:
HK$801,031,000).

28 DEBTORS, CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS PAID AND

PREPAYMENTS

Trade debtors B 5 IR K

Less: Provision for impairment BB R

Trade debtors, net B 5 EBAR

Retention receivables &R BB 5K IE

Contract assets BHEE

Other debtors, deposits paid and HaEUWERR BT
prepayments & RTENRIE

Less: Provision for impairment B BB

Other debtors, deposits paid and HEUWERR B FE
prepayments, net e RTENRIE FHE

202 < CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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28

TEME

2023 2022

—EZ= - h—
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
15,882 15,882
111,617 126,849
880,532 943,537
1,008,031 1,086,268

RZEZ=F=ZA=+—H &FEY
¥ B EREEEAB18,129,0007T
(ZZT— — 4 :%%18,129,0007T) Z
AEBAE—MALKELEME-

(2 E-_=F=ZA=1+—HLF
IR E%I’iw\iﬁ%ﬁ}zﬁzqﬁ%%iﬂz$
A& #54,710,000c (2 = =
75 #801,031,0007T ) °

ERER EHNEE -BFF
HiZE RAMNKIE
2023 2022
—E-= —_F__—
HK$’000 HK$ 000
BET T BB T
684,944 887,508
(43,560) (30,326)
oo 841384 857,182
fe.......386,227 301,338
R 193,070 .. 179,035
782,031 690,929
(35,117) (33,145)
........146914 657,784
1,917,595 1,995,399




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE M B MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—HBLFE

28 EWERR -EHNEE B F
HiZEe RFESKIE (&)
AEBEBEHSBERLEBZREFP®
VTRZEEBR -BTESHEBHA
2 FH{=E B A0-90K °

BHRWERNGRERERER
BEIZSIZBREC DT T -

28 DEBTORS, CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS PAID AND
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Group has established different credit policies for customers
in each of its core businesses. The average credit period granted to
trade debtors is 0-90 days.

The ageing analysis of trade debtors, net of impairment provision, is
presented based on the invoice date as follows:

2023 2022
—EC-=F —Eg-=

HK$’000 HK$'000

BET T BT
Up to 60 days & Z60K 423,747 622,671
61 — 90 days 61-90FK 39,105 32,997
Over 90 days #I0K 178,532 201,514

641,384 857,182
The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring AEERMNE BT B3RS LR FHR

expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected credit loss
allowance for trade debtors. The movement in the impairment
provision for trade debtors during the year is as follows:

MBETEERBEERE e
SRWEREAEHEHEERE
Bl NFERNE 5 BRI 2R E &

B EEBINT

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$ 000

BEET T BT T

At beginning of the year F 1] 30,326 35,421
Exchange realignment b A% 68 267
Provision recognised EEREE 17,768 5,285
Provision written back B [o] & B 1 (503) (559)
Uncollectable amounts written off WS TR Bz &% (4,099) (5,695)
Transfer to assets held-for-sale EREBIENEEE - (4,393)
At end of the year FR 43,560 30,326

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade debtors are denominated
in the following currencies:

REBEE HEWIERR 2 BREET A

TINEE BB

2023 2022
—E-= —E_-—

HK$'000 HK$ 000

BET T BT T

Australian dollar BT 15,079 3,274
Canadian dollar il N 23,010 13,957
Hong Kong dollar g 488,567 707,187
Renminbi AR 56,009 75,961
US dollar ETT 49,890 51,222
Others HA 8,829 5,581
641,384 857,182
HtERERERAT

2023 F1f
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iR B IR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

28 DEBTORS, CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS PAID AND
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of retention receivables and other debtors as
at 31 March 2023 and 2022 were mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollar and Renminbi.

The carrying amounts of debtors and receivables as at 31 March
2023 and 2022 approximated their fair values.

Retention receivables amounted to HK$96,362,000 (2022:
HK$66,406,000) are expected to be settled within twelve months
after the end of the reporting year.

Included in debtors, contract assets, deposits paid and prepayments
was the Group's share of assets of HK$132,160,000 (2022:
HK$71,857,000) in relation to joint operations.

Floating charges were created on the debtors, contract assets,
deposits paid and prepayments with total carrying value of
HK$138,004,000 (2022: HK$124,479,000) for the purpose of
securing banking facilities granted to the Group.

29 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

(a) Right-of-use assets

Leasehold land HELH
Buildings BT
Equipment B

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31 March
2023 amounted to HK$24,566,000 (2022: HK$222,400,000),
due to acquisitions of new leasehold land and new leases of
buildings and equipment.
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28

29

EWRERER EHNEE BFF
HiZEeRFESKIE (&)
RZEZ=FR_F=Z_F=H
=+—H - BRRERIEREMER
AR ZEAMEITEUNEERARE
BEAL -

RZE_=FR_F-__F=A
—t+—HB EREZNERZEZRE
mMEZEQAAERE-

JfE UG 1R 8 7k 18 7 #596,362,0007T ( —
T - 4 5 %66,406,0007T ) TE HA
RBEFERET _BEARNLEE -

JEWEER -AHNEE BNGFHES
MENFEREALSEREHAEGE
LEFTE 2 BE - A5 %132,160,000
T (=ZZE = —F:F%71,857,000
JL) °

R T 48 {E 5 #5138,004,000T ( = F
— B #124,479,0007T ) 2 FEUR
BN AHNEE BRNFLZeRE
NRBBEIEFSER EARTESE
BERITEEZER-

ERAREERHEES®E
(a) EABEEE

2023 2022
—E_-= —EFE-=
HK$'000 HK$ 000
BT T BT T
1,403,168 1,534,652
75,415 94,970
832 1,082
1,479,415 1,630,704

MR WEFAE T RFHEE
FREE BE-_T-_=F=F7
S+ RALEFEZAREFERR
& E A B24,566,0000 (ZF
— 4 7¥222,400,0007T) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Lease liabilities

(c)

(d)

Non-current
Current

FERE
Vi)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Less: Amounts allocated to contract

work

Interest expense on lease liabilities
Less: Amounts allocated to contract

work

Expense relating to short-term leases

Expense relating to variable lease
payments not included in lease
liabilities

EREEECTE
B NEEANIREZEHE

HERBENNEH
B OREANIRZEHE

BT R B ]
BTS2
BENFEO L

The total cash outflow for lease liabilities during the year
ended 31 March 2023 amounted to HK$29,338,000 (2022:

HK$31,198,000).

The Group's leasing activities

The Group leases various offices, warehouses, retail stores,
equipment and vehicles. Rental contracts are typically made for

fixed periods of 2 years to 10 years.

mE B HARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—HBLFE

29 EFREEEREEAE (&)
(b) HESE

2023 2022

—_E_-= —EFE-—
HK$’000 HK$ 000
BT T BT T
78,026 87,941
18,195 21,293
96,221 109,234

(c) RirEWERERZEHE

2023 2022

—E—-= —E_—
HK$’000 HK$ 000
BT T BT T
79,238 74,696
(5,709) (1,794)
73,529 72,902
4,103 4,218
(354) (133)
3,749 4,085
8,461 9,823
106 -

(d)

RBEE-_ZE-_=F=A=+—
BtFEE HEaEzHaent
48 58 & 75 529,338,000 (==
— 4 31,198,000 ) ©

REEzHEHEED

AEEEEZEBRIE BE-
TEEH RBELAE-HESR
HW—REMFETFZETEHR

B

HIEBREEMAERALA
2023 F1f
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imE BRI EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

"=

T =FZA=t+—HLFE

30 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

31

Financial assets/(liabilities) in respect of
derivative financial instruments
— foreign currency forward contracts (note)

(Bf&)

— Cross currency swap — XX E¥I8H

Analysed for reporting purposes as: MMERRSTA:
Current assets MENE E
Current liabilities mEAE

The derivatives are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Their fair values are determined with reference to
fair values of comparable instruments in the market or quoted prices
from counterparties. The net carrying amounts of derivatives are
denominated in the following currencies:

Euro B 28
US dollar ETT
Japanese Yen =

Note:

Foreign currency forward contracts of the Group with a total notional amount
up to HK$69,570,000 (2022: HK$1,729,000) were entered to swap various
foreign currencies to other cross currencies. These contracts matured within
the period from 13 April 2023 to 18 May 2023 (2022: on 23 May 2022).

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held, short-term bank
deposits with original maturity more than three months, short-term
bank deposits with original maturity up to three months and cash
placed with financial institutions. The carrying amounts of these
assets approximate their fair values.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

— BEIMEA X (FHEE)

30 STEMEIA

FEMETAY HEEE/

3

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-=

HK$'000 HK$ 000

BET T BT T

796 (47)

- 65

796 18

796 65

- (47)

796 18

METARSBERRZAREF
E-THETAEZAARBEDNREHIL
RIAZHERARERETREM
AECTETAZEREFETIATS
B DB

2023 2022
—E=-= —zT=-=

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT

707 -

67 65

22 (47)

796 18

W :

AEBETRMIINEEHEEMRINE
BEmMaILRHINEEY HRERSESR
= 5% 169,670,000 (ZEZZF 1 &
#1,729,0007T) cEAHNER T ==
FNA+=RE-_ET-_=%AA+N\AH
HEA(ZEZZF RZTZZ=_FAA
—+=H)3H-

RTEERRE
RTEFLREBEMAFERES R=
BAKRIRA 2 EHRITER R=@
AR R BRARTERETF
AMBHEZRS WEBEEZRE
BEEAQXAERE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 BANK BALANCES AND CASH (CONTINUED)

Cash and unpledged bank deposits with
original maturity up to three months
Unpledged bank deposits with original
maturity more than three months
Pledged bank deposits

EEIRRITER

i
B R T K

The carrying amounts of bank balances and cash are denominated in
the following currencies:

Australian dollar B IT
British pound T
Canadian dollar EXTT
Euro BLZE
Hong Kong dollar B
Macau Pataca pallig ke
Renminbi AR EE
Singapore dollar ¥ ¥ T
Thai Baht Tk

US dollar ETT
Others Hity

Charges were created on the Group's bank balances of
HK$135,901,000 (2022: HK$143,201,000) for the purpose of
securing banking facilities granted to the Group, of which balances
of HK$130,199,000 were subject to floating charges to secure the
banking facilities granted to the Group as at 31 March 2023.

As at 31 March 2023, the effective interest rates on short-term bank
deposits of the Group were 3.8% (2022: 0.5%) per annum; and
these deposits had an average maturity of 159 days (2022: 67 days).

As at 31 March 2023, bank balances and cash of HK$361,065,000
(2022: HK$477,269,000) were held in Mainland China and are
subject to local exchange control regulations, under which the
balances could not be exported freely out of Mainland China. The
repatriation of funds out of Mainland China is possibly conducted by
way of dividends or other means as complied to the regulations.

iR B IR AR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

N |WTEERES (E)

ReMR=EARARIIHZ
[R=18 A &2 8z BEMERTT

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-=

HK$'000 HK$ 000
BET T BT T
2,007,183 2,498,851
489,752 25,040
5,702 143,201
2,502,637 2,667,092

RITRTFRR S 2 EEE A TS
HH R

2023 2022
—EZ= - —
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T
7,157 7,740
22,502 28,820
61,903 104,411
5,899 1,755
1,756,872 1,679,477
51,851 20,017
376,025 492,001
1,928 2,272
37,971 36,577
172,413 382,689
8,116 11,333
2,502,637 2,667,092

75 135,901,000 (—Z&F = — 4
75 #143,201,00070 ) 2 AN E H R 1T
HEHREEERF - EAR T ALERTT
EEZER HPR T -_=ZF=A
—t+—BEFLFHERNESRE
#130,199,000t ' EAR T A £ H
RITEEZER-

RZZE-_=F=A=+—H XA&EH
ZREBBRITERZERENEX E3.8%
T CF:056%) WEERZ
FHEHE AR (DT - —F:
67K) °

RZBE-_=F=A=+—H ¥4
R ERMZBITETRESEE
361,065,000 (ZTE - —4F B
477,269,00070) BB EE HINEE
BRE B EEFIAEEHE
HABEA-ES B BREHREM
BTREZHAFBEABEALML -

HIEREEERAR
2023 F1f
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e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

32 CREDITORS, BILLS PAYABLE, DEPOSITS RECEIVED, CONTRACT N ERNER ENEE BWEF

LIABILITIES, ACCRUALS AND PROVISIONS ARRE EHEE FERER
ke
2023 2022
—E-= —_=__
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Trade creditors and bills payable EHRNEALENER 382,877 340,400
Retention payables FEHT% A 277,108 234,873
Deposits received BFAEE 80,051 79,319
Contract liabilities BREE 407,544 274,028
Accrued contract costs TEIR A B AR 1,032,530 1,110,794
Other creditors, accruals and provisions B[R TBIRERA REE 810,870 750,397
2,990,980 2,789,811
The ageing analysis of trade creditors and bills payable is as follows: BZRNEREENEREZERRS
T
2023 2022
—E-= = —
HK$'000 HK$ 000
BET T BT
Up to 60 days = %60K 341,997 268,598
61-90 days 61-90K 13,857 29,263
Over 90 days BI90K 27,023 42,539
382,877 340,400
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade creditors and bills AEERESENERRENEERZ
payable are denominated in the following currencies: BREESIA T EE BEN:
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—
HK$000 HK$ 000
BET T BT T
Hong Kong dollar ;‘%ﬁ@ 227,010 226,839
Macau Pataca B P 39,881 11,659
Renminbi AE% 60,010 65,489
US dollar ETT 36,152 29,431
Others HAh 19,824 6,982
382,877 340,400
The carrying amounts of retention payables and other creditors as RZEZ=FR_FZ_F=H
at 31 March 2023 and 2022 were mainly denominated in Hong Kong =+ El FERHR B SRE R E b FE
dollar and Renminbi. ERCEMEFEUNEBERARE
BEAL -
The carrying amounts of creditors and payables as at 31 March 2023 RZEBEZ=FR_FT=Z_F=H
and 2022 approximated their fair values. =+ —B ENEZRLEMNFKIEB R
HEHEEQAALBEMES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CREDITORS, BILLS PAYABLE, DEPOSITS RECEIVED, CONTRACT
LIABILITIES, ACCRUALS AND PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)

Retention payables amounted to HK$80,438,000 (2022:
HK$58,676,000) are expected to be settled within twelve months
after the end of the reporting year.

Included in creditors, bills payable, deposits received, contract
liabilities, accruals and provisions are the Group's share of liabilities
of HK$344,482,000 (2022: HK$184,739,000) in relation to joint
operations.

RE BN
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—HBLFE

2 BNRFA - BEAEE BURE

AEE - EHERE BREA
K& (&)

FE& T IR B8 5018 & 78 %80,438,0007T
(= — 4 : 5 ¥58,676,0007T ) A
HRBREFERE T _ERRNGEE -

=

BNER BENEE BRFAR
T ANEE RREAMEECDE

BEAEBRAEEENGZAaES
#344,482,000C ( — T - —F : B

184,739,0007T ) °

OUTSTANDING INSURANCE CLAIMS 33 RRREBERE
Insurance claims of the following business classes are not usually THEBEN ZRBRE —KTE
settled within one year: —FREE:
- Employee compensation — EERE
- Motor third party liability — HAEFE=FEMT
—  Public liability - RBEM
The claims development, net of reinsurance, are disclosed as BEEEE (R ERRE) BEAT
follows:
2013 and
before 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total
—g-=f
RUE —5-Bf -—3-1F -E-AF “E-t§ "B-N\§ B-NF -ECBE CBC-F CBICF CECCE ag
HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
BRI BT AMTR AMTR AMTn BMTn BETn BMTr BMTr BMTr BMTr  BETx
Estimate of cumulative claims ERESEY
At end of accident year BNERRER 155800 175730 161549 140112 122198 86471 90,284 82060 177011 278852 393015
One year later —Ef 122921 139,004 109443 109851 84489 78493 74845 65677 148906 250751 -
Two years later MR 197053 152,912 114523 114990 79651 68713 48164 57842 129,954 - -
Three years later “Ff 120,451 122,227 96,156 89,178 53,025 47,031 29,749 48,122 - - -
Four years later R 112,673 113887 90209 77251 41918 40217 36311 - - - -
Five years later Bk M8 111349 85399 75494 37864 43719 - - - - -
Six years later NER 110058 111,935 81,00 73440 37515 - - - - - -
Seven years later TER 109084 111298 80,879 72,504 - - - - - - -
Eight years later N5 108870 108994 80,736 - - - - - - - -
Nine years later NER 108,842 108,99 - - - - - - - - -
Ten years later TEfR 108,842 - - - - - - - - - -
Cumulative claims 23t %[ 108842 10899 80736 72504 37515 43719 36311 48122 129954 250751 393,015 1,310,463
Less: Cumulative payments B EHERFE 108842 108994 80725 71366 37515 42374 30514 35868 48858 31,866 13,156 610,078
Claims outstanding at 31 March 2023 R-F-=%=f
Zt-BZRRZE - - 11 1,138 - 1,345 5797 12254 81,09 218885 379,859 700,385
Claims outstanding at 31 March 2022 WN=F-=%=f
Zt-BZKRZE 2% - 81 2102 184 3705 5998 30602 122784 269,569 -3
HIEBREEMAERALA
2023 F1f
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imE BRI EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

B

E-T-_ZFZA=Z+—HILFE

33 OUTSTANDING INSURANCE CLAIMS (CONTINUED)

The risk under an insurance contract is the risk that an insured
event will occur including the uncertainty of the amount and timing
of any resulting claim. The principal risk the Group faces under such
contracts is that the actual claims and benefit payments exceed the
carrying amount of insurance liabilities. This is influenced by the
frequency of claims, severity of claims, actual benefits paid which
are greater than originally estimated and subsequent development
of long tail claims.

The Group manages its insurance risk through underwriting limits,
approval procedures for transactions that involve new products or
that exceed set limits, pricing guidelines, centralised management
of reinsurance and monitoring of emerging issues.

The Group manages the variability of risks by careful selection
and the implementation of underwriting strategies, arrangements
of reinsurance, strict claim review policies to assess all new and
ongoing claims as well as the investigation of possible fraudulent
claims. The Group also enforces a policy of actively managing and
promptly pursuing of claims, in order to reduce its exposure to
unpredictable future developments that can negatively impact the
Group.

The Group's underwriting strategy seeks diversity to ensure a
balanced portfolio and is based on a large portfolio of similar risks
over a number of years and, as such, reduces the variability of the
outcome.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

33 RRRBREE (F)

RiaWBET 2 AR EE S AR
EHZzER BREBZITEERER
REMHKEEZRERHE AKHE
RELHFENEHR IZARAE
RRELBENSEBEARRAGER
HE - UDRIRERER RERE
RE BREMNBHRLMG RER
BEREZEREZE -

REBEBEHAREE  GIEEY
MEMNBLRBER 2 EHEZF
RIMEEES SR EEBRERME
Ry B A A B 1B ELAR B L B

AEBEATIAEERR 2 &
M AR E R E M ARRES - L
BARE - BEa R BR A E A
B2 FBEEZRBEARAS
BRFFRRECRB -AKENTETE
158 IR N BB R T2 R B 2 U - AR
DHEHAEREXNTNEEZ T
AT TRER R R Z AR o

AEBZEARRER/ZTRK—ED K
MmFEREE  WEESFRAER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

RE BN
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—HBLFE

3 RITREMMER

2023 2022
—E-=F —F-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BET T
Bank and other borrowings are repayable as RITREMEREERNT:
follows:
Within one year or repayable on demand —FRNRAZREREE 900,334 2,425,438
More than 1 year but not exceeding 2 years —F LA FETHEAMRSF 847,219 683,306
More than 2 years but not exceeding 5 years MELA EENHBBARSF 1,675,781 437,933
Exceeding 5 years BARF 457,794 473,223
3,881,128 4,019,900
Less: Amount due within one year or B EREBERNERIN—
repayable on demand disclosed FRE| B EZ B RKE
under current liabilities BZEH (900,334) (2,425,438)
2,980,794 1,594,462
Represented by: 255
Secured B/ HE R 1,521,691 1,872,900
Unsecured R AR 2,359,437 2,147,000
3,881,128 4,019,900
As at 31 March 2023, the Group had secured bank loans for certain RZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—8 4A%£H
USA senior housing businesses with a carrying amount of HK$859 EpAETERLERSER RSB
million (2022: HK$1,145 million), of which HK$794 million (2022: EIFIRITE R BREE A B KS.69E
HK$1,080 million) was without recourse to the Group other than T(ZEZ—F :EFEN45E L) -
the borrowing subsidiaries. These loans are subjected to covenant Hp BBt (ZZZZ2F 8
clauses. #10.8018 L) MR A S B (&KW B

DB EROEF - XS RHA
TR R

HIEREEERAR
2023 F1f
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HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

34 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
The carrying value of the bank and other borrowings approximate
their fair values as majority of the borrowings carried interest at
floating rate. The bank and other borrowings are denominated in the

following currencies:

British Pound
Canadian dollar
Hong Kong dollar
Renminbi

US dollar

The effective interest rates per annum

borrowings as at 31 March were as follows:

British Pound
Canadian dollar
Hong Kong dollar
Renminbi

US dollar

HEE
MEXT
5
AR
ETT

of the bank and other

R
MEKRTT
ke
AR%
E

Bank and other borrowings of HK$1,521,691,000 (2022:
HK$1,872,900,000) were secured by charges on the assets of
the Group as set out in notes 14, 15, 22, 25, 26, 28 and 31 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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3 RITREMER

(IIE)

BN A ERTIAF B A RS

WMITREMERZEEHERELEAAR
BHEE - RTREMERTIUATIE
M REN
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
383,966 407,987
7,108 1,325
2,438,099 2,241,950
192,684 223,805
859,271 1,144,833
3,881,128 4,019,900
R=ZA=+— fﬁ HEMfEgRe
?%ﬁﬂiﬁ
2023 2022
—E-= —=E=-=
5.9% 2.3%
6.0% 1.7%
4.4% 1.4%
4.2% 4.1%
5.3% 3.3%

IRIT R HEMEFE1,521,691,0007C

(ZZ - — 4 :75%1,872,900,0007T )
TAAREEEEEER REEVHE
WERMFE14 1522 2526 28K
31TAEF -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BN
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—HBLFE

35 SHARE CAPITAL 35 R
Number of
shares Share capital
gl gE| (&N
HK$’000
BT T
Ordinary shares of HK$1.25 each FREEEE1.25 2 LimRk
Authorised: EERA:
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and RN_T-_—FHA—R-
31 March 2023 T F=A=+—HBK
—EZ=F=A=+—H 540,000,000 675,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRARRKRA:
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and RZZE-_—FMA—H"
31 March 2023 T F=A=+—HBK
—EZ=F=RA=+—H 301,928,440 377,411
36 RESERVES 36 fEE
Attributable to shareholders of the Company
ERTRRELR
Other
Capital Investment assets  Hedging  Exchange
Share Capital redemption revaluation revaluation revaluation fluctuation  Retained
premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits Total
EARE REEf EpEE  HWER  HERR
RBEE EXEE fife RE  EfRR R TBRE REEN 4g
HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BETn  BETn B%Tn BETR  BETn  BETR  BETn  A¥TIR BETR
(note)
(W)
At 1 April 2022 W-E--§¥mA-A 704,087 377,940 8,785 64,686 226,979 65 415171 8,414,251 10,211,964
Profit for the year EEET - - - - - - - 233888 233,888
Change in fair value of investments at fair BOMBIAEBRENERE
value through other comprehensive income ~ REMAAEES - - - 3148 - - - - [31,148)
Exchange difference on translation of RERINELR BEAAR
operations of overseas subsidiaries, REGEIERIERL
associates and joint ventures NERBER - - - - - - (295,166) - (295,166)
Fair value surplus of property, plant and NE BERREEEERANER
equipment upon transfer to investment CARERS
properties - - - - 30,595 - - - 30,595
Fair value adjustments on the derivative REAREREHANTERFIR
financial instruments designated as cash NAAERE
flow hedge - - - - - (65) - - (65)
Release of reserve upon disposal of equity ~ HERAABENALRZANERE
investment at fair value through other LRERERBEGER
comprehensive income - - - 3459 - - - (3,459) -
Total comprehensive (expenses)income FERE (L) /hELE
for the year S S - lsages) 0% (6] (25766) 230429 (67,896)
Dividends paid ke - - - - - - - [135,868)  (135,868)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=%=f=+-H 704,087 377,940 8,785 30,997 257,574 - 120,005 8,508,812 10,008,200

HIEBREEMAERALA
2023 Fif
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

36 RESERVES (CONTINUED) 36 f#E (&)

Attributable to shareholders of the Company
ARARRESE

QOther

Capital ~ Investment assets  Hedging  Exchange
Share Capital redemption  revaluation  revaluation  revaluation  fluctuation ~ Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total

ERBEN REER EREE  HRE[R HERA
KiVEE ERERE 1] HE EfEE BE  2BEE  REEN 2%
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BETT  EMTn A%Tr BETR ANTn BT B%Tn BEfr B%Tx

(note)
(Wist)

At 1 April 2021 R-E--EQmA-H 704,087 377,863 8,785 19,092 204,948 (51) 284,616 7,932,769 9,562,109
Profit for the year EEER - - - - - - - BM523 644503
Change in fair value of investments at fair BERBIAEDRERERE .

value through other comprehensive income ~ REMALEES - - - 455 - - - - 4559
Exchange difference on translation of RERINELR BEAAR

operations of overseas subsidiaries, REGEIERIERL

associates and joint ventures NEFBER - - - - - - 130630 - 130630
Share of other comprehensive income of FriE-ERERAz A2 NS

an associate - - - - 2,031 - - - 2,031
Fair value adjustments on the derivative EEAREREHANTERFIR

financial instruments designated as cash NAAERE

flow hedge - - - - - 116 - - 16
Total comprehensive income for the year FERANRER - - - 1559 2,031 116 130,630 644,523  822,8%
Dividends paid ERE - - - - - - - (163,041)  (163,041)
Acquisition of additional interest in AEEREGNENE L AENMER

subsidiaries from non-controlling interests - (12) - - - - - - (12)
Disposals of subsidiaries HEHBAR - 89 - - - - (75) - 14
At 31 March 2022 RZE-ZEzf=+-H 704,087 377,940 8,785 64,686 226979 65 45171 8414251 10,211,964
Note: B 3T -
The balance arose mainly from various Group reorganisations in the past T ERABEZEAEEFHENE
including redomicile of the Company, spin-offs and privatisation of group BEAANGEMR EBCEZHTIERILE
entities. 1t
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—HBLFE

37 DEFERRED TAXATION 37 EEMIE
The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities/(assets) TXFHEDIAREFERBENRSE
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior FEMRAZEIERLEHERE (&
reporting years: E)RHES:

Accelerated Amortisation
tax of intangible  Revaluation
depreciation assets  of properties Tax losses Others Total
MEHENE BEREEEH EfRN% HEFR Hif ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETR BETR BETR BETR BETR

At 1 April 2022 W-E--FMA—-H 39,831 84,398 337,084 (102,613) (23,812) 334,888
Exchange realignment 5 R 186 226 (24,822) (173) (532) (25,115)
(Credited)/charged to consolidated MrAlERA GEA) /B

income statement (note 11) (BEE11) (443) 8,087 29,107 22,089 (1,845) 56,995
Charged to reserves NERAMR - - 598 - - 598
At 31 March 2023 WZZZ=%=A=1+-A 39,574 92,711 341,967 (80,697) (26,189) 367,366
At 1 April 2021 R-E--FMA-H 38,809 76,596 295,241 65,854) (7.719) 337,073
Exchange realignment B HAE (1,893) 629 16,598 (2,417) (230) 12,687
Charged/(credited) to consolidated WEARERAMNE/ (GFA)

income statement (note 11) (W31 2,915 7173 25,245 (34,342) (15,863) (14,872)
At 31 March 2022 WZEZZE=fA=1—-H 39,831 84,398 337,084 (102,613) (23,812) 334,888

HIEBREEMAERALA
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B

BT -AZ+—HULEFE

37 DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

For the purposes of consolidated statement of financial position
presentation, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

Deferred tax assets EETIBE E
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEAE

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had unused tax losses of
HK$3,405,622,000 (2022: HK$3,102,887,000) available for
offset against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets
had been recognised in respect of HK$339,923,000 (2022:
HK$272,978,000) of such losses. No deferred tax assets had
been recognised in respect of the remaining HK$3,065,699,000
(2022: HK$2,829,909,000) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses were losses
of HK$105,122,000, HK$126,553,000 and HK$14,745,000 of
subsidiaries in Mainland China, the USA and Canada that will
gradually expire up to December 2027, March 2038 and March
2043 respectively; the remaining tax losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

As at 31 March 2023, deferred tax liabilities of HK$167,198,000
(2022: HK$170,519,000) had not been recognised for the withholding
tax that would be payable on the unappropriated earnings of certain
subsidiaries. Such amounts were expected to be reinvested.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had unrecognised deductible
temporary differences of HK$254,407,000 (2022: HK$265,825,000).
No deferred tax asset had been recognised in relation to such
deductible temporary differences as it is not probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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37 REHIR (&)
BERAMBRRAKR ZHEINITA
ETREERREERBBERLDFE
iﬁ TE 5 e ik 2RI TR A B4

~iEe

DR

2023 2022

—E== —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T
(70,803) (69,055)
438,169 403,943
367,366 334,888
R E-_=Z=F#=ZA=+—8"

$¥l$amZME%aﬁ%%
3,405,622,000 (=& = =

B 1#3,102,887,0007T ) ° Tﬁﬁfﬂﬁﬁ
HERZERMRER -EpEE
33992300075(_?__ B

272,978,0007T) 2 MIBEEE R
BIEER EE E o B R K s 5l 2 A
TER - MW ER ST 2 HIEEEE
#53,065,699,0007C (T = —F : &
#2,829,909,0007T ) ERELERIEE
E-WAERMEBESESRBHA
- EERMERMB AR ZEED
#105,122,0007T * & #126,553,000
7T K 76 #14,745,0007T c HE R H 5
AE—ZT-_+F+=-7" _Yf)\i
—ARZZENM=F=F MHT2H
HEB G ER AL

WZZEZ=F=A=+—H kA
BETHEB QR KD IREF A &8
TRN2ENBBEREERIEEES
#167,198,000C (Z T = —F : B
170,519,0007T) - TEHAL EFIEE A
TEBEE -

RZEZ=ZF=ZA=+—H K&
lZ*ﬁEwT?DWﬁEHﬂEEﬁF;/E
#2654,407,000c (Z T F : B
265,825,0007T ) ° FE 5T R 2K I £ B
W ERREMUBEREEEZ
AR E R ER MR EREH
ZAMBEREEZEARELERBEE
Eo



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE M B MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—HBLFE

38 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Cash generated from operations

Profit before taxation

Adjustments for:

Share of results of associates

Share of results of joint ventures

Interest income

Interest expenses on bank overdrafts,
a non-controlling interest and bank
and other borrowings

Interest expenses on lease liabilities

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Amortisation of other intangible assets

Increase in fair value of investment
properties

(Gain)/loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment, net

Loss on disposal of a senior housing
business (note 38(b)(i))

Loss on disposal of assets held-for-sale

Gain on disposals of subsidiaries
(note 38(b)(iii))

Loss on investments at fair value
through profit or loss

Gain on derivative financial instruments

Provision recognised for inventories to
net realisable value, net

Provision recognised for trade and
other debtors, net

Impairment loss on goodwill

Provision written back for properties
for sale

Impairment loss on properties for sale

Impairment loss on property, plant
and equipment

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital

38 MEHREHREXRMT

(a) REEEZHRE

B A% A1 it A

HE

PIREE NI E

Priae2tRERE

B M A

RITES - —FIEREEAR
RITREAMEROFE X

HMERBNME

ME -BEEREZ
e

H Al 8 Y & 7 5

BEMFE 2 AERM

HEDE BMELEEZ
(W) kB 758
HE—BLERESEBKZEBIE
(Bt 5E38(b) (i) )
HESIEHEEEZEIE
HEMB AR Z ke
( Bt FE38(b) i) )
RARBIABRERY
wEEIE
PTEMB I A W
EHRATEREZAIEZIRFE
R
EHRESREMERERZ
BE - F 5
BEZREEE
BOofsEWMEEE

FEMEZRERER
ME - BEEREREEE

LEESEBACKLERERE

2023 2022
—E-= =
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
418,629 849,540
(173,859) (144,756)
49,355 (82,013)
(52,454) (27,073)
133,463 84,507
3,749 4,085
203,968 195,340
9,147 16,477
(103,879) (288,719)
(4,230) 5,878
18,337 -
146 -
- (8,471)
14,456 79,974
(843) (8)
9,419 5,173
26,064 32,643
- 4,040
(30,000) -
23,294 732
28,984 27,678
R 573,746 755,027
HEEREEARA T

2023 F1f
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

38 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 38 MEBRERERME (H)

(CONTINUED)
(a) Cash generated from operations (continued) (a) REEEZHE (F)
2023 2022
HK$000 HK$ 000
BT T BT T
Changes in working capital BEESEH
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due JE U5 FE 2 AR A 25 BR SRR
from non-controlling interests (#8hn) 5 (31,446)
Increase in investments at amortised LB SRR P AR 2 A G N
cost (147,082) (32,288)
Increase in investments at fair value BEARBEIAEBRRE KA
through profit or loss, net - FEE (343,259) (315,479)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FE M R (23,208) 4,868
Decrease in properties for sale SEMERD 42,509 797,825
Increase in properties under BRAPYEILM
development (436,934) (637,240)
Decrease/(increase) in debtors, EURER - aHEE BN FH
contract assets, deposits paid me kT RIER D, (1)
and prepayments 82,031 (334,070)
Increase in amounts due to &S FE 128 i 2 AR BRI AN
non-controlling interests 14,989 22,829
Increase/(decrease) in creditors, AR EAEE BBEA
bills payable, deposits received, e aHEE BREAR
contract liabilities, accruals and B, CRd)
provisions 222,200 (78,669)
(Decrease)/increase in unearned IR B & oK 38 2R R B o
insurance premiums and unexpired (R4 /1
risk reserves (31,112) 227,638
Increase in outstanding insurance FRIORR R RE N
claims 263,354 169,932
Decrease/(increase) in assets HIEREEERD, (3EMN)
held-for-sale 2,771 (2,464)
Other non-cash items HM3IEREIAEE (6,077) (1,753)
Total changes in working capital sERe#EeEE (359,813) . (210,317)
Cash generated from operations REEE 2R 213,933 544,710
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—HBLFE

38 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 38 mERESHRERME (E)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Acquisitions and disposals (b) IR EHE

(i) Disposal of a senior housing business

On 21 November 2022, the Group has entered into an
agreement with an independent third party to dispose of
a senior housing property located in Michigan, USA, and
its related business for a total consideration of (i) US$17.9
million (equivalent to approximately HK$140 million), subject
to closing adjustment, and (i) a contingent consideration
that is capped and limited to a maximum amount of US$3
million (equivalent to approximately HK$23.5 million). The
transaction was completed on 1 March 2023.

(i)

HE-—BRZEREXHK

RNEFEBTE=ZFT—
MiHE ABRE —ELRE
EZHFEBEMNOTERSY
XREEBER BREA
(11,7908 E 7T (HE R AE
¥140B0) AIEREEF
B R(i) ER&= A3008
EL(HERHEE23508
TTIHMHARE -ZRHER
—E-=F=A—HB%xk-

2023
HK$000
BT T
Cash consideration ReRE 140,336
Less: professional fees and other expenses B BEERRHEMEH (7,541)
R 132,795
Property, plant and equipment (note 15) M- WE kA (FE15) (120,324)
Goodwill (note 16) & (FfEE16) (30,423)
Deposits paid EfNFEHEZS (385)
Total assets disposed EnEcesEs (151,132) _
Loss on disposal (note 8) HEEEEE (KFEs) (18,337)
Net cash inflow arising from the disposal: HEFEELENBESRAFRE:
Cash consideration received EReRE 140,336
Less: professional fees and other expenses WEEERREMETH (7,541)
132,795
HIEREEERAR

2023 F1f
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HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE
38 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(CONTINUED)
(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued)
(ii) Acquisition of a subsidiary (ii)
On 28 May 2021, the Group entered into an agreement to
acquire 100% of a company, which operates a rehabilitation

centre in Hong Kong at the consideration of HK$8,900,000.
The transaction was completed on 31 May 2021.

38 ZERSRERMEE (&)

(b) WERHE ()

Wi —EHE QS
R-ZE-_—FHA-+N\H
REBRY — DA E
8,900,0007T H) X (& Y g —
MEBBLEERFLAA
AIAI100% WIE - ZRXHER
—E-—FRA=1+—H=E
Wo

Purchase consideration satisfied by:
Cash paid

Fair value of net assets acquired:
Property, plant and equipment (note 15)
Debtors, deposits paid and prepayments

Bank balances and cash
Creditors, deposits received, accruals and
lease liabilities

Net assets acquired
Goodwill (note 16)

Acquisition related expenses (included in
administrative expenses)

Net cash outflow arising from the acquisition:

Cash consideration paid
Bank balances and cash

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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2022
—E2-=
HK$'000
BT T
BEREBZIMNAA:
BE& X 8,900
Tk B EEFEZAAE:
V¥ W= MERE (W5E15) 6,337
WX ENfFLEE R
TEA FOR 798
IRITHEGFRRE 931
ERERR  EWEFEAZSE
ERERAKEEASE (3,206)
Friig & = FE 4,860
2 (ff3E16) 4,040
8,900
BB B (FFAFTEZH)
319
WEE 2 IR & M FE
BENRERE (8,900)
RITHEFRRE 931
(7,969)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE M B MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

38 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 38 mMEBRERERME (H)

(CONTINUED)
(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued)

(b) WERHE (&)
(iii) HEKWBE 27

(iii) Disposals of subsidiaries

In January 2020, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “Agreement”) with an independent third
party to dispose of the Group's entire interest in eight
companies (the “Disposal Group”, which owned seven
senior housing properties and related assets and liabilities
located in North Carolina, USA). Subsequent to the
Agreement, there were further negotiations between the
Group and the purchaser to extend the completion of the
disposal due to changes in the market environment caused
by the enduring impact of Novel Coronavirus (“COVID-19
pandemic”).

R-ZFE-_FTF—F K%KH
EHBVYFE=FFIL—1PE
Emz([HEl)UHER
SERNERA(THEA
Al EEBRREEIERE
KM tRRER & WE
URHEHEEERAE) 22
MEm-NFLHER A
REERHBS (120198 AR
WERRBNKEZEE
HMmSRRES AEEHE
B PERALERATHK
HEER-

On 31 May 2021 and 29 June 2021, the Group and the RZFEZ—FHH=1+—8H
purchaser, after further consideration of the adverse impacts EZZTEZ—FXA=ZtTnh

of COVID-19 pandemic on the USA economy, entered into
the amendment agreements to further amend the terms
of the agreements. The major amendments include (i) the
number of target companies subject to disposal reduced
from eight to six (the "“Revised Disposal Group”), with
the corresponding reduction in number of senior housing
properties from seven to five; (ii) the consideration for the
disposal being US$22.5 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$175.5 million), subject to (a) downward adjustment for
an amount equal to outstanding loan balance and accrued
interest which shall remain with a target company (which
was US$5.1 million (equivalent to approximately HK$39.8
million)) as at 31 March 2022, (b) upward adjustment
reflecting the capital expenditure which may be incurred
on the five properties between the date of the agreement
and the revised completion date; and (c) completion would
take place in two separate closing. The first closing was
completed on 30 June 2021 and the second closing was
completed on 31 March 2022.

H - ASEBEBEEHFRE—F
ZE20198 MR B FmEEE
FTEEENTH 2% 5
TR E A E— BT H
AR EEBETRIE)
TUHENEZEAREE &
NERABEAE ([EEE]
HEAR]) mMEERED
¥HBEAAEHMBEFARE
A (NHEEENRER
22508 7T (FBE R LB
1.765187C) ' (a) A] T A & &8
HER—HERARAIRZE
—ZFE=A=+—H2ZXkE
EERERIEGFEBE (B
5108 E T (HERLBE
3,980&7T) ) (b) AT L=
BUARBMAMYERZB
HAZE & R] 52k B BR AR AT
BEEEMEATH: ROX
SO MR L EE - FE—
REEER T - —F XA
“tHER MBE_REE
ER_E_—_F=H=+—
H5ER °
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HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

38 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(CONTINUED)
(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued)
(iii) Disposals of subsidiaries (continued)

Consideration received and receivables

Less: discount impact on consideration receivables
(note)

Less: professional fees and other expenses

Net assets disposed
Exchange fluctuation reserve released upon disposal

Gain on disposal, net (note 8)

Taxation

Loss on disposal, net of taxation

Net cash inflow arising from the disposal:
Cash consideration received
Less: professional fees and other expenses

Note:

The Group agrees to provide seller financing for a portion of the
selling price in an amount equal to US$4,970,000 (equivalent to

approximately HK$38,617,000).

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

The maturity date of the seller
financing shall be the date that is three years after the first closing
date, i.e. 30 June 2021, with a balloon payment of all principal and
accrued and unpaid interest due at maturity, subject to two one-
year extensions, which is stated at amortised cost and included
in other non-current assets. The carrying amount of the receivable
was HK$24,902,000 (2022: HK$21,008,000) as at 31 March 2023.

38 ZMERESHRERME (E)

(b) WERHE ()
(iii) HEMB 2 (&)

2022
B HK_ssGoo
BT T
B R EKKE 143,132
B R ENINEEE
(KIsE) (20,283)
W EEERREMST S (2,723)
120,126
BEREZEEFE (111,730)
HERBRZINELLEEFEE 75
HEEE W FEE (H5E8) 8,471
el (16,087)
MEEEEIE  NREIE (7,616)
HEEHEEMNRERAFRA:
BURIRERE 97,630
B EEERAEREMET L (2,723)
94,907
B 3E
ﬁ%@ﬁ%?f% B E IR
HEITBRE 28BHEFER
4,970,000% 7T (*ﬁ A #7 H
%ﬁﬁﬁmﬁ)jéﬁﬁémﬂ

HA®AE —REHE B (A
:;f:—ix\ﬁlf-t-a)?éz

FoREHMK B —F B
HMENRBERBEAS KB BHE
2 FEETF) B R 45 B A 71 BR
MEBBEEHEMIERSEES -
%:2:‘¢‘H‘+ B
FE U 3K IEZ%EMEE%%
24,902,000c (=T = =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE M B MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—HBLFE

38 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 38 mMEBRERERME (H)

(CONTINUED)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities/(assets) arising from financing (c) MEZBFMELAE (BE)
activities ZH R

Bank and Pledged
other bank Lease
borrowings deposits liabilities

BITR [RF: i
HunE = RITER HESE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
At 1 April 2022 MR-ZE-—_FMA—H 4,019,900 (143,201) 109,234
Cash flows ReER=E (93,327) 137,499 (25,280)
Exchange realignment & H AR (39,880) - (6,952)
New lease arrangements NHELH - - 21,066
Others Hith (5,565) - (1,847)
At 31 March 2023 RZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—H 3,881,128 (5,702) 96,221
At 1 April 2021 R-ZZE-—FMmMA—H 3,498,824 (227,603) 80,492
Cash flows BeERE 519,734 84,402 (26,980)
Exchange realignment PE 52 4,567 - 2,062
New lease arrangements MHELTH - - 53,531
Others Hity (3,225) - 129
At 31 March 2022 RZE-_—_F=Z/F=+—H 4,019,900 (143,201) 109,234

HEtEREEERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=+—BHLEFE

39 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL 39

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in business
combinations are allocated at acquisition to the CGUs or groups of
CGUs that are expected to benefit. The respective carrying amounts
as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 had been allocated as follows:

BmEZRENR
BETREINR REBAHEA
CEEDRKES O REEHTE
ZHREELBUSBEELEMA
AleR—ZFE_=FR=_F-__F-H
=t+—H SEHZEABECESEDN
T

Cost 58N
Property development and operations MEZERKEE
- cold storage and public bonded — REEERARRUE
warehouse (note a) (FfzEa)
Senior housing (note b) ZEE (HiEb)
Others H Aty
Accumulated impairment loss Rt BEER
Property development and operations MEBRRLEE
- cold storage and public bonded — REREERARRME
warehouse (note a) (FfzEa)
Senior housing (note b) ZERE (H3Eb)
Net book value BREFE

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more
frequently if there are indications that they might be impaired.

Determining whether goodwill is impaired require estimations of
the higher of the value-in-use or fair value less cost to sell. Where
discounted cash flow forecast is used to estimate recoverable
amount, it requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from CGUs or groups of CGUs and suitable
discount rates in order to calculate present value.
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Goodwill
HE
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEET T BT
66,027 66,027
542,310 571,323
8,747 8,863
o 617,084 | 646,213
1,461 1,461
10,204 10,188
. 11,665 11,649
605,419 634,564

AEESFHEARABRTER
WA AEERETRE & F A
AT RIS -

ErmEEaRERMAAERTE
ELAREHNREERAZESE -
e 52 P A 3R 3R & O & T8R4 & AT IR
e AREEREARSELE
UaBReELBEMAMNBRELEZ
ARBEERERBEERRE  UFE
HIBME-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Cold storage and public bonded warehouse business

Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices
and expectations of future changes in the market. Management
determined budgeted growth rates and gross margins based on past
performance and market expectation. The discount rates reflect specific
risks relating to the relevant CGUs.

Goodwill, after impairment, of HK$64,566,000 (2022: HK$64,566,000)
is allocated to the Group's cold storage and public bonded warehouse
business. The estimated recoverable amount is determined based
on value-in-use approach. The calculation uses post-tax cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a one-year period. Cash flows beyond the period are
extrapolated using a 2% (2022: 2%) terminal growth rate per annum and
a 10% (2022: 9%) discount rate per annum.

Senior housing business

Goodwill, after impairment, of HK$532,106,000 (2022: HK$561,135,000)
is allocated to the Group's senior housing business. The estimated
recoverable amounts in relation to the goodwill of HK$505,202,000
are determined based on value-in-use approach, while that in relation
to the goodwill of HK$26,904,000 are determined based on its fair
value less cost to sell. The value-in-use calculation uses pre-tax cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management
covering three to five-year period. Cash flows beyond the period are
extrapolated using a 3% (2022: 2.75%-4%) terminal growth rate per
annum, average annual revenue growth rate of 5%-17% (2022: 6.5%)
and a 10.1%-12.2% (2022: 8.1%-12%) discount rate per annum which
are the key assumptions adopted in the value-in-use calculation.

For illustration purposes in relation to the goodwill assessed under
value-in-use approach, with all other variables and assumptions held
constant, a hypothetical 1% increase in discount rate or a reduction
of projected census to pre-pandemic level would not give rise to any
impairment. A hypothetical 5% decrease in the projected annual revenue
would cause the carrying amount of goodwill to reduce by approximately
10%. The sensitivity analysis is for illustration purposes only and it
should be noted that in practice assumptions and estimates used in
preparing discounted cash flow projection including those used in the
value-in-use calculations do not necessarily change in isolation. Actual
results in the future may differ materially from the sensitivity analyses.

iR B IR AR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

39 BmEZBREMNR (&)

B o

(a)

(b)

RHERERABRUAER
EERBEERAZBLREBEBEE
PIREmSRRERE ZBHmE &
EERBAERBALMSHEAEE
REEREERRER X R R R B
HEARSELEEMMP R ZEER
B o

TRk E 18 75 28 564,566,0000T (= F
— — 4 : 3 %64,566,0007T) % 0
EAREECZRBEERABREE
¥t S B HIRFERPE
BEET BHATHEERAREEERE
s —FHHBEEECRRER
EREFEA - BRPRZRESAER

BEF2% (ZEZ_F 2% ) Kk
BEEFI0% (ZZE = —F:9% )85
MERHEH -
TERESEL

R 1B 18 75 = 8 532,106,000 (=
T — — 4 F 561,135,000 ) ¥
PHREAEB 2T EREER -
EEEENFT I KRB EBE
505,202,0007C Jy I A R EEEE
EMABEENGHT I RE S
#26,904,0007T Bl #Z A 7o (B 30 B 88
ERAET - ERFEAFEETERF
AREEEBIUZZ ZEAFHY
BHREZHEBARSRERA - BB
HEZEESRELEEFEI% (2
T 2.75% B4% ) R mig R R
HE5% E17% (ZE-—"F:65%)
BFHWAREEEKI0.1% £12.2%
ZE - HF:81%%F12% )R E
ZEE (W AHEFRAPEENRA
ZERERE) -

HHARE BRAALAPEEETN
HOEE EMEREBEERBRRSE
FARBERT kB T
1% IR A O EERDERBARIK
T e EBUEMIRE - BR TR F
BEWARD5%  HEBmEREE
B EI0% - FRE ST EHEF AR
B BEIE EEBREBALAT R®E
RBRREREFBAANRER M
H(RRERAPEESEMANRE
LEE) T —EEBEEH KRER
ERAEEGBREIMEERER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HILFE

39 BmEZEENR (&)
MizE: (&)

39 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

RERBER (F)

REREEBRNBERZIAENE
BIRGL T B A ST 2 RN
SR T BT EE R ROER - BEDE
BREERS R (AT BE) BTRE
HIRFT B2 R TE  BERBERS
NAABERE MEERERORD -2
(B T0E 7 R A5 PITT 8E B 5 W BT
RIEZERFTE -EBEN_T_=F
A=+t -BIETHEBEHHEAEE

(b) Senior housing business (continued) (b)

The senior housing business operate in a heavily regulated environment
which are subject to numerous laws and regulations of federal, state,
and local government. These laws and regulations relate to, among
other things, such as government healthcare programme participation
requirements, regulations regarding reimbursement for patient services
and related billing, fraud and abuse. Violation of certain laws and
regulations could result in the expulsion from government healthcare
programme. Management was not aware of any actions or potential
actions against the Group as at 31 March 2023.

K ERITEI KB EITE) ©
40 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES 0 EEREEZRERIRER
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEE&
Emoluments paid and payable to the Directors are as follows: BENRENESMESOT
Salaries Retirement
Directors’ and other scheme
Fee benefits  contribution Total
ek  BARFEZ
EZHS HttE A % B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETRT BETR BET T
2023 —E-=%
Executive Directors BTES
Kuok Hoi Sang $EE
(Chairman and Managing Director) (FTEREZRLE) - 20,200 863 21,063
Tam Kwok Wing ERE
{Deputy Managing Director) (BlE=@KH) - 14,670 594 15,264
Ho Chung Leung R - 4,340 275 4,615
Ma Chi Wing FEE - 8,270 418 8,688
Lily Chow BFF - 2,480 186 2,666
Non-Executive Directors FBTES
Yang Chuen Liang, Charles* BER 450 - - 450
Poon Chung Kwong* BT 400 - - 400
Irons Sze* ik 350 - - 350
Sun Leland Li Hsun* R E) 350 - - 350
Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar [B 4 IE 450 - - 450
2,000 49,960 2,336 54,296
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
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40 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES W EEFNEEZEINRER

(CONTINUED) (%&)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) ESM S (&)
Retirement
Directors’ Salaries and scheme
Fee other benefits contribution Total
Hek  RikErElz
ExMe Hiig# R k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BETT BETT

2022 e -2
Executive Directors BITES
Kuok Hoi Sang $EE

(Chairman and Managing Director) (FTEREZRLE) - 19,801 833 20,634
Tam Kwok Wing ERE

(Deputy Managing Director) (BlE=@LH) - 14,401 574 14,975
Ho Chung Leung Al R R - 4,230 266 4,496
Ma Chi Wing Lt - 8,101 405 8,506
Lily Chow =Rk - 2,401 180 2,581
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Yang Chuen Liang, Charles® BEm 450 - - 450
Poon Chung Kwong? AR 400 - - 400
Irons Sze Mo 350 - - 350
Sun Leland Li Hsun* Bus 350 - - 350
Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar [B 4 IE 450 - - 450
Ko Chan Gock, William (note) =REE (M) 40 - - 40

2,040 48,934 2,258 53,232

*  Independent Non-Executive Director tOBNIERITES
Note: M3 -
Dr. Ko Chan Gock, William retired as the Non-Executive Director of the saEEBELTEBE-_ZT=—FN\A
Company with effect from the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting ZH=ZHROIZBREEAFAEER
on 23 August 2021. RERAERNABIFNITESE

HIEREEERAR
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e M B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=+—BHLEFE

40 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES W EEFNEEZEINRER

(CONTINUED)

(b) Employees’ emoluments
The five highest paid individuals include three (2022: three)
Directors, details of whose emoluments are set out above. The
total emoluments paid to the remaining two (2022: two) highest
paid individuals is as follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ & ~ 284 & H i 1g 7
Performance-based bonus BRIVER 2L
Contributions to retirement scheme RRET & 2 73R

The emoluments of the remaining two (2022: two) highest paid
individuals fall within the following band.

HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000 B4, 500,001 7T &
7 #5,000,0007T
HK$6,500,001 — HK$7,000,000 756,500,001 L E

75 #7,000,0007T

The above emoluments paid and payable to Directors and
employee also represent only benefits paid to the Group's key
management during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company was
a party and in which a Director or any entities connected with
a Director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.
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(&)
(b) EEME

hEReFHMALERE=2 (=
T _F ZR)EF WEZH
SHBOEAINWM LT HEER

ME(ZEZ—F - MB)&ZaH
AT Z @B T

2023 2022
:g:z —_=__

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
7,645 7,487

4,065 2,050

18 18

11,728 9,555

ESMB(ZE__F WE) &
BSHEMALTZEE S B THE
il

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
1 2

1 —

FmEEREEENREMNZ
Me MR E—_S_=F K=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4=

7172 S e

ZpZE e

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

ZREE

The Group had contingent liabilities in respect of guarantees issued
for utilised borrowings in relation to:

AEBEECE MG RMIEL 2 ER
ZHEABBEATEIERR:

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$ 000
BT T BT
Banking facilities granted to an associate By —HEBERr2RITEE 1,132 1,033
Guarantees given to banks and housing BTYROTNEEAEESER
provident fund management centres RLMBETETUEERZ
for mortgage facilities granted to ZBEENER
certain buyers of properties 214,964 335,823
216,096 336,856

The Group's share of contingent liabilities of its joint ventures was

AEBRHEGELEZHAEE

as follows: wm
2023 2022
—E-= e
HK$'000 HK$ 000
BT T BT T
Guarantees given to banks for mortgage BTRTHARTEELEL
facilities granted to certain buyers of MENETERCIEBEE
the joint ventures’ properties #E R - 304

In respect of a completed engineering contract, the Group
has contingent liabilities arising from the claims lodged by a
subcontractor for an unprovided amount of approximately HK$27
million (2022: HK$27 million). The ultimate outflow, if any, to settle
this possible obligation is subject to the final outcome of the legal
proceedings and is uncertain.

H—BEEERANIRANMS A&
ER-—E20BMt—S£LAETE2E
LB 7008 T (ZEZ_F: 8K
27008 M) IRHREMELEXAE
B BELEZTREEANEEIN
(MBE)R T EARFANRKRERT
7E v E MR EERETE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BN
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

42 COMMITMENT

The Group had commitment as follows:

Contracted but not provided for
in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of
— property development projects
— purchase of property, plant and
equipment
—an equity investment

- MEERER

- —BERE

The Group's share of commitment of its joint ventures was as
follows:

Contracted but not provided for EEFI & AERETR

43 LEASE COMMITMENTS
The Group as lessee
Lease commitments for short-term and low value asset leases

which were due within one year amounted to HK$929,000 (2022:
HK$2,180,000).

The Group as lessor

As at 31 March 2023, investment properties and properties for sale
with carrying values of HK$4,288,743,000 and HK$34,755,000 (2022:
HK$4,279,014,000 and HK$36,213,000) respectively were rented out
under operating leases. These properties have committed tenants up
to eighteen years.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

- BEVE BERE

FTIIRBERAANERE
A BRER AR RZAE

42 EIE
REB Z&EEMT
2023 2022
—E-= —F=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
210,323 283,365
42,910 111,245
- 6,264
253,233 400,874

43

AEBEMEERELRZAIENT

2023 2022
—E-= =
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
7,528 8,518
HEAE
REBEREBAA

R—ERNIHANEEENEEBEEE
HEMMEE&IEAEK929,000T
(ZZ= = —F :%%2180,0007T) °

AEBEEREEA
RZE_=F=ZFA=+—"H L&
BEHEXHACKREMERFEDE
Z BREE D B & 7% ¥4,288,743,0007T
I 78 834,755,000 (- & — —

& #54,279,014,0007T M 7% #36,213,000
TT) W EMEERTAENERE TN
FARFEA-
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44

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LEASE COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Group as lessor (continued)

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the Group
in future periods as follows:

Within one year —FR

After 1 year but within 2 years FR A — FEMF N
After 2 years but within 3 years HBEAMFE=ZFA
After 3 years but within 4 years fEid = FEMFA
After 4 years but within 5 years HBANFEAFA
After five years HBBARF

RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group has established various retirement benefit schemes for
the benefit of its staff in Hong Kong and overseas.

In Hong Kong, the Group participates in both defined contribution
schemes which are Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance
(“ORSQO") Schemes registered under the ORSO and Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes (the “MPF Schemes”) established under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (“MPFQ") in
December 2000. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group and in funds under the control of trustees.
The ORSO Schemes are funded by monthly contributions from both
employees and the Group at rates ranging from 5% to 7.5% of the
employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of service with the
Group. For members of the MPF Schemes, the Group contributes
5% of the relevant payroll costs per employee, at a maximum of
HK$1,500 per month during the year ended 31 March 2023, to the
mandatory contribution of the MPF Schemes.

Where there are employees who leave the ORSO Schemes prior
to vesting fully in the contributions, the contributions payable by
the Group are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions. As
at 31 March 2023 and 2022, there were no forfeited contributions,
which arose upon employees leaving the ORSO Schemes and which
would be available to reduce the contributions payable in future
years. No forfeited contributions utilised in this manner during the
year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$Nil). As at 31 March 2023,
contributions of HK$3,540,000 (2022: HK$3,704,000) due in respect
of the reporting period were paid over to various schemes in April
2023.

43

44

iR B IR AR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

HEAE (F])
AEEERLEA (H)
AEBMREE R BRET A MZ
2 E T E A R R R A 2 R A
RAEERAEMT

2023 2022

—EZ= [ ——
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
169,506 170,831
56,646 131,522
24,183 38,121
11,858 22,401
10,078 16,934
72,626 112,644
344,897 492,453

3R ¢ 48 A

AEBRBEENEIBEE ZRHR
M ERERREHEE

REB AEBEL2EWERTHENRG
g% (B EERIRETERG) (B2
RIREEEVER ) o M 2 B 3R KT
BER_ZEETF+ = Ak (R
MRTESFTEED) ([RBESEG])
JaZRFIMEATEEHE ([RES
irE)  ZEFECEETAER
AEHzEeRHE BAEEEESD
FEE - ERIRETE BE KA
SESRAEEEEH 25% £75% &
HEE KT EERAEEZFEM
E-AEBEARBEESTE ZKE &
WHEREEFHMN 2% (BE T - =
FZAZt+-—BLFERNEBAEZ
AEEE1,500) LR ES A EIEH
SR MR o

HMEERHAZHBEENR LB
EBREHE BRI ERAIEAARE
BHMBENERZA- R ==
FER_EBE-_—_F=ZA=Z=+—H I
EAEERIBERNKTE MR
ARFEMREMERTRZERK
MR- HE_ETE-_=F==+—
BrEERY &AL ESAZ
BERRER(ZE_—F &S
) M-ZZBE-_=%F=AF=+—8"
THREHEEMN S EHIE
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e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

imE BRI EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

B

E-T-_ZFZA=Z+—HILFE

44 RETIREMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (Cap.57),
the Group has the obligation to pay long service pay (“LSP") to
qualifying employees in Hong Kong upon retirement, subject to a
minimum of 5 years employment period, based on the following
formula:

Last full month’s wages (before termination of employment) x
2/3 x Years of service

Last full month's wages are capped at HK$22,500 while the amount
of LSP shall not exceed HK$390,000.

Furthermore, the MPFO and/or the ORSO permit the Group to
utilise the Group's contributions to MPF Schemes and/or the
ORSO Schemes, plus/minus any positive/negative returns thereof
(collectively, the "Eligible Offset Amount”), for the purpose
of offsetting LSP payable to an employee (the “Offsetting
Arrangement”). The LSP obligation, if any, is presented on a net
basis.

The Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 was enacted in June
2022 which will eventually abolish the Offsetting Arrangement. The
Amendment will come into effect prospectively from 1 May 2025
(the “Transition Date”). Under the amended Ordinance, the Eligible
Offset Amount after the Transition Date can only be applied to
offset the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but no longer eligible
to offset the post-Transition Date LSP obligation. Furthermore, the
LSP obligations before the Transition Date will be grandfathered
and calculated based on the last full month’s wages immediately
preceding the Transition Date. On the other hand, the Hong Kong
Government will launch a 25-year subsidy scheme to share out
employers’ expenses on post-transition portion of LSP

The Group also participates in the employee pension schemes in
countries or locations where the Group operates. The Group is
required to make defined contributions at rates calculated as a
certain percentage or sum of the monthly payroll.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-_ZF-A=Z+—BLFE

45 BEBAERS

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material transactions entered into during the year with

related parties are as follows:

RENEREBTEZXIZFHBOT

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$ 000
BT T BT
Contract income from a joint venture KE—HEEDLEZADRA 4,041 26
Contract fee to an associate BT HBERRIZANER (14,561) (1,942)
Management fee income from an associate KB —EBZ AR 2 EEEWA
(note 7) (Ht&E7) 19,800 19,800
Management fee income from joint REGELECLEEBIA
ventures (note 7) (BF7E7) 3,035 2,955
Maintenance fee to an associate BT HBERRIZREER (8,740) (8,646)
Management fee to an associate BT HBERRICEERER (343) (347)
Building management fee income from KE—HBERRZEFTERES
an associate A 708 845
Rental income from an associate KE—MEEE R Z2HEEWA 22,053 22,270
Rental expenses to an associate LY—EBEA AR z2HESZ T (143) (153)
Sales and marketing services income from KRB —[EEBE 7 Z2HEEETHS
an associate (note 7) HERBWKA (H3E7) 37,812 36,465
Secondment fee income from an associate KB —fEZ Qa2 EFHE WA 1,749 1,727
Service fee income from associates REBE AR ZRBEEKA
(note 7) (Ht&E7) 449 594
Interest income from an associate KE—MEEEREZFBUWmA 1,172 333
Interest income from a joint venture KE—HEEDLEZFBERA 3,616 2,478
Insurance premium from an associate KE—HBE AR ZIRKRE 6,370 7,763

LR ZDIEMAEERS T AR
FEZARFRETSL

The above transactions were entered at terms mutually agreed
between all parties involved.

REREZ(HRENEREAEEE
TEMEBRE) 2HFMNENGEETE
KM 5E40 ©

The emoluments of the Directors, who are also considered to be
key management of the Group, during the year is set out in note 40
to the consolidated financial statements.

HIEREEERAR
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

46 ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE 46

Balance as at 31 March 2022

In March 2022, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to dispose of the
Group's entire interest in one senior housing property located in
Nebraska, USA. The assets were classified as assets held-for-sale

as at 31 March 2022. The assets held-for-sale have been stated at

the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The
transaction was completed on 17 May 2022.

BELEEE
E/‘\—i:zﬁ:ﬂ :_i—_ EZ,nﬁ?
RZZB__F=R KAEEHEFIHE

_EJi—ﬁﬁt%%Mﬁﬁﬁﬁ
ErRERANAN SIS —@EZ
%T%%%Z%B%ﬁ.ﬁ?“*%
RZBEZ—F=ZA=Z+—HOHE
HEEE-BEHEEECRETE
HAREREERNARZEEEIER-
SRS ER-_E-_—_FHnA++A
TERK

2022
—_EF_-—
HK$'000
BT T
Asset of subsidiaries reclassified as held-for-sale ENOEABELHEZHNBERAR
ZEE
Property, plant and equipment (note 15) Y% B MEE (W3E15) 2,913

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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47 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES 47 KATMBRARFEERR

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Company statement of financial position A T B AR R &
As at 31 March 2023 AZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—H
2023 2022
—Z==-= —E=—-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NN 2,684,946 2,646,849
Interests in associates i RN e 89,594 89,594
Other intangible assets Hth\EEE 599 599
Investments at fair value through BEARBIWIABRREZ
profit or loss "E 84,176 91,811
Investments at amortised cost BREBHEKNATEZIRE 89,113 101,800
_...2948428 . 2,930,653
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE UG BT B~ B BE 3R 6,215,357 5,803,143
Amounts due from associates JE U = R B AR 3K 19,015 25,034
Investments at fair value through BARBINABRRIE 2
profit or loss "A& 70,789 98,126
Investments at amortised cost BEEK AR ZIRE 38,393 -
Debtors, deposits paid and EWEEN EffFHEES R
prepayments A RIE 1,995 1,712
Derivative financial instruments PTHESRTA 67 -
Prepaid tax A RLIE 5,601 -
Bank balances and cash RITHEFERR S 278,150 804,591
. 6629367 | 6,732,606
Current liabilities REEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAT BT B 2 B BR 3K 2,690,389 4,422,123
Creditors, deposits received and ENER BERFAZER
accruals TERE A 14,464 6,553
Bank borrowings IRITIE K 250,000 2,097,000
e 2,954,853 | 6,525,676
Net current assets rEBpEE®EE 00009000000 3,674,514 206,930
Total assets less current liabilities MEERRBER 6,622,942 3,137,583

HIEREEERAR
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47 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Company statement of financial position (continued)

As At 31 March 2023

Capital and reserves

Share capital
Reserves (note a)

Total equity

Non-current liability

Bank borrowings

Total equity and non-current liability

IR A R fE

P A

s (fata)
RS

*RBEE
RITER

RESNRFRDEE

Approved by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2023 and signed on

its behalf by:

KUOK Hoi Sang
SE A
Director

EF

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

HO Chung Leung
AR
Director

EF

(&)

REMBRR R (&)

471 XATRMBRARBEE DR

R-_ZE_=6=RA=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= —=E=-=

HK$000 HK$ 000
BET T BT T
377,411 377,411
4,161,094 2,760,172
4,538,505 3,137,583
2,084,437 -
6,622,942 3,137,583

WEEeN _E-_=EXA=-+NH
H#E THTNESREEE:
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47 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES

Notes:

(a)

mE B HARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_TZ-_=F=A=+—HILFE

471 XATRMBRARBEE DR

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) (#)
Company statement of financial position (continued) AR BEARR R (E)
B3 -
Reserves movement of the Company (a) AATFHEE
Capital
Share  Contributed redemption Retained

premium surplus reserve profits Total

A3 E BARER EXEEHE REBEA ok

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETRT BETT BETT BETT BETRT

(note b)
(MfaEb)
At 1 April 2022 R-ZE--_%mWA—H 704,087 96,050 8,799 1,951,236 2,760,172
Profit and total comprehensive income FEGRARZAKEAE
for the year - - - 1,536,790 1,536,790
Dividends paid BRE - - - (135,868) (135,868)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-=%=A=+—H 704,087 96,050 8,799 3,352,158 4,161,094
At 1 April 2021 RZE-—%FHNA—A 704,087 96,050 8,799 1,468,629 2,277,565
Profit and total comprehensive income FERFRZANEREE
for the year - - - 645,648 645,648

Dividends paid BERRE - - - (163,041) (163,041)
At 31 March 2022 R-E-—F=A=+—H 704,087 96,050 8,799 1,951,236 2,760,172
Contributed surplus represents the difference between the value of (b) BMABBTIRERFTKEHBRARZ

net assets of subsidiaries acquired and the nominal amount of the
Company's shares issued for their acquisition. Under the Companies
Act 1981 (as amended from time to time) of Bermuda, the contributed
surplus of the Company is available for distribution to shareholders.
However, no dividend shall be paid or distribution made out of
contributed surplus if to do so would render the Company unable to pay
its liabilities as they become due or the realisable value of its assets
would thereby become less than its liabilities.

EEFHEAKRBRMBETARA
reEERZEZE - BIEARE
—NAN—FREE (BAEER])

RRABZHABRBKT A DR T K
ReRM A EZBEBHRS K
EHD IR BEBADAEEZNE
HeaE WEEAUTEREEEE/KE
WERERE AT SUEHRRE
5 B B 3 1E H ) I

HIEBREEMAERALA
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HE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HILFE

48 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 48 TEME A A

Details of the principal subsidiaries of

2023 are as follows.

Place or country
of incorporation
or registration/

Issued and paid
Class of shares up share capital/

the Group as at 31 March

BE_T_=F=-A=1t—-H &%

EExZEMEBAQF

Effective percentage of
issued share capital/

Number of  registered capital held by

HBEWT -

Name of company operation held registered capital shares the Company Principal activities
HIdER/  KERS BRRAR ARABEERANE/
ARER gXuMIER  EA R/ EREA KO8R HREAZERESE IEER
Directly Indirectly
ER 3
% %
Ample Skill Limited Hong Kong Ordinary ) HK§10,000 10,000 - 100 Property development
E£RERLE 5 ta 10,0007 XUR
Ample Trade Limited ang Kong Ordinary ‘ HK$j 1 - 100 Prqperty development
BEERDA 5 ta BEIT XUR
Changchun New Star Universe Sheng Mainland China /A RMB675,000,000 N/A - 96 Property development
Chi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. HEIA il AR 675,000,000 TER NERRE
[note a)
REHETEYRAERY
EREALA (Hia)
Chevalier (Aluminium Engineering) Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 2 - 100 Supply and installation of
Hong Kong Limited Bk i BB aluminium windows and
AT (BIR)EEBRAA curtain walls
EERZERERER
Chevalier (Aluminium Engineering) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 100 - 100 Design and supply of
Limited (note b} B i BEI00T aluminium building materials
AL (BIR)ERAF (M) Deferred  HKs2 2 - 100 and curtain walls
i BT R R ERERI R EE
Chevalier Automobiles Inc. Canada Common CAD101 200 - 100 Sale and servicing of
ngx i 101EAT automobiles
REHEREERY
Chevalier AOC Freight Express Holdings Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,500,000 1,500,000 - 45 Investment holding and
Limited (note ¢ \ B i 781 500,0007C logistcs services
ﬁi%ﬁﬁﬁﬂxﬁ& EIGET) REBBRRARRE
Chevalier (Building Supplies & Hong Kong Ordinary HK§20,000,100 20,000,100 - 100 Supply and installation
Engineering) Limited £ L@ 120,000,100 of building materials and
AT (BHIR)ERAF equip ment
ﬁiﬁ& RREMHRR
Chevalier Cali Holding (Cal) Inc. USA Common US$4,012,000 4,012,000 - 100 Grocery trading
M 3 4,012,000%7T EE5
Chevalier (Chengdu) Investment Mainland China ~ N/A RMB250,000,000 N/A - 100 Investment holding and
Management Limited (note cf hEA MER AR %250,000,0007C TER provision of management
AT (M) REEEBRAR (Mic) service
REZRRRHEEERE
Chevalier Chrysler Inc. Canada Common CAD101 200 - 100 Sale and servicing of
ngx i 101EAT automobiles
REHEREERY

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

48 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Name of company

EEL

Chevalier Cold Storage and Logistics
Limited
HTREMRERAA

Chevalier (Construction) Company
Limited
Et(RE)BRAF

Chevalier Construction (Hong Kong)

Limited (note b)
HTRE (FE)ERAF (Mib)

Chevalier (Corporate Management)
Limited

HT (RRER)ERAT

Chevalier Development (S) Pte Ltd

Chevalier (E & M Contracting) Limited
AT (B3I%)ERAA

Chevalier (Envirotech) Limited

At (RERIN)ARAT

Chevalier (Hammersmith Broadway)
Limited

Chevalier (Insurance Brokers) Limited

it (RBBRE)ARAT

Chevalier Insurance Company Limited

EERBARLA

Chevalier iTech Services Limited

HIMRIRARAA

Chevalier iTech Thai Limited (note d)

Place or country
of incorporation
or registration/
operation
R/
EXUHTER

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
5

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
5

§\'ngapore
Gkt

Hong Kong
B

ang Kong
Bk

United Kingdom
#E

ang Kong
Bk

ang Kong
Bk

ang Kong
Bk

Thailand
58

Issued and paid
Class of shares up share capital/

held registered capital
Fisikf BRTRAR
ER RA/ERBAE
Ordinary HK$2
iR BT
Ordinary HK$60,500,000
ih 7 %60,500,0007T
Ordinary HK$409,990,000
L 75 %409,990,0007C
Deferred HK§10,000
Eit 10,0007
Ordinary HK$2
ta BRI
Ordinary $$2,500,000
iR 2,500, 00081 5 T
Ordinary HK$69,200,000
iR 7 169,200,000
Ordinary HK$256,780,000
LR 7%1%256,780,0007C
Ordinary GBP100
ta RE1007
Ordinary HK$1,000,000
ta 1,000,000
Ordinary HK$300,000,000
ta %%300,000,0007T
Ordinary HKS2
ta BT
Ordinary BAHT18,980,000
ta 18,980,005k
Preference BAHT1,020,000
B 1,020,000%k

BE-T-_=F=-A=+—HLFE

48 TEMBDA (&)

Effective percentage of
issued share capital/
Number of  registered capital held by

shares the Company
AAARECRIRE/

RigE HRRAZERAS L
Directly Indirectly
E 3
% %
2 - 75
60,500,000 - 100
40,999,000 - 100
1,000 - 100
2 - 100
2,500,000 - 100
69,200,000 - 100
256,780,000 - 100
100 - 100
1,000,000 100 -
300,000,000 100 -
2 - 100
189,800 - 100
10,200 - 100

Principal activities

IRXR

Operation of a cold storage
warehouse and logistics
business

i

HERRRERMAEH

Building construction and
maintenance

BTRERRR

Building construction

Bres

Provision of corporate
management services

RUCXEEREK

Property investment

UES T

Installation of electrical
and mechanical equipment
and provision of project
management service
%%%%&ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ@

Environmental engineering
RRIR

Property investment

UES

Insurance brokerage

FRER

Insurance underwriting

RBEHK

Trading and servicing of
computers and business
machines

SRRERREESREEL

Trading of computers and
business machines

ERRARREES

HIEBREEMAERALA
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48 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Place or country
of incorporation

Issued and paid

or registration/  Class of shares up share capital/

Name of company operation held

RISHEM/ RS
AAEH EXuNIER  EA

Chevalier (KS) Limited United Kingdom ~ Ordinary
£E A

Chevalier (Macau) Limited Macau Ordinary
Ht (&) ARAA s A

Chevalier (Network Solutions) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary
At (BERR)ARRA 5 3

Chevalier Network Solutions Thai Limited Thailand Ordinary
5 tE

Chevalier Pacific Limited Hong Kong Ordinary
At BERAA &3 A

Chevalier Property Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary
note bl £ i

AtMERRARDE (Mikn) Deferred
&

Chevalier Property Management Limited Hong Kong Ordinary
[note b ‘ Bk i

ATERNZERERAA (Wib) Deferred
R

CPC Construction Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Ordinary
note b) 5 ta

ATERERERAA (Mkb) Deferred
&

Chevalier Tower Property Inc. Canada Common
ngx A

Egl\ Ascent Development Limited ang Kong Ordinary
RAZRERLA 5 3

Goldyork Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary
HRERRAT 5 £

Keysford 1 Limited ang Kong Ordinary
5 3

240 < CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

registered capital
BERAR
B /ERRE

GBP100
EE1007

MOP100,000
TR 100,000

HK$2
BB

BAHTI5,000,000
15,000,000% 4k

HK$200,000,000
%%200,000,0007

HK$360,000,000
360,000,000
HKS51

BB

HK$100
EB100T
HK$1,002
1,002

HK$415,284,200
B 5415,284,2007C
HK$25,936,200
195,936,200

CAD100
100124
HKS2
BB

HK$100
BE1007

HK$100,000
100,000

48 TEMBDA (&)

Effective percentage of
issued share capital/

Number of  registered capital held by

shares

R##AE

100

150,000

200,000,000

360,000,000

51

100

1,002

4,152,842

259,362

100

100

100,000

the Company
AAARECRIRE/
AfRECERE AL
Directly Indirectly
E [}
% %

- 100

- 100

49 51

Principal activities

IRXR

Property investment

UES T

Building construction and
installation of airconditioning
systems, aluminium windows
and curtain walls

BIREATERRAN BR
kEE

Network systems and solution
services

REZRRHERH

Trading of telecommunication
equipment
EEECED)

Property development

Property development and
investment

NEEERRE

Property management and
security services

NEEERRZRE

Investment holding and general
construction business

REBRR-BEERH

Property development &
operation

NxERREE

Property investment
NERE
Property investment

UES

Property development

UESES
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48 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 8 TEME AT (&)
Place or country Effective percentage of
of incorporation Issued and paid issued share capital/
or registration/  Class of shares up share capital/ Number of  registered capital held by
Name of company operation held registered capital shares the Company Principal activities
IR/ RS BEARAR AAAREERARE/
ARER LES LTS RE&/HREAR RA8E HREAZERES IZER
Directly Indirectly
E 3
% %
Kwai Hei Investments No.1 Limited Hong Kong Ordinary \I’-IK$W 1 - 75 Property investment
B3 iR BRI nERE
Lac Kar\lnvestment Company Limited ang Kong Ordinary ) ‘IV-IK$3,600,O(EJ 3,600,000 - 100 Prqperty investment
IMEZERLA B 28 753,600,000 NERE
Macleh (Chevalier) Limited Canada Common CAD10,100 10,100 - 100 Investment holding of property
nex gl 10,1001 KT investment and hotel
qperqtion\ o
NEREREESEL RARR
NV4 Cheyenne, LLC USA NA US$4,256,00_0 /A - 100 Operation of senior housing
M TR 4,256,005 7T TR Bezzhe
NC4 Albemarle, LLC USA NA US$10,041,476 /A - 98.6 Operation of senior housing
M TR 10,041 4765 7T TR Bezzhe
NC4 Kingsbridge, LLC USA NA US$6,056,40_5 /A - 98.6 Operation of senior housing
M TR 6,056,405 T TR Bezzhe
NC4 Magcreek, LLC USA NA US$3,464,27_3 /A - 98.6 Operation of senior housing
M TR 34642735 TR Bezzhe
NC4 Magnolia, LLC USA NA US$4,464,08_5 /A - 98.6 Operation of senior housing
M TR 4,464,085% T TR Bezzhe
NC4 Wellington, LLC USA NA US$3,674,90_1 /A - 98.6 Operation of senior housing
M TR 367490157 TR Bezzhe
Profit Galaxy Limited Hong Kong Ordinary \HK$1 1 - 60 Provision of services and
BfERAE g i BRI finance for a development

project of a church and a senior
citizen care facility

H-AAER-ARERER

LEBRRARURHEREE
PRETHRXERERRA (Wic) Mainland China ~ NJA US8350,000 N/A - 100 Property management
hEMH MER 350,000% T 1 ER and provision of property
management con§ultatiqn
MEERRRENEERED
Shanghai Chonmain Real Estate Mainland China NA 1S$3,000,000 N/A - 80 Property investment
Development Co., Lid. (notea) REM TR 3,000,000%7C TR UESE
LEEARRERRERAR (Hite)
iT]ine Wealthy Limited Hong Kong Ordinary \I’-|K$W 1 - 100 Prqperty investment
REARLE Ei A BRI nERE
TaiTung Industrial Equipment Limited ang Kong Ordinary ‘ \HK$30,000,0@ 30,000,000 - 87.5 Logistics services
AAIZREERAT B 28 730,000,000 min ki

HIEBREEMAERALA
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48 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Name of company

EEL

Winfield Development Limited
APERARLA

BB (8 RERRERLA (Hite)

mIEEAERSARAR (W)

RAEEERAEHERB AR

()

RBEGERAERERRARLA

(HiEf)

RBERGE ERERBARAE

(M3Ef)

RBERER R ERBARAT

(M3Ef)

Place or country
of incorporation
or registration/
operation
R/
EXUHTER

Hong Kong
B3
Mainland China
hERS

Mainland China
HEA

Mainland China
HEIR

Mainland China
HEIA

Mainland China
HEA

Mainland China
HEIR

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Issued and paid

Class of shares up share capital/

held

iR

£

Ordinary

B8

N/A
il

N/A
il

N/A
ek

N/A
TER

N/A
il

N/A
ek

registered capital
BEARER
R /ERRE

HKS?
BB

RMB320,000,000
AR 320,000,000

RMB15,000,000
AE#15,000,0007

RMB30,000,000
AR 30,000,000

RIMB10,000,000
AR 810,000,000

RMB10,000,000
AE#10,000,0007

RMB15,000,000
A 15,000,000

8 FEMBELR (F)

issued share capital/

Effective percentage of

Number of registered capital held by

shares

R##a

N/A
i

N/A
i

N/A
ER

N/A
TER

N/A
i

N/A
ER

the Company

AfRECERE AL
Directly
EE B

%

- 1

ALARERRIRE/

Indirectly

3
%

00

40

40

40

40

40

40

Principal activities

IERH

Property investment

UES T

Investment holding

RERK

Trading of motor vehicles
and provision of maintenance
services

NERARRHRERE

Trading of motor vehicles
and provision of maintenance
services

NEEARRHRRERE

Trading of motor vehicles
and provision of maintenance
services

NEEARRHRRRE

Trading of motor vehicles
and provision of maintenance
services

NERARRHRERE

Trading of motor vehicles
and provision of maintenance
services

NEEARRHRRERE
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48 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

49

(a)

Established in Mainland China as sino-foreign owned equity joint
ventures.

(b) All deferred shares are non-voting and practically have no rights to
participate in any distribution upon winding up.

(c) Established in Mainland China as wholly-foreign owned enterprises.

(d) Preference shares are 10% non-cumulative and every four preference
shares of this company carry one vote.

(e) The Directors considered that the Group has majority voting power in
this company’s board of directors by which can direct relevant activities
and therefore has control over this company.

() They are subsidiaries of B [5 (B EB) L EE R BR A A).

(g) The Group indirectly holds equity interest in this subsidiary through non-
wholly owned subsidiaries.

PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

Details of the principal associates of the Group as at 31 March 2023
are as follows.

Effective
percentage
of issued
share capital/
Place or country registered
of incorporation or Class of capital held by
Name of associate registration/operation  shares held the Company
RAARE
BRITRA/
RIHER/ dfRAR 2
BeLRan EXNAAER FsRG BRI EREAL
%
Cafe Deco Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary 25.28
Hong Kong @
ABLBRES/BR
Chevalier (HK) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 49
ET (BB)ERAT &k B
REER (PE)BRAA Mainland China N/A 20
PEA TER
Toshiba Elevator (Shenyang) Mainland China N/A 20
Co, Ltd. hEIR TR

REEH (BR)ARAA

Note:

The Group's entitlement to share of profit or loss in these associates is in
proportion to its ownership interest.

RE BN
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—HBLFE

48 TEMBD A (&)

B o

(a)

(9)

49

MNAPBEAMK T 2 FIIEERE-
PERERNERERE MERK L
TEEERR SRR ESERNDIK-
AHBEAMKT 2B ERE-

BERABIERFT0% MZ AR ZE
mMEREERSE —RRERE-

EER R AEERZARESEH
BRZEIRTRE IR T EAE
B AHZ AR ER -

HZERARZG (KBIREERE
RABZMERR-

AEBBBFEZEFRARAMERSA
ZF R BB

FEBMEQNT

BE-ZT-_=F=ZA=+—H &%

Bxrz

Principal activities

E3 3

Investment holding

REZR

2 RBIFFISAAT ©

Measurement
method
TERE
Equity
#En
Marketing, installation and maintenance of lifts, ~ Equity
escalators and security devices a
EH RERREABRE ERBRAREE
Manufacturing, sales, installation, repair and Equity
maintenance of lifts and escalators . B
B HE TR EERREARERERS
Manufacturing, sales, installation, repair and Equity
maintenance of lifts and escalators En

RE BE TR BERRENRERERE

fi i

REEIRE A w2 LB B RS

&

£ S NI p 3ok

HIEREEERAR
2023 F1f
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50 PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES

Details of the principal joint ventures of the Group as at 31 March
2023 are as follows.

Effective

percentage

of issued

Place or country share capital/

of incorporation registered

or registration/  Class of capital held by

Name of joint venture operation shares held  the Company

L YNGiE=2

BRARE/

RYZEM,/ AftREZ

RELELR EEBAGER  FERGEN  ERESM

%

Lam Woo & Company Limited (note a) Hong Kong Ordinary 50

BRBEFRAR (Hika) Bk il
Rosy Value Limited (note a) Hong Kong Ordinary 50
BEERAF (Frita) Bk il

Seavest Core Fund I, LLC (note b) USA N/A 9%
E3 TR

IREREREREREER AR (Mita ) Mainland China ~ N/A 4
BRI T

RAEGZEEMAEHERBARLA (Hika) Mainland China ~~ N/A 21.33

PERL TER

Notes:

(a) The Group's entitlement to share of profit or loss in these joint ventures
is in proportion to its ownership interest.

(b) The Directors considered that the Group does not have unilateral control
governing the financial and operating activities over this joint venture.
Profit sharing arrangement is in accordance with relevant agreement.

(c) Pursuant to a court order dated 6 April 2023, liquidator has been
appointed to liquidate all assets of this joint venture.
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50 TESEHE

HE-_Z-_=F=A=+—H &&
EFXrEAEEFBNT

Measurement

Principal activities method
TBEH HE-V:D3
Civil engineering Equity
TATE Bz
Property development Equity
NELR s
Medical office building investment Equity
BEHLERERE i
Property development Equity
NELR i
Trading of motor vehicles and provision ~ Equity

of maintenance services
REESRRHERERE i

@) AEEZEEAREDZLIGFER
FrihzEaE bk 2 mNNEE -

b) BEFRR AEBHZAELEZE
5 I 238 8 B 30 M B8 07 T 4 o6 4 0t
Mo BRI ER BB IHERE -

(c) ME-_ZT-_=ZFWABNHHNEK®
L BREBEAHZAECENA
BEETEE -
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